

064853132

HOUSE BILL NO. 1200

Offered January 11, 2006

Prefiled January 11, 2006

A *BILL to amend and reenact §§ 4.1-123, 4.1-126, 4.1-208, 4.1-209, 4.1-210, 4.1-309, 10.1-1408.5, 15.2-912.1, 15.2-930, 15.2-931, 15.2-958.1, 15.2-961, 15.2-1124, 15.2-1131, 15.2-1220, 15.2-1508.4, 15.2-1638, 15.2-2007.1, 15.2-2109, 15.2-2157.1, 15.2-2159, 15.2-2204, 15.2-2220, 15.2-2242, 15.2-2263, 15.2-2291, 15.2-2303.1, 15.2-2308, 15.2-2403, 15.2-2404, 15.2-2406, 15.2-3830, 15.2-4402, 15.2-4407, 15.2-5114, 15.2-5115, 15.2-5136, 15.2-5204, 15.2-5307, 16.1-118.1, 16.1-309.3, 17.1-273, 18.2-287.4, 19.2-250, 21-118.2, 21-119, 22.1-118, 22.1-129, 27-23.1, 29.1-514, 29.1-748.1, 29.1-749.2, 33.1-41.1, 33.1-44, 33.1-225, 44-146.40, 46.2-752, 46.2-873, 46.2-874.1, 46.2-924, 46.2-932, 46.2-1094, 46.2-1216, 46.2-1304, 46.2-2080, 46.2-2099.21, 46.2-2099.41, 56-15, 56-265.1, 58.1-540, 58.1-608.3, 58.1-811, 58.1-3211, 58.1-3237.1, 58.1-3257, 58.1-3292.1, 58.1-3381, 58.1-3506.2, 58.1-3812, 58.1-3818, 59.1-148.3, 59.1-284.13, 59.1-284.14 and 59.1-284.15 of the Code of Virginia, relating to clarification of locality name descriptions.*

Patrons—Landes and Hurt; Senator: Edwards

Referred to Committee on Rules

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of Virginia:

1. That §§ 4.1-123, 4.1-126, 4.1-208, 4.1-209, 4.1-210, 4.1-309, 10.1-1408.5, 15.2-912.1, 15.2-930, 15.2-931, 15.2-958.1, 15.2-961, 15.2-1124, 15.2-1131, 15.2-1220, 15.2-1508.4, 15.2-1638, 15.2-2007.1, 15.2-2109, 15.2-2157.1, 15.2-2159, 15.2-2204, 15.2-2220, 15.2-2242, 15.2-2263, 15.2-2291, 15.2-2303.1, 15.2-2308, 15.2-2403, 15.2-2404, 15.2-2406, 15.2-3830, 15.2-4402, 15.2-4407, 15.2-5114, 15.2-5115, 15.2-5136, 15.2-5204, 15.2-5307, 16.1-118.1, 16.1-309.3, 17.1-273, 18.2-287.4, 19.2-250, 21-118.2, 21-119, 22.1-118, 22.1-129, 27-23.1, 29.1-514, 29.1-748.1, 29.1-749.2, 33.1-41.1, 33.1-44, 33.1-225, 44-146.40, 46.2-752, 46.2-873, 46.2-874.1, 46.2-924, 46.2-932, 46.2-1094, 46.2-1216, 46.2-1304, 46.2-2080, 46.2-2099.21, 46.2-2099.41, 56-15, 56-265.1, 58.1-540, 58.1-608.3, 58.1-811, 58.1-3211, 58.1-3237.1, 58.1-3257, 58.1-3292.1, 58.1-3381, 58.1-3506.2, 58.1-3812, 58.1-3818, 59.1-148.3, 59.1-284.13, 59.1-284.14 and 59.1-284.15 of the Code of Virginia are amended and reenacted as follows:

§ 4.1-123. Referendum on Sunday wine and beer sales; exception.

A. Either the qualified voters or the governing body of any county, city, town, or supervisor's election district of a county may file a petition with the circuit court of the county or city or of the county wherein the town or the greater part thereof is situated asking that a referendum be held on the question of whether the sale of beer and wine on Sunday should be permitted within that jurisdiction. The petition of voters shall be signed by qualified voters equal in number to at least ten percent of the number registered in the jurisdiction on January 1 preceding its filing or at least 100 qualified voters, whichever is greater. Upon the filing of a petition, the court shall order the election officials of the county, city, or town, on the date fixed in the order, to conduct a referendum on the question. The clerk of the circuit court shall publish notice of the referendum in a newspaper of general circulation in the county, city, or town once a week for three consecutive weeks prior to the referendum.

The question on the ballot shall be:

"Shall the sale of wine and beer between the hours of twelve o'clock p.m. on each Saturday and six o'clock a.m. on each Monday be permitted in (name of county, city, town, or supervisor's election district of the county)?"

The referendum shall be ordered and held and the results certified as provided in § 24.2-684. Thereupon the court shall enter of record an order certified by the clerk of the court to be transmitted to the Board and to the governing body of the county, city, or town.

Notwithstanding an ordinance adopted pursuant to § 4.1-129, an affirmative majority vote on the question shall be binding on the governing body of the county, city, or town, and the governing body shall take all actions required of it to legalize such Sunday sales.

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A or § 4.1-129, where property that constitutes a farm winery lies within, or abuts, the boundaries of two adjoining counties, one of which has a population between 12,000 and 12,100 and one of which has a population between 17,450 and 17,500 *Floyd and Patrick Counties*, the retail sale of wine by the farm winery licensee in the county that restricts the sale of wine and beer shall be allowed at one fixed location on a parcel of land that contains all or part of the licensee's producing vineyard and the licensee's vinification facilities.

The Board may refuse to allow such licensee the exercise of his retail sales privilege in the county

INTRODUCED

HB1200

59 restricting the Sunday sale of wine and beer if the Board determines, after giving the licensee notice and
60 a hearing, that (i) the owner of the farm winery had actual knowledge that the vinification facilities and
61 all or part of the producing vineyard were going to be located in the county restricting the sale of wine
62 and beer prior to construction of the vinification facilities or (ii) the primary business purpose of the
63 farm winery licensee is to engage in the retail sale of wine in such county rather than the business of a
64 farm winery.

65 Nothing in this subsection shall apply to a farm winery licensee that has a retail establishment for the
66 sale of its wine in the county adjoining the county that restricts the Sunday sale of wine and beer if the
67 retail establishment is within one-half mile of the farm winery's vinification facilities.

68 § 4.1-126. Licenses for establishments in national forests, certain adjoining lands, on the Blue Ridge
69 Parkway, and certain other properties.

70 A. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 4.1-124, mixed beverage licenses may be granted to
71 establishments located (i) on property owned by the federal government in Jefferson National Forest,
72 George Washington National Forest or the Blue Ridge Parkway; (ii) at altitudes of 3,800 feet or more
73 above sea level on property adjoining the Jefferson National Forest; (iii) at an altitude of 2,800 feet or
74 more above sea level on property adjoining the Blue Ridge Parkway at Mile Marker No. 189; (iv) on
75 property within one-quarter mile of Mile Marker No. 174 on the Blue Ridge Parkway; (v) on property
76 developed by a nonprofit economic development company or an existing industrial development
77 authority; (vi) on old Jonesboro Road between Routes 823 and 654, located approximately 5,500 feet
78 from a city having a population between 17,500 and 18,500 the City of Bristol; (vii) on property
79 developed as a motor sports road racing club, of which the track surface is 3.27 miles in length, on
80 1,200 acres of rural property bordering the Dan River in a county having a population between 28,700
81 and 29,200, according to the 1990 United States Census which county surrounds a town which, at the
82 time of the 1990 United States Census, was a city having a population between 6,995 and 7,200 Halifax
83 County, with such license applying to any area of the property deemed appropriate by the Board; (viii)
84 at an altitude of 2,645 feet or more above sea level on land containing at least 750 acres used for
85 recreational purposes and located within two and one-half miles of the Blue Ridge Parkway; (ix) on
86 property fronting U.S. Route 11, with portions fronting Route 659, adjoining a city with a population
87 between 17,000 and 18,000 the City of Bristol and located approximately 2,700 feet north of mile
88 marker 7.7 on Interstate 81; and (x) on property bounded on the north by U.S. Route 11 and to the
89 south by Interstate 81, and located between mile markers 8.1 and 8.5 of Interstate 81.

90 B. In granting any license under clauses (iii) and (iv) of subsection A, the Board shall consider
91 whether the (i) voters of the jurisdiction in which the establishment is located have voted by referendum
92 under the provisions of § 4.1-124 to prohibit the sale of mixed beverages and (ii) granting of a license
93 will give that establishment an unfair business advantage over other establishments in the same
94 jurisdiction. If an unfair business advantage will result, then no license shall be granted.

95 § 4.1-208. Beer licenses.

96 The Board may grant the following licenses relating to beer:

97 1. Brewery licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to manufacture beer and to sell and deliver or
98 ship the beer so manufactured, in accordance with Board regulations, in closed containers to (i) persons
99 licensed to sell the beer at wholesale, (ii) persons licensed to sell beer at retail for the purpose of resale,
100 only as provided in subdivision B 4 of § 4.1-216, (iii) owners of boats registered under the laws of the
101 United States sailing for ports of call of a foreign country or another state, and (iv) persons outside the
102 Commonwealth for resale outside the Commonwealth. Such license may also authorize individuals
103 holding a brewery license to operate a facility designed for and utilized exclusively for the education of
104 persons in the manufacture of beer, including sampling by such individuals of beer products, within a
105 theme or amusement park located upon the premises occupied by such brewery, or upon property of
106 such person contiguous to such premises, or in a development contiguous to such premises owned and
107 operated by such person or a wholly owned subsidiary. Provided, however, that such samples may be
108 provided only to individuals for consumption on the premises of such facility and only to individuals to
109 whom such products may be lawfully sold.

110 2. Bottlers' licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to acquire and receive deliveries and
111 shipments of beer in closed containers and to bottle, sell and deliver or ship it, in accordance with
112 Board regulations to (i) wholesale beer licensees for the purpose of resale, (ii) owners of boats registered
113 under the laws of the United States sailing for ports of call of a foreign country or another state, and
114 (iii) persons outside the Commonwealth for resale outside the Commonwealth.

115 3. Wholesale beer licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to acquire and receive deliveries and
116 shipments of beer and to sell and deliver or ship it, in accordance with Board regulations, in closed
117 containers to (i) persons licensed under this chapter to sell such beer at wholesale or retail for the
118 purpose of resale, (ii) owners of boats registered under the laws of the United States sailing for ports of
119 call of a foreign country or another state, and (iii) persons outside the Commonwealth for resale outside
120 the Commonwealth.

No wholesale beer licensee shall purchase beer for resale from a person outside the Commonwealth who does not hold a beer importer's license unless such wholesale beer licensee holds a beer importer's license and purchases beer for resale pursuant to the privileges of such beer importer's license.

4. Beer importers' licenses, which shall authorize persons licensed within or outside the Commonwealth to sell and deliver or ship beer into the Commonwealth, in accordance with Board regulations, in closed containers, to persons in the Commonwealth licensed to sell beer at wholesale for the purpose of resale.

5. Retail on-premises beer licenses to:

a. Hotels, restaurants and clubs, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer, either with or without meals, only in dining areas and other designated areas of such restaurants, or in dining areas, private guest rooms, and other designated areas of such hotels or clubs, for consumption only in such rooms and areas.

b. Persons operating dining cars, buffet cars, and club cars of trains, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer, either with or without meals, in the dining cars, buffet cars, and club cars so operated by them for on-premises consumption when carrying passengers.

c. Persons operating sight-seeing boats, or special or charter boats, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer, either with or without meals, on such boats operated by them for on-premises consumption when carrying passengers.

d. Grocery stores located in any town or in a rural area outside the corporate limits of any city or town, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer for on-premises consumption in such establishments. No license shall be granted unless it appears affirmatively that a substantial public demand for such licensed establishment exists and that public convenience and the purposes of this title will be promoted by granting the license.

e. Persons operating food concessions at coliseums, stadia, or similar facilities, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer, in paper, plastic, or similar disposable containers, during the performance of professional sporting exhibitions, events or performances immediately subsequent thereto, to patrons within all seating areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas, and additional locations designated by the Board in such coliseums, stadia, or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the premises in all areas and locations covered by the license.

f. Persons operating food concessions at any outdoor performing arts amphitheater, arena or similar facility which has seating for more than 3,500 persons and is located in ~~any county with a population between 65,000 and 70,000~~ *Albemarle, Augusta, Pittsylvania or Rockingham Counties*. Such license shall authorize the licensee to sell beer during the performance of any event, in paper, plastic or similar disposable containers to patrons within all seating areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas, or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the premises in all areas and locations covered by the license.

g. Persons operating food concessions at exhibition or exposition halls, convention centers or similar facilities located in ~~any county operating under the urban county executive form of government or any city which is completely surrounded by such county~~ *Fairfax County or the Cities of Fairfax or Falls Church*, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer during the event, in paper, plastic or similar disposable containers to patrons or attendees within all seating areas, exhibition areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas, and such additional locations designated by the Board in such facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the premises in all areas and locations covered by the license. For purposes of this subsection, "exhibition or exposition halls" and "convention centers" mean facilities conducting private or public trade shows or exhibitions in an indoor facility having in excess of 100,000 square feet of floor space.

6. Retail off-premises beer licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver the beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations. All such deliveries of beer shall be performed by the owner or any agent, officer, director, shareholder or employee of the licensee.

7. Retail off-premises brewery licenses to persons holding a brewery license which shall authorize the licensee to (i) sell beer at the place of business designated in the brewery license, in closed containers which shall include growlers and other reusable containers, for off-premises consumption and (ii) deliver the beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations. All such deliveries of beer shall be performed by the owner or any agent, officers, directors, shareholders or employee of the licensee.

8. Retail on-and-off premises beer licenses to persons enumerated in subdivisions 5 a and d, which shall accord all the privileges conferred by retail on-premises beer licenses and in addition, shall authorize the licensee to sell beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver the

beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations. All such deliveries of beer shall be performed by the owner or any agent, officer, director, shareholder or employee of the licensee.

§ 4.1-209. Wine and beer licenses; advertising.

A. The Board may grant the following licenses relating to wine and beer:

1. Retail on-premises wine and beer licenses to:

a. Hotels, restaurants and clubs, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer, either with or without meals, only in dining areas and other designated areas of such restaurants, or in dining areas, private guest rooms, and other designated areas of such hotels or clubs, for consumption only in such rooms and areas. However, with regard to a hotel classified by the Board as a resort complex, the Board may authorize the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages in all areas within the resort complex deemed appropriate by the Board;

b. Persons operating dining cars, buffet cars, and club cars of trains, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer, either with or without meals, in the dining cars, buffet cars, and club cars so operated by them, for on-premises consumption when carrying passengers;

c. Persons operating sight-seeing boats, or special or charter boats, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer, either with or without meals, on such boats operated by them for on-premises consumption when carrying passengers;

d. Persons operating as air carriers of passengers on regular schedules in foreign, interstate or intrastate commerce, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer for consumption by passengers in such airplanes anywhere in or over the Commonwealth while in transit and in designated rooms of establishments of such carriers at airports in the Commonwealth, § 4.1-129 notwithstanding;

e. Hospitals, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in the rooms of patients for their on-premises consumption only in such rooms, provided the consent of the patient's attending physician is first obtained;

f. Persons operating food concessions at coliseums, stadia, or similar facilities, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in paper, plastic or similar disposable containers, during any event and immediately subsequent thereto, to patrons within all seating areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas and additional locations designated by the Board in such coliseums, stadia or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the premises in all areas and locations covered by the license;

g. Persons operating food concessions at any outdoor performing arts amphitheater, arena or similar facility which (i) has seating for more than 20,000 persons and is located in ~~any county with a population between 210,000 and 216,000 or in any city with a population between 392,000 and 394,000~~ *Prince William County or the City of Virginia Beach*, (ii) has capacity for more than 3,500 persons and is located in ~~any county with a population between 65,000 and 70,000 or in a city with a population between 40,000 and 47,000~~ *the Counties of Albemarle, Augusta, Pittsylvania or Rockingham or the Cities of Charlottesville or Danville*, or (iii) has capacity for more than 9,500 persons and is located in ~~any county operated under the county manager form of government~~ *Henrico County*. Such license shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer during the performance of any event, in paper, plastic or similar disposable containers to patrons within all seating areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas, or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the premises in all areas and locations covered by the license; and

h. Persons operating food concessions at exhibition or exposition halls, convention centers or similar facilities located in any county operating under the urban county executive form of government or any city which is completely surrounded by such county, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer during the event, in paper, plastic or similar disposable containers to patrons or attendees within all seating areas, exhibition areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas, and such additional locations designated by the Board in such facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the premises in all areas and locations covered by the license. For purposes of this subsection, "exhibition or exposition hall" and "convention centers" mean facilities conducting private or public trade shows or exhibitions in an indoor facility having in excess of 100,000 square feet of floor space.

2. Retail off-premises wine and beer licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver the same to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations. All such deliveries of wine or beer shall be performed by the owner or any agent, officer, director, shareholder or employee of the licensee.

3. Gourmet shop licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and, the provisions of § 4.1-308 notwithstanding, to give to any person to whom wine or beer may be lawfully sold, (i) a sample of wine, not to exceed one ounce by volume or (ii) a sample of beer not to exceed two ounces by volume, for on-premises consumption.

4. Convenience grocery store licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption.

5. Retail on-and-off premises wine and beer licenses to persons enumerated in subdivision 1 a, which shall accord all the privileges conferred by retail on-premises wine and beer licenses and in addition, shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver the same to the purchasers, in accordance with Board regulations. All such deliveries of wine or beer shall be performed by the owner or any agent, officer, director, shareholder or employee of the licensee.

6. Banquet licenses to persons in charge of banquets, and to duly organized nonprofit corporations or associations in charge of special events, which shall authorize the licensee to sell or give wine and beer in rooms or areas approved by the Board for the occasion for on-premises consumption in such rooms or areas. Except as provided in § 4.1-215, a separate license shall be required for each day of each banquet or special event. For the purposes of this subdivision, when the location named in the original application for a license is outdoors, the application may also name an alternative location in the event of inclement weather. However, no such license shall be required of any hotel, restaurant, or club holding a retail wine and beer license.

7. Gift shop licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell wine and beer unchilled, only within the interior premises of the gift shop in closed containers for off-premises consumption and to deliver the wine and beer to purchasers in accordance with Board regulations. All such deliveries of wine or beer shall be performed by the owner or any agent, officer, director, shareholder or employee of the licensee.

8. Gourmet brewing shop licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell to any person to whom wine or beer may be lawfully sold, ingredients for making wine or brewing beer, including packaging, and to rent to such persons facilities for manufacturing, fermenting, and bottling such wine or beer, for off-premises consumption in accordance with subdivision 6 of § 4.1-200.

9. Annual banquet licenses, to duly organized private nonprofit fraternal, patriotic or charitable membership organizations that are exempt from state and federal taxation and in charge of banquets conducted exclusively for its members and their guests, which shall authorize the licensee to serve wine and beer in rooms or areas approved by the Board for the occasion for on-premises consumption in such rooms or areas. Such license shall authorize the licensee to conduct no more than 12 banquets per calendar year. For the purposes of this subdivision, when the location named in the original application for a license is outdoors, the application may also name an alternative location in the event of inclement weather. However, no such license shall be required of any hotel, restaurant, or club holding a retail wine and beer license.

B. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, persons granted a wine and beer license pursuant to this section may display within their licensed premises point-of-sale advertising materials that incorporate the use of any professional athlete or athletic team, provided that such advertising materials: (i) otherwise comply with the applicable regulations of the Federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms; and (ii) do not depict any athlete consuming or about to consume alcohol prior to or while engaged in an athletic activity; do not depict an athlete consuming alcohol while the athlete is operating or about to operate a motor vehicle or other machinery; and do not imply that the alcoholic beverage so advertised enhances athletic prowess.

§ 4.1-210. Mixed beverages licenses.

A. Subject to the provisions of § 4.1-124, the Board may grant the following licenses relating to mixed beverages:

1. Mixed beverage restaurant licenses, which shall authorize the licensee to sell and serve mixed beverages for consumption in dining areas and other designated areas on the premises of such restaurant. Such license may be granted only to persons (i) who operate a restaurant and (ii) whose gross receipts from the sale of food cooked or prepared, and consumed on the premises and nonalcoholic beverages served on the premises, after issuance of such license, amount to at least 45 percent of the gross receipts from the sale of mixed beverages and food.

If the restaurant is located on the premises of a hotel or motel with not less than four permanent bedrooms where food and beverage service is customarily provided by the restaurant in designated areas, bedrooms and other private rooms of such hotel or motel, such licensee may (i) sell and serve mixed beverages for consumption in such designated areas, bedrooms and other private rooms and (ii) sell spirits packaged in original closed containers purchased from the Board for on-premises consumption to registered guests and at scheduled functions of such hotel or motel only in such bedrooms or private rooms. However, with regard to a hotel classified as a resort complex, the Board may authorize the sale and on-premises consumption of alcoholic beverages in all areas within the resort complex deemed appropriate by the Board. Nothing herein shall prohibit any person from keeping and consuming his own lawfully acquired spirits in bedrooms or private rooms.

305 If the restaurant is located on the premises of and operated by a private, nonprofit or profit club
306 exclusively for its members and their guests, or members of another private, nonprofit or profit club in
307 another city with which it has an agreement for reciprocal dining privileges, such license shall also
308 authorize the licensees to sell and serve mixed beverages for on-premises consumption. Where such club
309 prepares no food in its restaurant but purchases its food requirements from a restaurant licensed by the
310 Board and located on another portion of the premises of the same hotel or motel building, this fact shall
311 not prohibit the granting of a license by the Board to such club qualifying in all other respects. The
312 club's gross receipts from the sale of nonalcoholic beverages consumed on the premises and food resold
313 to its members and guests and consumed on the premises shall amount to at least 45 percent of its gross
314 receipts from the sale of mixed beverages and food. The food sales made by a restaurant to such a club
315 shall be excluded in any consideration of the qualifications of such restaurant for a license from the
316 Board.

317 2. Mixed beverage caterer's licenses, which may be granted only to a person regularly engaged in the
318 business of providing food and beverages to others for service at private gatherings or at special events,
319 which shall authorize the licensee to sell and serve alcoholic beverages for on-premises consumption.
320 The annual gross receipts from the sale of food cooked and prepared for service and nonalcoholic
321 beverages served at gatherings and events referred to in this subdivision shall amount to at least 45
322 percent of the gross receipts from the sale of mixed beverages and food.

323 3. Mixed beverage special events licenses, to a duly organized nonprofit corporation or association in
324 charge of a special event, which shall authorize the licensee to sell and serve mixed beverages for
325 on-premises consumption in areas approved by the Board on the premises of the place designated in the
326 license. A separate license shall be required for each day of each special event.

327 4. Annual mixed beverage special events licenses to (i) a duly organized nonprofit corporation or
328 association operating a performing arts facility or (ii) a nonprofit corporation or association chartered by
329 Congress for the preservation of sites, buildings and objects significant in American history and culture.
330 The operation in either case shall be upon premises owned by such licensee or occupied under a bona
331 fide lease the original term of which was for more than one year's duration. Such license shall authorize
332 the sale, on the dates of performances or events in furtherance of the purposes of the nonprofit
333 corporation or association, of alcoholic beverages, for on-premises consumption in areas upon the
334 licensed premises approved by the Board.

335 5. Mixed beverage carrier licenses to persons operating a common carrier of passengers by train, boat
336 or airplane, which shall authorize the licensee to sell and serve mixed beverages anywhere in the
337 Commonwealth to passengers while in transit aboard any such common carrier, and in designated rooms
338 of establishments of air carriers at airports in the Commonwealth.

339 6. Mixed beverage club events licenses, which shall authorize a club holding a beer or wine and beer
340 club license to sell and serve mixed beverages for on-premises consumption by club members and their
341 guests in areas approved by the Board on the club premises. A separate license shall be required for
342 each day of each club event. No more than 12 such licenses shall be granted to a club in any calendar
343 year.

344 7. Annual mixed beverage amphitheater licenses to persons operating food concessions at any
345 outdoor performing arts amphitheater, arena or similar facility that has seating for more than 20,000
346 persons and is located in ~~any county with a population between 210,000 and 216,000 or in any city with~~
347 ~~a population between 392,000 and 394,000~~ *Prince William County or the City of Virginia Beach*. Such
348 license shall authorize the licensee to sell alcoholic beverages during the performance of any event, in
349 paper, plastic or similar disposable containers to patrons within all seating areas, concourses, walkways,
350 concession areas, or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption.

351 8. Annual mixed beverage amphitheater licenses to persons operating food concessions at any
352 outdoor performing arts amphitheater, arena or similar facility that has seating for more than 5,000
353 persons and is located in ~~any city with a population between 103,900 and 104,500~~ *the City of Alexandria*
354 *or the City of Portsmouth*. Such license shall authorize the licensee to sell alcoholic beverages during
355 the performance of any event, in paper, plastic or similar disposable containers to patrons within all
356 seating areas, concourses, walkways, concession areas, or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption.

357 9. Annual mixed beverage motor sports facility license to persons operating food concessions at any
358 outdoor motor sports road racing club facility, of which the track surface is 3.27 miles in length, on
359 1,200 acres of rural property bordering the Dan River, which shall authorize the licensee to sell mixed
360 beverages, in paper, plastic, or similar disposable containers during scheduled events, as well as events
361 or performances immediately subsequent thereto, to patrons in all dining facilities, seating areas, viewing
362 areas, walkways, concession areas or similar facilities, for on-premises consumption. Upon authorization
363 of the licensee, any person may keep and consume his own lawfully acquired alcoholic beverages on the
364 premises in all areas and locations covered by the license.

365 10. Annual mixed beverage banquet licenses to duly organized private nonprofit fraternal, patriotic or
366 charitable membership organizations that are exempt from state and federal taxation and in charge of

banquets conducted exclusively for its members and their guests, which shall authorize the licensee to serve mixed beverages for on-premises consumption in areas approved by the Board on the premises of the place designated in the license. Such license shall authorize the licensee to conduct no more than 12 banquets per calendar year.

B. The granting of any license under subdivision 1, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, or 10 shall automatically include a license to sell and serve wine and beer for on-premises consumption. The licensee shall pay the state and local taxes required by §§ 4.1-231 and 4.1-233.

§ 4.1-309. Drinking or possessing alcoholic beverages in or on public school grounds; penalty.

A. No person shall possess or drink any alcoholic beverage in or upon the grounds of any public elementary or secondary school during school hours or school or student activities.

B. In addition, no person shall drink and no organization shall serve any alcoholic beverage in or upon the grounds of any public elementary or secondary school after school hours or school or student activities, except for religious congregations using wine for sacramental purposes only.

C. Any person convicted of a violation of this section shall be guilty of a Class 2 misdemeanor.

D. This section shall not prohibit any person from possessing or drinking alcoholic beverages or any organization from serving alcoholic beverages in areas approved by the Board at a performing arts center owned by ~~any city having a population between 100,000 and 105,000~~ *the City of Alexandria or the City of Portsmouth*, provided the organization operating the performing arts center or its lessee has a license granted by the Board.

§ 10.1-1408.5. Special provisions regarding wetlands.

A. The Director shall not issue any solid waste permit for a new municipal solid waste landfill or the expansion of a municipal solid waste landfill that would be sited in a wetland, provided that this subsection shall not apply to subsection B or the (i) expansion of an existing municipal solid waste landfill located in a ~~city with a population between 41,000 and 52,500~~ *the City of Danville or the City of Suffolk* when the owner or operator of the landfill is an authority created pursuant to § 15.2-5102 that has applied for a permit under § 404 of the federal Clean Water Act prior to January 1, 1989, and the owner or operator has received a permit under § 404 of the federal Clean Water Act and § 62.1-44.15:5 of this Code, or (ii) construction of a new municipal solid waste landfill in ~~any county with a population between 29,200 and 30,000, according to the 1990 United States Census,~~ *Mecklenburg County* and provided that the municipal solid waste landfills covered under clauses (i) and (ii) have complied with all other applicable federal and state environmental laws and regulations. It is expressly understood that while the provisions of this section provide an exemption to the general siting prohibition contained herein; it is not the intent in so doing to express an opinion on whether or not the project should receive the necessary environmental and regulatory permits to proceed. For the purposes of this section, the term "expansion of a municipal solid waste landfill" shall include the siting and construction of new cells or the expansion of existing cells at the same location.

B. The Director may issue a solid waste permit for the expansion of a municipal solid waste landfill located in a wetland only if the following conditions are met: (i) the proposed landfill site is at least 100 feet from any surface water body and at least one mile from any tidal wetland; (ii) the Director determines, based upon the existing condition of the wetland system, including, but not limited to, sedimentation, toxicity, acidification, nitrification, vegetation, and proximity to existing permitted waste disposal areas, roads or other structures, that the construction or restoration of a wetland system in another location in accordance with a Virginia Water Protection Permit approved by the State Water Control Board would provide higher quality wetlands; and (iii) the permit requires a minimum two-to-one wetlands mitigation ratio. This subsection shall not apply to the exemptions provided in clauses (i) and (ii) of subsection A.

C. Ground water monitoring shall be conducted at least quarterly by the owner or operator of any existing solid waste management landfill, accepting municipal solid waste, that was constructed on a wetland, has a potential hydrologic connection to such a wetland in the event of an escape of liquids from the facility, or is within a mile of such a wetland, unless the Director determines that less frequent monitoring is necessary. This provision shall not limit the authority of the Board or the Director to require that monitoring be conducted more frequently than quarterly. If the landfill is one that accepts only ash, ground water monitoring shall be conducted semiannually, unless more frequent monitoring is required by the Board or the Director. All results shall be reported to the Department.

D. This section shall not apply to landfills which impact less than two acres of nontidal wetlands.

E. For purposes of this section, "wetland" means any tidal wetland or nontidal wetland contiguous to any tidal wetland or surface water body.

F. There shall be no additional exemptions granted from this section unless (i) the proponent has submitted to the Department an assessment of the potential impact to wetlands, the need for the exemption, and the alternatives considered and (ii) the Department has made the information available for public review for at least 60 days prior to the first day of the next Regular Session of the General

428 Assembly.

429 § 15.2-912.1. Regulation of martial arts instruction.

430 A. ~~Any city with a population between 250,000 and 270,000 or between 150,000 and 160,000~~*The*
431 *Cities of Chesapeake and Norfolk* may by ordinance require any person who operates a business
432 providing martial arts instruction to have at the site where instruction is taking place a person who has
433 current certification or, within the last two years, has received training in emergency first aid and
434 cardio-pulmonary resuscitation.

435 Any person who violates such an ordinance may be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed \$50 for
436 the first violation and \$100 for any subsequent violation.

437 B. As used in this section, "martial arts instruction" means any course of instruction for self defense,
438 such as judo or karate.

439 § 15.2-930. Regulation of garbage and refuse pickup and disposal services; contracting for such
440 services.

441 A. Any locality may by ordinance impose license taxes upon and otherwise regulate the services
442 rendered by any business engaged in the pickup and disposal of garbage, trash or refuse, wherein service
443 will be provided to the residents of any such locality. Such regulation may include the delineation of
444 service areas, the limitation of the number of persons engaged in such service in any such service area,
445 including the creation of one or more exclusive service areas, and the regulation of rates of charge for
446 any such service.

447 Such locality is authorized to contract with any person, whether profit or nonprofit, for garbage and
448 refuse pickup and disposal services in its respective jurisdiction.

449 B. Prior to enacting an ordinance pursuant to subsection A which displaces a private company
450 engaged in the provision of pickup and disposal of garbage, trash or refuse in service areas, the
451 governing body shall: (i) hold at least one public hearing seeking comment on the advisability of such
452 ordinance; (ii) provide at least forty-five days' written notice of the hearing, delivered by first class mail
453 to all private companies which provide the service in the locality and which the locality is able to
454 identify through local government records; and (iii) provide public notice of the hearing. Following the
455 final public hearing held pursuant to the preceding sentence, but in no event longer than one year after
456 the hearing, a governing body may enact an ordinance pursuant to subsection A which displaces a
457 private company engaged in the provision of pickup and disposal of garbage, trash or refuse in a service
458 area if the ordinance provides that private companies will not be displaced until five years after its
459 passage. As an alternative to delaying displacement five years, a governing body may pay a company an
460 amount equal to the company's preceding twelve months' gross receipts for the displaced service in the
461 displacement area. Such five-year period shall lapse as to any private company being displaced when
462 such company ceases to provide service within the displacement area.

463 For purposes of this section, "displace" or "displacement" means an ordinance prohibiting a private
464 company from providing the service it is providing at the time a decision to displace is made. Displace
465 or displacement does not mean: (i) competition between the public sector and private companies for
466 individual contracts; (ii) situations where a locality or combination of localities, at the end of a contract
467 with a private company, does not renew the contract and either awards the contract to another private
468 company or, following a competitive process conducted in accordance with the Virginia Public
469 Procurement Act, decides for any reason to contract with a public service authority established pursuant
470 to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act, or, following such competitive process, decides for
471 any reason to provide such pickup and disposal service itself; (iii) situations where action is taken
472 against a company because the company has acted in a manner threatening to the health and safety of
473 the locality's citizens or resulting in a substantial public nuisance; (iv) situations where action is taken
474 against a private company because the company has materially breached its contract with the locality or
475 combination of localities; (v) situations where a private company refuses to continue operations under
476 the terms and conditions of its existing agreement during the five-year period; (vi) entering into a
477 contract with a private company to provide pickup and disposal of garbage, trash or refuse in a service
478 area so long as such contract is not entered into pursuant to an ordinance which displaces or authorizes
479 the displacement of another private company providing pickup and disposal of garbage, trash or refuse
480 in such service area; or (vii) situations where at least fifty-five percent of the property owners in the
481 displacement area petition the governing body to take over such collection service.

482 C. Any county with a population in excess of 800,000 may by ordinance provide civil penalties not
483 exceeding \$500 per offense for persons willfully contracting with a solid waste collector or collectors
484 not licensed or permitted to perform refuse collection services within the county. For purposes of this
485 section, evidence of a willful violation is the voluntary contracting by a person with a solid waste
486 collector after having received written notice from the county that the solid waste collector is not
487 licensed or permitted to operate within that county. Written notice may be provided by certified mail or
488 by any appropriate method specified in Article 4 (§ 8.01-296 et seq.) of Chapter 8 of Title 8.01.

489 D. ~~Any county with a population in excess of 800,000~~ *Fairfax County* may by ordinance authorize

the local police department to serve a summons to appear in court on solid waste collectors operating within that county without a license or permit. Each day the solid waste collector operates within the county without a license or permit is a separate offense, punishable by a fine of up to \$500.

§ 15.2-931. Regulation of garbage and refuse pickup and disposal services; contracting for such services in certain localities.

A. Localities may adopt ordinances requiring the delivery of all or any portion of the garbage, trash or refuse generated or disposed of within such localities to waste disposal facilities located therein, or to waste disposal facilities located outside of such localities if the localities have contracted for capacity at or service from such facilities.

Such ordinances may not be adopted until the local governing body, following one or more public hearings, has made the following findings:

1. That other waste disposal facilities, including privately owned facilities and regional facilities, are: (i) unavailable; (ii) inadequate; (iii) unreliable; or (iv) not economically feasible, to meet the current and anticipated needs of the locality for waste disposal capacity; and

2. That the ordinance is necessary to ensure the availability of adequate financing for the construction, expansion or closing of the locality's facilities, and the costs incidental or related thereto.

No ordinance adopted by a locality under this subsection shall prevent or prohibit the disposal of garbage, trash or refuse at any facility: (i) which has been issued a solid waste management facility permit by an agency of the Commonwealth on or before July 1, 1991; or (ii) for which a Part A permit application for a new solid waste management facility permit, including local governing body certification, was submitted to the Department of Waste Management in accordance with § 10.1-1408.1 B on or before December 31, 1991.

B. Localities may provide in any ordinance adopted under this section that it is unlawful for any person to dispose of his garbage, trash and refuse in or at any other place. No such ordinance making it unlawful to dispose of garbage, trash and refuse in any other place shall apply to the occupants of single-family residences or family farms disposing of their own garbage, trash or refuse if such occupants have paid the fees, rates and charges of other single-family residences and family farms in the same service area.

No ordinance adopted under this section shall apply to garbage, trash and refuse generated, purchased or utilized by an entity engaged in the business of manufacturing, mining, processing, refining or conversion except for an entity engaged in the production of energy or refuse-derived fuels for sale to a person other than any entity controlling, controlled by or under the same control as the manufacturer, miner, processor, refiner or converter. Nor shall such ordinance apply to (i) recyclable materials, which are those materials that have been source-separated by any person or materials that have been separated from garbage, trash and refuse by any person for utilization in both cases as a raw material to be manufactured into a product other than fuel or energy, (ii) construction debris to be disposed of in a landfill, or (iii) waste oil. Such ordinances may provide penalties, fines and other punishment for violations.

Such localities are authorized to contract with any person, whether profit or nonprofit, for garbage and refuse pickup and disposal services in their respective localities and to enter into contracts relating to waste disposal facilities which recover energy or materials from garbage, trash and refuse. Such contracts may make provision for, among other things, (i) the purchase by the localities of all or a portion of the disposal capacity of a waste disposal facility located within or outside the localities for their present or future waste disposal requirements, (ii) the operation of such facility by the localities, (iii) the delivery by or on behalf of the contracting localities of specified quantities of garbage, trash and refuse, whether or not such counties, cities, and towns collect such garbage, trash and refuse, and the making of payments in respect of such quantities of garbage, trash and refuse, whether or not such garbage, trash and refuse are delivered, including payments in respect of revenues lost if garbage, trash and refuse are not delivered, (iv) adjustments to payments made by the localities in respect of inflation, changes in energy prices or residue disposal costs, taxes imposed upon the facility owner or operator, or other events beyond the control of the facility operator or owners, (v) the fixing and collection of fees, rates or charges for use of the disposal facility and for any product or service resulting from operation of the facility, and (vi) such other provision as is necessary for the safe and effective construction, maintenance or operation of such facility, whether or not such provision displaces competition in any market. Any such contract shall not be deemed to be a debt or gift of the localities within the meaning of any law, charter provision or debt limitation. Nothing in the foregoing powers granted such localities includes the authority to pledge the full faith and credit of such localities in violation of Article X, Section 10 of the Constitution of Virginia.

It has been and is continuing to be the policy of the Commonwealth to authorize each locality to displace or limit competition in the area of garbage, trash or refuse collection services and garbage, trash or refuse disposal services to provide for the health and safety of its citizens, to control disease, to

551 prevent blight and other environmental degradation, to promote the generation of energy and the
552 recovery of useful resources from garbage, trash and refuse, to protect limited natural resources for the
553 benefit of its citizens, to limit noxious odors and unsightly garbage, trash and refuse and decay and to
554 promote the general health and welfare by providing for adequate garbage, trash and refuse collection
555 services and garbage, trash and refuse disposal services. Accordingly, governing bodies are directed and
556 authorized to exercise all powers regarding garbage, trash and refuse collection and garbage, trash and
557 refuse disposal notwithstanding any anti-competitive effect.

558 C. The following localities may by ordinance require the delivery of all or any portion of the
559 garbage, trash and refuse generated or disposed of within such localities to waste disposal facilities
560 located therein or to waste disposal facilities located outside of such localities if the localities have
561 contracted for capacity at or service from such facilities: (i) ~~counties that have adopted the county~~
562 ~~manager plan of government and a city contiguous thereto having a 1980 population of more than~~
563 ~~400,000~~ *Arlington County or the City of Alexandria*, singly or jointly, two or all of such counties and
564 cities; (ii) ~~counties with a 1980 population of more than 100,000 that have adopted the county executive~~
565 ~~form of government, any county contiguous to, Fairfax County, Fauquier County, Loudoun County,~~
566 *Prince William County or Stafford County* and any town situated within or city wholly surrounded by
567 any of such counties, singly or jointly, two or more of such localities, that have by resolution of the
568 governing body committed the locality to own or operate a resource recovery waste disposal facility; and
569 (iii) localities which are members of the Richmond Regional Planning District No. 15 or Crater Planning
570 District No. 19, singly or jointly, two or more of such localities, that by ordinance of the governing
571 body after a minimum of two public hearings, and after complying with applicable provisions of the
572 Public Procurement Act (Chapter 43 (§ 2.2-4300 et seq.) of Title 2.2), have committed the locality to
573 own, operate or contract for the operation of a resource recovery waste disposal facility.

574 § 15.2-958.1. Sale of certain property in certain cities.

575 A. ~~Any city with a population between 200,000 and 210,000~~ *The City of Richmond* may by
576 ordinance provide for the sale of property for the nominal amount of one dollar if such property (i) has
577 been acquired in accordance with § 58.1-3970 or § 58.1-3970.1 or (ii) has been declared a blighted
578 structure and has been acquired by the city in accordance with § 36-49.1:1.

579 B. If the city sells a property acquired under subsection A, the city shall require any purchaser by
580 covenants in the deed or other security instrument to (i) begin repair or renovation of the property
581 within six months of purchase and (ii) complete all repairs or renovations necessary to bring the
582 property into compliance with the local building code within a period not to exceed two years of the
583 purchase. The city may include any additional reasonable conditions it deems appropriate in order to
584 carry out the intent of this section and assure that the property is repaired or renovated in accordance
585 with applicable codes.

586 C. A "blighted structure" means a structure as defined in § 36-49. Notwithstanding any other
587 provisions of law, such city may exercise within its boundaries any spot blight abatement procedures set
588 forth in § 36-49.1:1. The owner shall have the opportunity to take corrective action or present a
589 reasonable plan to do so in accordance with such section.

590 § 15.2-961. Replacement of trees during development process in certain localities.

591 A. Any locality with a population density of at least 75 persons per square mile may adopt an
592 ordinance providing for the planting and replacement of trees during the development process pursuant
593 to the provisions of this section. Population density shall be based upon the latest population estimates
594 of the Cooper Center for Public Service of the University of Virginia.

595 B. The ordinance shall require that the site plan for any subdivision or development include the
596 planting or replacement of trees on the site to the extent that, at 20 years, minimum tree canopies or
597 covers will be provided in areas to be designated in the ordinance, as follows:

- 598 1. Ten percent tree canopy for a site zoned business, commercial, or industrial;
599 2. Ten percent tree canopy for a residential site zoned 20 or more units per acre;
600 3. Fifteen percent tree canopy for a residential site zoned more than 10 but less than 20 units per
601 acre; and
602 4. Twenty percent tree canopy for a residential site zoned 10 units or less per acre.

603 However, ~~any city that was established prior to 1780~~ *the City of Williamsburg* may require at 10
604 years the minimum tree canopies or covers set out above.

605 C. The ordinance shall provide for reasonable provisions for reducing the tree canopy requirements
606 or granting tree cover credit in consideration of the preservation of existing tree cover or for
607 preservation of trees of outstanding age, size or physical characteristics.

608 D. The ordinance shall provide for reasonable exceptions to or deviations from these requirements to
609 allow for the reasonable development of farm land or other areas devoid of healthy or suitable woody
610 materials, for the preservation of wetlands, or otherwise when the strict application of the requirements
611 would result in unnecessary or unreasonable hardship to the developer. In such instances, the ordinance
612 may provide for a tree canopy bank whereby a portion of a development's tree canopy requirement may

be met from off-site planting or replacement of trees at the direction of the locality. The following shall be exempt from the requirements of any tree replacement or planting ordinance promulgated under this section: dedicated school sites, playing fields and other nonwooded recreation areas, and other facilities and uses of a similar nature.

E. The ordinance may designate tree species that cannot be planted to meet minimum tree canopy requirements due to tendencies of such species to (i) negatively impact native plant communities, (ii) cause damage to nearby structures and infrastructure, or (iii) possess inherent physiological traits that cause such trees to structurally fail. All trees to be planted shall meet the specifications of the American Association of Nurserymen. The planting of trees shall be done in accordance with either the standardized landscape specifications jointly adopted by the Virginia Nurserymen's Association, the Virginia Society of Landscape Designers and the Virginia Chapter of the American Society of Landscape Architects, or the road and bridge specifications of the Virginia Department of Transportation.

F. Existing trees which are to be preserved may be included to meet all or part of the canopy requirements, and may include wooded preserves, if the site plan identifies such trees and the trees meet standards of desirability and life-year expectancy which the locality may establish.

G. For purposes of this section:

"Tree canopy" or "tree cover" includes all areas of coverage by plant material exceeding five feet in height, and the extent of planted tree canopy at 10 or 20 years maturity. Planted canopy at 10 or 20 years maturity shall be based on published reference texts generally accepted by landscape architects, nurserymen, and arborists in the community, and the texts shall be specified in the ordinance.

H. Penalties for violations of ordinances adopted pursuant to this section shall be the same as those applicable to violations of zoning ordinances of the locality.

I. In no event shall any local tree replacement or planting ordinance adopted pursuant to this section exceed the requirements set forth herein.

J. Nothing in this section shall invalidate any local ordinance adopted pursuant to the provisions of this section prior to July 1, 1990, which imposes standards for tree replacement or planting during the development process.

K. Nothing in this section shall invalidate any local ordinance adopted by a ~~city that was established prior to 1780, which the City of Williamsburg~~ that imposes standards for 10-year-minimum tree cover replacement or planting during the development process.

L. Nothing in this section shall invalidate any local ordinance adopted pursuant to the provisions of this section after July 1, 1990, which imposes standards for 20-year-minimum tree cover replacement or planting during the development process.

§ 15.2-1124. Police jurisdiction over lands, buildings and structures; jurisdiction of offenses; appeals; jurisdiction in certain public buildings with magistrate's offices.

A. Lands, buildings or structures provided and operated by a municipality for any purpose defined in this article shall be under the police jurisdiction of the municipal corporation for the enforcement of its regulations respecting the use or occupancy thereof. All regular and special police officers of the municipal corporation shall have jurisdiction to make arrests on such land and in such buildings or structures for violations of such regulations. Such criminal case shall be prosecuted in the locality in which the offense was committed.

B. In any public building that is located in a ~~county with a population between 56,000 and 57,000~~ *Henry County* adjoining a municipal corporation and that contains a magistrate's office which serves the municipal corporation, the sheriff, any deputy sheriff, and any police officer of the municipal corporation shall have the same powers which such sheriff, deputy sheriff or police officer would have in the municipal corporation itself. The courts of the municipal corporation and the locality in which such public building is located shall have concurrent jurisdiction of any offense committed against or any escape from any such sheriff, deputy sheriff, or police officer in such public building, provided that the sheriff, deputy sheriff, or police officer was present in the public building while in the performance of his official duties. Such police powers and concurrent jurisdiction shall also apply during travel between the municipal corporation and the public building by such sheriff, deputy sheriffs, and police officers while in the performance of their official duties. For purposes of this subsection, a "public building" shall include the surrounding grounds of such building.

§ 15.2-1131. Establishment of personnel system for city administrative officials and employees.

Notwithstanding any contrary provisions of law, general or special, in ~~any city with a population over 200,000 according to the 1990 census~~ *the Cities of Norfolk, Richmond or Virginia Beach*, the city council, upon receiving any recommendations submitted to it by the city manager, may establish a personnel system for the city administrative officials and employees. Such system shall be based on merit and professional ability and shall not discriminate on the basis of race, national origin, religion, sex, age, disabilities, political affiliation or marital status. The personnel system shall consist of rules

674 and regulations which provide for the general administration of personnel matters, a classification plan
675 for employees, a uniform pay plan and a procedure for resolving grievances of employees as provided
676 by general law for either local government or state government employees.

677 § 15.2-1220. Regulation by certain counties of persons and vehicles.

678 ~~Any county having a population between 35,200 and 35,800 as shown in the 1980 census~~ *The*
679 *Counties of Franklin, Pulaski and York* may by ordinance impose reasonable regulations to provide for
680 the comfort, safety and health of the general public and persons assembled, or traveling to assemble, for
681 any outdoor occasion.

682 Such regulations may cover the following: (i) hours of operation, (ii) sanitary facility requirements,
683 (iii) security personnel requirements, and (iv) maximum noise levels.

684 § 15.2-1508.4. Certain counties and cities may supplement salaries and reimburse traveling expenses
685 of employees of state mental health clinics.

686 ~~Any county having a population of more than 4,000 inhabitants per square mile, or any county~~
687 ~~having a population of over 150,000, according to the 1960 or any subsequent census, and any city~~
688 ~~wholly within the boundaries of such counties, and any city having a population of not less than 90,000~~
689 ~~nor more than 95,000, according to the 1960 or any subsequent census,~~ *The counties of Arlington,*
690 *Chesterfield, Fairfax, Henrico, Loudoun or Prince William, or the cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls*
691 *Church, Manassas, Manassas Park or Roanoke* may, in the discretion of its governing body, pay to
692 persons employed in state mental health clinics, within such county, in addition to the salaries as may be
693 paid to such employees by the Commonwealth, such sum or sums of money as it may deem expedient.

694 In addition to supplementing the salaries of such employees as provided herein, such county may
695 reimburse such employees who travel on business of any such county, who are required to bear a
696 portion of such travel expenses in excess of the amount allowed by § 2.2-2823, from the funds of such
697 county, upon such basis and in such manner as its governing body may prescribe.

698 § 15.2-1638. County or city governing body to provide courthouse, clerk's office, jail and suitable
699 facilities for attorney for the Commonwealth; acquisition of land.

700 The governing body of every county and city shall provide courthouses with suitable space and
701 facilities to accommodate the various courts and officials thereof serving the county or city; within or
702 outside such courthouses, a clerk's office, the record room of which shall be fireproof; a jail; and, upon
703 request therefor, suitable space and facilities for the attorney for the Commonwealth to discharge the
704 duties of his office. The costs thereof and of the land on which they may be, and of keeping the same
705 in good order, shall be chargeable to the county or city. The fee simple of the lands and of the buildings
706 and improvements thereon utilized for such courthouses shall be in the county or city, and the governing
707 body of the county or city may purchase so much of such property, as, with what it has, may be
708 necessary for the purposes enumerated or for any other proper purpose of the county or city. However,
709 any portion of the property owned by a county and located within a city or town and not actually
710 occupied by the courthouse, clerk's office, or jail, may be sold or exchanged and conveyed to such city
711 or town to be used for street or other public purposes. Any such sale or exchange by the governing
712 body of a county shall be made in accordance with the provisions of § 15.2-1800.

713 The amendments contained in Chapter 90 of the 1986 Acts of Assembly shall not apply to ~~any city~~
714 ~~with a population according to the 1980 census of not less than 240,000 nor more than 265,000~~ *the City*
715 *of Virginia Beach*.

716 § 15.2-2007.1. Appointment of viewers in certain cities.

717 Notwithstanding the provisions of § 15.2-2006, ~~any city with a population greater than 350,000~~ *the*
718 *City of Virginia Beach* may by ordinance appoint three to five viewers for terms of one year to view
719 each and every street or alley proposed to be altered or vacated during the term. The notice
720 requirements of § 15.2-2204 shall be complied with for each hearing regarding discontinuance of the
721 street or alley proposed to be altered or vacated. The applicant for closure of streets or alleys in such
722 cities that have appointed viewers pursuant to this section shall not be required to advertise, and the
723 governing body shall not be required to hold a separate hearing, for appointment of viewers for each
724 specific street or alley proposed to be altered or vacated. The applicant and the governing body of such
725 city shall comply with all other provisions of § 15.2-2006.

726 § 15.2-2109. Powers of localities as to public utilities and computer services; prevention of pollution
727 of certain water.

728 A. Any locality may (i) acquire or otherwise obtain control of or (ii) establish, maintain, operate,
729 extend and enlarge: waterworks, sewerage, gas works (natural or manufactured), electric plants, public
730 mass transportation systems, stormwater management systems and other public utilities within or outside
731 the limits of the locality and may acquire within or outside its limits in accordance with § 15.2-1800
732 whatever land may be necessary for acquiring, locating, establishing, maintaining, operating, extending
733 or enlarging waterworks, sewerage, gas works (natural or manufactured), electric plants, public mass
734 transportation systems, stormwater management systems and other public utilities, and the rights-of-way,
735 rails, pipes, poles, conduits or wires connected therewith, or any of the fixtures or appurtenances thereof.

As required by subsection C of § 15.2-1800, this section expressly authorizes a county to acquire real property for a public use outside its boundaries.

The locality may also prevent the pollution of water and injury to waterworks for which purpose its jurisdiction shall extend to five miles beyond the locality. It may make, erect and construct, within or near its boundaries, drains, sewers and public ducts and acquire within or outside the locality in accordance with § 15.2-1800 so much land as may be necessary to make, erect, construct, operate and maintain any of the works or plants mentioned in this section.

In the exercise of the powers granted by this section, localities shall be subject to the provisions of § 25.1-102 to the same extent as are corporations. The provisions of this section shall not be construed to confer upon any locality the power of eminent domain with respect to any public utility owned or operated by any other political subdivision of this Commonwealth. The provisions of this section shall not be construed to exempt localities from the provisions of Chapters 20 (§ 46.2-2000 et seq.), 22 (§ 46.2-2200 et seq.) and 23 (§ 46.2-2300 et seq.) of Title 46.2.

B. A locality may not (i) acquire all of a public utility's facilities, equipment or appurtenances for the production, transmission or distribution of natural or manufactured gas, or of electric power, within the limits of such locality or (ii) take over or displace, in whole or in part, the utility services provided by such gas or electric public utility to customers within the limits of such locality until after the acquisition is authorized by a majority of the voters voting in a referendum held in accordance with the provisions of Article 5 (§ 24.2-681 et seq.) of Chapter 6 of Title 24.2 in such locality on the question of whether or not such facilities, equipment or appurtenances should be acquired or such services should be taken over or displaced; however, the provisions of this subsection shall not apply to the use of energy generated from landfill gas in ~~any city with a population between 64,000 and 69,000 or in any county with a population of at least 500,000~~ *the City of Lynchburg or Fairfax County*. In no event, however, shall a locality be required to hold a referendum in order to provide gas or electric service to its own facilities. Notwithstanding any provision of this subsection, a locality may acquire public utility facilities or provide services to customers of a public utility with the consent of the public utility. No city or town which provided electric service as of January 1, 1994, shall be required to hold such a referendum prior to the acquisition of a public utility's facilities, equipment or appurtenances used for the production, transmission or distribution of electric power or to the provision of services to customers of a public utility. Nothing in this subsection shall be deemed to (a) create a property right or property interest or (b) affect or impair any existing property right or property interest of a public utility.

C. ~~Any city with a population between 48,000 and 48,500 shall be~~ *The City of Bristol* is authorized to provide computer services as defined in § 18.2-152.2. "Computer services" as used in this section shall specifically not include the communications link between the host computer and any person or entity other than (i) such locality's departments, offices, boards, commissions, agencies or other governmental divisions or entities or (ii) an adjoining locality's departments, offices, boards, commissions, agencies or other governmental divisions or entities.

§ 15.2-2157.1. Permit for septic tank installation in certain counties.

~~Any county with a population between 50,000 and 55,000 according to the 1990 United States Census~~ *Augusta County* may require any person desiring to install a septic tank to secure a permit to do so. Counties may prescribe reasonable fees, not to exceed fifty dollars, for the issuance of such permits.

§ 15.2-2159. Fee for solid waste disposal by counties.

A. ~~Accomack County, Augusta County, Floyd County, Highland County, and Wise County~~ *any county with a population between 53,000 and 55,000, any county with a population between 39,550 and 41,550, and any county with a population between 38,000 and 40,000* may levy a fee for the disposal of solid waste not to exceed the actual cost incurred by the county in procuring, developing, maintaining, and improving the landfill and for such reserves as may be necessary for capping and closing such landfill in the future. Such fee as collected shall be deposited in a special account to be expended only for the purposes for which it was levied. Except in ~~Floyd County and any county with a population between 39,550 and 41,450~~ *and Wise County*, such fee shall not be used to purchase or subsidize the purchase of equipment used for the collection of solid waste. In ~~Augusta County and Highland County and any county with a population between 53,000 and 55,000~~, such fee (i) may only be levied upon persons whose residential solid waste is disposed of at a county landfill or county solid waste collection or disposal facility and (ii) shall not be levied upon persons whose residential waste is not disposed of in such landfill or facility if such nondisposal is documented by the collector or generator of such waste as required by ordinance of such county. Documentation provided by a collector of such waste pursuant to clause (ii) shall not be disclosed by the county to any other person.

B. Any fee imposed by subsection A when combined with any other fee or charge for disposal of waste shall not exceed the actual cost incurred by the county in procuring, developing, maintaining, and improving its landfill and for such reserves as may be necessary for capping and closing such landfill in the future.

797 C. Any county which imposes the fee allowed under subsection A may enter into a contractual
798 agreement with any water or heat, light, and power company or other corporation coming within the
799 provisions of Chapter 26 (§ 58.1-2600 et seq.) of Title 58.1 except Appalachian Power Company,
800 Shenandoah Valley Electric Cooperative, BARC Electric Cooperative and Powell Valley Electric
801 Cooperative for the collection of such fee. The agreement may include a commission for such service in
802 the form of a deduction from the fee remitted. The commission shall be provided for by ordinance,
803 which shall set the rate not to exceed five percent of the amount of fees due and collected.

804 D. ~~Any county which imposes the fee allowed under subsection A and has a population between~~
805 ~~38,000 and 40,000 or 39,550 and 41,550~~ *Accomack and Wise Counties have* the following authority
806 regarding collection of said fee:

807 1. To prorate said fee depending upon the period a resident or business is located in said county
808 during the year of fee levy;

809 2. To levy penalty for late payment of fee as set forth in § 58.1-3916 of the Code of Virginia;

810 3. To levy interest on unpaid fees as set forth in § 58.1-3916 of the Code of Virginia;

811 4. To credit the fee first against the most delinquent use fee account owing;

812 5. To require payment of the fee prior to approval of an application for rezoning, special exception,
813 variance or other land use permit; and

814 6. To provide discounts to the standard fee rates for older persons, as defined in § 2.2-703, and
815 disabled persons based on ability to pay.

816 § 15.2-2204. Advertisement of plans, ordinances, etc.; joint public hearings; written notice of certain
817 amendments.

818 A. Plans or ordinances, or amendments thereof, recommended or adopted under the powers conferred
819 by this chapter need not be advertised in full, but may be advertised by reference. Every such
820 advertisement shall contain a descriptive summary of the proposed action and a reference to the place or
821 places within the locality where copies of the proposed plans, ordinances or amendments may be
822 examined.

823 The local planning commission shall not recommend nor the governing body adopt any plan,
824 ordinance or amendment thereof until notice of intention to do so has been published once a week for
825 two successive weeks in some newspaper published or having general circulation in the locality;
826 however, the notice for both the local planning commission and the governing body may be published
827 concurrently. The notice shall specify the time and place of hearing at which persons affected may
828 appear and present their views, not less than five days nor more than 21 days after the second
829 advertisement appears in such newspaper. The local planning commission and governing body may hold
830 a joint public hearing after public notice as set forth hereinabove. If a joint hearing is held, then public
831 notice as set forth above need be given only by the governing body. The term "two successive weeks"
832 as used in this paragraph shall mean that such notice shall be published at least twice in such newspaper
833 with not less than six days elapsing between the first and second publication. After enactment of any
834 plan, ordinance or amendment, further publication thereof shall not be required.

835 B. When a proposed amendment of the zoning ordinance involves a change in the zoning map
836 classification of 25 or fewer parcels of land, then, in addition to the advertising as above required,
837 written notice shall be given by the local planning commission, or its representative, at least five days
838 before the hearing to the owner or owners, their agent or the occupant, of each parcel involved; to the
839 owners, their agent or the occupant, of all abutting property and property immediately across the street
840 or road from the property affected, including those parcels which lie in other localities of the
841 Commonwealth; and, if any portion of the affected property is within a planned unit development, then
842 to such incorporated property owner's associations within the planned unit development that have
843 members owning property located within 2,000 feet of the affected property as may be required by the
844 commission or its agent. Notice sent by registered or certified mail to the last known address of such
845 owner as shown on the current real estate tax assessment books or current real estate tax assessment
846 records shall be deemed adequate compliance with this requirement. If the hearing is continued, notice
847 shall be remailed. Costs of any notice required under this chapter shall be taxed to the applicant.

848 When a proposed amendment of the zoning ordinance involves a change in the zoning map
849 classification of more than 25 parcels of land, or a change to the applicable zoning ordinance text
850 regulations that decreases the allowed dwelling unit density of any parcel of land, then, in addition to
851 the advertising as above required, written notice shall be given by the local planning commission, or its
852 representative, at least five days before the hearing to the owner, owners, or their agent of each parcel
853 of land involved, provided, however, that written notice of such changes to zoning ordinance text
854 regulations shall not have to be mailed to the owner, owners, or their agent of lots shown on a
855 subdivision plat approved and recorded pursuant to the provisions of Article 6 (§ 15.2-2240 et seq.) of
856 this chapter where such lots are less than 11,500 square feet. One notice sent by first class mail to the
857 last known address of such owner as shown on the current real estate tax assessment books or current
858 real estate tax assessment records shall be deemed adequate compliance with this requirement, provided

that a representative of the local commission shall make affidavit that such mailings have been made and file such affidavit with the papers in the case. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed as to invalidate any subsequently adopted amendment or ordinance because of the inadvertent failure by the representative of the local commission to give written notice to the owner, owners or their agent of any parcel involved.

The governing body may provide that, in the case of a condominium or a cooperative, the written notice may be mailed to the unit owners' association or proprietary lessees' association, respectively, in lieu of each individual unit owner.

Whenever the notices required hereby are sent by an agency, department or division of the local governing body, or their representative, such notices may be sent by first class mail; however, a representative of such agency, department or division shall make affidavit that such mailings have been made and file such affidavit with the papers in the case.

A party's actual notice of, or active participation in, the proceedings for which the written notice provided by this section is required shall waive the right of that party to challenge the validity of the proceeding due to failure of the party to receive the written notice required by this section.

C. When a proposed comprehensive plan or amendment thereto; a proposed change in zoning map classification; or an application for special exception for a change in use or to increase by greater than 50 percent of the bulk or height of an existing or proposed building, but not including renewals of previously approved special exceptions, involves any parcel of land located within one-half mile of a boundary of an adjoining locality of the Commonwealth, then, in addition to the advertising and written notification as above required, written notice shall also be given by the local commission, or its representative, at least 10 days before the hearing to the chief administrative officer, or his designee, of such adjoining locality.

D. When (i) a proposed comprehensive plan or amendment thereto, (ii) a proposed change in zoning map classification, or (iii) an application for special exception for a change in use involves any parcel of land located within 3,000 feet of a boundary of a military base, military installation, military airport, excluding armories operated by the Virginia National Guard, or licensed public-use airport then, in addition to the advertising and written notification as above required, written notice shall also be given by the local commission, or its representative, at least 10 days before the hearing to the commander of the military base, military installation, military airport, or owner of such public-use airport, and the notice shall advise the military commander or owner of such public-use airport of the opportunity to submit comments or recommendations.

E. The adoption or amendment prior to July 1, 1996, of any plan or ordinance under the authority of prior acts shall not be declared invalid by reason of a failure to advertise or give notice as may be required by such act or by this chapter, provided a public hearing was conducted by the governing body prior to such adoption or amendment. Every action contesting a decision of a locality based on a failure to advertise or give notice as may be required by this chapter shall be filed within 30 days of such decision with the circuit court having jurisdiction of the land affected by the decision. However, any litigation pending prior to July 1, 1996, shall not be affected by the 1996 amendment to this section.

F. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of law, general or special, ~~any city with a population between 200,000 and 240,000 which is required by this title or by its charter to publish a notice,~~ the City of Richmond may cause such notice to be published in any newspaper of general circulation in the city.

§ 15.2-2220. Duplicate planning commission authorized for certain local governments.

~~Any city with a population between 140,000 and 160,000 which is subject to the provisions of the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act (§ 10.1-2100 et seq.)~~ The Cities of Chesapeake and Hampton may by ordinance establish a duplicate planning commission solely for the purpose of considering matters arising from ~~such Act~~ the provisions of the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act (§ 10.1-2100 et seq.). Sections 15.2-2210 through 15.2-2222 shall apply to the commission, mutatis mutandis.

The procedure, timing requirements and appeal to the circuit court set forth in §§ 15.2-2258 through 15.2-2261 shall apply to the considerations of this commission, mutatis mutandis.

To distinguish the planning commission authorized by this section from planning commissions required by § 15.2-2210, the commission established hereunder shall have the words "Chesapeake Bay Preservation" in its title.

The governing body of a city that establishes a commission pursuant to this section, in its sole discretion by ordinance, may abolish the duplicate planning commission.

§ 15.2-2242. Optional provisions of a subdivision ordinance.

A subdivision ordinance may include:

1. Provisions for variations in or exceptions to the general regulations of the subdivision ordinance in cases of unusual situations or when strict adherence to the general regulations would result in substantial injustice or hardship.

2. A requirement (i) for the furnishing of a preliminary opinion from the applicable health official

920 regarding the suitability of a subdivision for installation of subsurface sewage disposal systems where
921 such method of sewage disposal is to be utilized in the development of a subdivision and (ii) that all
922 buildings constructed on lots resulting from subdivision of a larger tract that abuts or adjoins a public
923 water or sewer system or main shall be connected to that public water or sewer system or main subject
924 to the provisions of § 15.2-2121.

925 3. A requirement that, in the event streets in a subdivision will not be constructed to meet the
926 standards necessary for inclusion in the secondary system of state highways or for state street
927 maintenance moneys paid to municipalities, the subdivision plat and all approved deeds of subdivision,
928 or similar instruments, must contain a statement advising that the streets in the subdivision do not meet
929 state standards and will not be maintained by the Department of Transportation or the localities enacting
930 the ordinances. Grantors of any subdivision lots to which such statement applies must include the
931 statement on each deed of conveyance thereof. However, localities in their ordinances may establish
932 minimum standards for construction of streets that will not be built to state standards.

933 For streets constructed or to be constructed, as provided for in this subsection, a subdivision
934 ordinance may require that the same procedure be followed as that set forth in provision 5 of
935 § 15.2-2241. Further, the subdivision ordinance may provide that the developer's financial commitment
936 shall continue until such time as the local government releases such financial commitment in accordance
937 with provision 11 of § 15.2-2241.

938 4. Reasonable provision for the voluntary funding of off-site road improvements and reimbursements
939 of advances by the governing body. If a subdivider or developer makes an advance of payments for or
940 construction of reasonable and necessary road improvements located outside the property limits of the
941 land owned or controlled by him, the need for which is substantially generated and reasonably required
942 by the construction or improvement of his subdivision or development, and such advance is accepted,
943 the governing body may agree to reimburse the subdivider or developer from such funds as the
944 governing body may make available for such purpose from time to time for the cost of such advance
945 together with interest, which shall be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, at
946 a rate equal to the rate of interest on bonds most recently issued by the governing body on the
947 following terms and conditions:

948 a. The governing body shall determine or confirm that the road improvements were substantially
949 generated and reasonably required by the construction or improvement of the subdivision or
950 development and shall determine or confirm the cost thereof, on the basis of a study or studies
951 conducted by qualified traffic engineers and approved and accepted by the subdivider or developer.

952 b. The governing body shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, a report accepted and approved by the
953 subdivider or developer, indicating the governmental services required to be furnished to the subdivision
954 or development and an estimate of the annual cost thereof for the period during which the
955 reimbursement is to be made to the subdivider or developer.

956 c. The governing body may make annual reimbursements to the subdivider or developer from funds
957 made available for such purpose from time to time, including but not limited to real estate taxes
958 assessed and collected against the land and improvements on the property included in the subdivision or
959 development in amounts equal to the amount by which such real estate taxes exceed the annual cost of
960 providing reasonable and necessary governmental services to such subdivision or development.

961 5. In a county having the urban county executive form of government, in any city located within or
962 adjacent thereto, or any county adjacent thereto or a town located within such county, in any county
963 with a population between 57,000 and 57,450, or in any county with a population between 60,000 and
964 63,000, and in any city with a population between 140,000 and 160,000 *Arlington County, Fairfax*
965 *County, Loudoun County and Prince William County, in any town located within such counties, in*
966 *Bedford County, Pittsylvania County, Spotsylvania County and Stafford County, or in the cities of*
967 *Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Hampton, Manassas and Manassas Park, provisions for payment by*
968 *a subdivider or developer of land of a pro rata share of the cost of reasonable and necessary road*
969 *improvements, located outside the property limits of the land owned or controlled by him but serving an*
970 *area having related traffic needs to which his subdivision or development will contribute, to reimburse*
971 *an initial subdivider or developer who has advanced such costs or constructed such road improvements.*
972 *Such ordinance may apply to road improvements constructed after July 1, 1988, in a county having the*
973 *urban county executive form of government* *Fairfax County; in a city located within or adjacent to a*
974 *county having the urban county executive form of government, or in a county adjacent to a county*
975 *having the urban county executive form of government or town located within such county and in any*
976 *county with a population between 57,000 and 57,450, or in any county with a population between*
977 *60,000 and 63,000* *Arlington County, Loudoun County and Prince William County, in any town located*
978 *within such counties, in Bedford County, Pittsylvania County, Spotsylvania County and Stafford County,*
979 *or in the cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Hampton, Manassas and Manassas Park, such*
980 *ordinance may only apply to road improvements constructed after the effective date of such ordinance.*

981 Such provisions shall provide for the adoption of a pro rata reimbursement plan which shall include

reasonable standards to identify the area having related traffic needs, to determine the total estimated or actual cost of road improvements required to adequately serve the area when fully developed in accordance with the comprehensive plan or as required by proffered conditions, and to determine the proportionate share of such costs to be reimbursed by each subsequent subdivider or developer within the area, with interest (i) at the legal rate or (ii) at an inflation rate prescribed by a generally accepted index of road construction costs, whichever is less.

For any subdivision ordinance adopted pursuant to provision 5 of this section after February 1, 1993, no such payment shall be assessed or imposed upon a subsequent developer or subdivider if (i) prior to the adoption of a pro rata reimbursement plan the subsequent subdivider or developer has proffered conditions pursuant to § 15.2-2303 for offsite road improvements and such proffered conditions have been accepted by the locality, (ii) the locality has assessed or imposed an impact fee on the subsequent development or subdivision pursuant to Article 8 (§ 15.2-2317 et seq.) of Chapter 22, or (iii) the subsequent subdivider or developer has received final site plan, subdivision plan, or plan of development approval from the locality prior to the adoption of a pro rata reimbursement plan for the area having related traffic needs.

The amount of the costs to be reimbursed by a subsequent developer or subdivider shall be determined before or at the time the site plan or subdivision is approved. The ordinance shall specify that such costs are to be collected at the time of the issuance of a temporary or final certificate of occupancy or functional use and occupancy within the development, whichever shall come first. The ordinance also may provide that the required reimbursement may be paid (i) in lump sum, (ii) by agreement of the parties on installment at a reasonable rate of interest or rate of inflation, whichever is less, for a fixed number of years, or (iii) on such terms as otherwise agreed to by the initial and subsequent subdividers and developers.

Such ordinance provisions may provide that no certificate of occupancy shall be issued to a subsequent developer or subdivider until (i) the initial developer certifies to the locality that the subsequent developer has made the required reimbursement directly to him as provided above or (ii) the subsequent developer has deposited the reimbursement amount with the locality for transfer forthwith to the initial developer.

6. Provisions for establishing and maintaining access to solar energy to encourage the use of solar heating and cooling devices in new subdivisions. The provisions shall be applicable to a new subdivision only when so requested by the subdivider.

7. Provisions, in any town with a population between 14,500 and 15,000, granting authority to the governing body, in its discretion, to use funds escrowed pursuant to provision 5 of § 15.2-2241 for improvements similar to but other than those for which the funds were escrowed, if the governing body (i) obtains the written consent of the owner or developer who submitted the escrowed funds; (ii) finds that the facilities for which funds are escrowed are not immediately required; (iii) releases the owner or developer from liability for the construction or for the future cost of constructing those improvements for which the funds were escrowed; and (iv) accepts liability for future construction of these improvements. If such town fails to locate such owner or developer after making a reasonable attempt to do so, the town may proceed as if such consent had been granted. In addition, the escrowed funds to be used for such other improvement may only come from an escrow that does not exceed a principal amount of \$30,000 plus any accrued interest and shall have been escrowed for at least five years.

8. Provisions for clustering of single-family dwellings and preservation of open space developments, which provisions shall comply with the requirements and procedures set forth in subdivision A 12 of § 15.2-2286.

§ 15.2-2263. Expedited land development review procedure.

A. ~~Any county having a population between 80,000 and 90,000 or between 212,000 and 216,000~~*The Counties of Hanover, Loudoun, Montgomery, Prince William and Roanoke* may establish, by ordinance, a separate processing procedure for the review of preliminary and final subdivision and site plans and other development plans certified by licensed professional engineers, architects, certified landscape architects and land surveyors who are also licensed pursuant to § 54.1-408 and recommended for submission by persons who have received special training in the county's land development ordinances and regulations. The purpose of the separate review procedure is to provide a procedure to expedite the county's review of certain qualified land development plans. If a separate procedure is established, the county shall establish within the adopted ordinance the criteria for qualification of persons and whose work is eligible to use the separate procedure as well as a procedure for determining if the qualifications are met by persons applying to use the separate procedure. Persons who satisfy the criteria of subsection B below shall qualify as plans examiners. Plans reviewed and recommended for submission by plans examiners and certified by the appropriately licensed professional engineer, architect, certified landscape architect or land surveyor shall qualify for the separate processing procedure.

B. The qualifications of those persons who may participate in this program shall include, but not be

1043 limited to, the following:

1044 1. A bachelor of science degree in engineering, architecture, landscape architecture or related science
1045 or equivalent experience or a land surveyor certified pursuant to § 54.1-408.

1046 2. Successful completion of an educational program specified by the county.

1047 3. A minimum of two years of land development engineering design experience acceptable to the
1048 county.

1049 4. Attendance at continuing educational courses specified by the county.

1050 5. Consistent preparation and submission of plans which meet all applicable ordinances and
1051 regulations.

1052 C. If an expedited review procedure is adopted by the board of supervisors pursuant to the authority
1053 granted by this section, the board of supervisors shall establish an advisory plans examiner board which
1054 shall make recommendations to the board of supervisors on the general operation of the program, on the
1055 general qualifications of those who may participate in the expedited processing procedure, on initial and
1056 continuing educational programs needed to qualify and maintain qualification for such a program and on
1057 the general administration and operation of the program. In addition, the plans examiner board shall
1058 submit recommendations to the board of supervisors as to those persons who meet the established
1059 qualifications for participation in the program, and the plans examiner board shall submit
1060 recommendations as to whether those persons who have previously qualified to participate in the
1061 program should be disqualified, suspended or otherwise disciplined. The plans examiner board shall
1062 consist of six members who shall be appointed by the board of supervisors for staggered four-year
1063 terms. Initial terms may be less than four years so as to provide for staggered terms. The plans examiner
1064 board shall consist of three persons in private practice as licensed professional engineers or land
1065 surveyors certified pursuant to § 54.1-408, at least one of whom shall be a certified land surveyor; one
1066 person employed by the county government; one person employed by the Virginia Department of
1067 Transportation who shall serve as a nonvoting advisory member; and one citizen member. All members
1068 of the board who serve as licensed engineers or as certified surveyors must maintain their professional
1069 license or certification as a condition of holding office and shall have at least two years of experience in
1070 land development procedures of the county. The citizen member of the board shall meet the
1071 qualifications provided in § 54.1-107 and, notwithstanding the proscription of clause (i) of § 54.1-107,
1072 shall have training as an engineer or surveyor and may be currently licensed, certified or practicing his
1073 profession.

1074 D. The expedited land development program shall include an educational program conducted under
1075 the auspices of a state institution of higher education. The instructors in the educational program shall
1076 consist of persons in the private and public sectors who are qualified to prepare land development plans.
1077 The educational program shall include the comprehensive and detailed study of county ordinances and
1078 regulations relating to plans and how they are applied.

1079 E. The separate processing system may include a review of selected or random aspects of plans
1080 rather than a detailed review of all aspects; however, it shall also include a periodic detailed review of
1081 plans prepared by persons who qualify for the system.

1082 F. In no event shall this section relieve persons who prepare and submit plans of the responsibilities
1083 and obligations which they would otherwise have with regard to the preparation of plans, nor shall it
1084 relieve the county of its obligation to review other plans in the time periods and manner prescribed by
1085 law.

1086 § 15.2-2291. Group homes of eight or fewer single-family residence.

1087 A. Zoning ordinances for all purposes shall consider a residential facility in which no more than
1088 eight mentally ill, mentally retarded, or developmentally disabled persons reside, with one or more
1089 resident counselors or other staff persons, as residential occupancy by a single family. For the purposes
1090 of this subsection, mental illness and developmental disability shall not include current illegal use of or
1091 addiction to a controlled substance as defined in § 54.1-3401. No conditions more restrictive than those
1092 imposed on residences occupied by persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption shall be imposed on
1093 such facility. For purposes of this subsection, "residential facility" means any group home or other
1094 residential facility for which the Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse
1095 Services is the licensing authority pursuant to this Code.

1096 B. Zoning ordinances in ~~counties having adopted the county manager plan of government and any~~
1097 ~~county with a population between 55,800 and 57,000~~ *the Counties of Arlington, Henry and York* for all
1098 purposes shall consider a residential facility in which no more than eight aged, infirm or disabled
1099 persons reside, with one or more resident counselors or other staff persons, as residential occupancy by
1100 a single family. No conditions more restrictive than those imposed on residences occupied by persons
1101 related by blood, marriage, or adoption shall be imposed on such facility. For purposes of this
1102 subsection, "residential facility" means any group home or residential facility in which aged, infirm or
1103 disabled persons reside with one or more resident counselors or other staff persons and for which the
1104 Department of Social Services is the licensing authority pursuant to this Code.

C. Zoning ordinances in ~~any city with a population between 60,000 and 70,000~~ *the Cities of Lynchburg and Suffolk* for all purposes shall consider a residential facility in which no more than four aged, infirm or disabled persons reside, with one or more resident counselors or other staff persons, as residential occupancy by a single family. No conditions more restrictive than those imposed on residences occupied by persons related by blood, marriage or adoption shall be imposed on such facility. For purposes of this subsection, "residential facility" means any group home or residential facility in which aged, infirm or disabled persons reside with one or more resident counselors or other staff persons and for which the Department of Social Services is the licensing authority pursuant to this Code.

§ 15.2-2303.1. Development agreements in certain counties.

A. In order to promote the public health, safety and welfare and to encourage economic development consistent with careful planning, ~~any county with a population between 10,300 and 11,000 according to the 1990 United States Census through which an interstate highway passes~~ *New Kent County* may include in its zoning ordinance provisions for the governing body to enter into binding development agreements with any persons owning legal or equitable interests in real property in the county if the property to be developed contains at least one thousand acres.

B. Any such agreements shall be for the purpose of stimulating and facilitating economic growth in the county; shall not be inconsistent with the comprehensive plan at the time of the agreement's adoption, except as may have been authorized by existing zoning ordinances; and shall not authorize any use or condition inconsistent with the zoning ordinance or other ordinances in effect at the time the agreement is made, except as may be authorized by a variance, special exception or similar authorization. The agreement shall be authorized by ordinance, shall be for a term not to exceed fifteen years, and may be renewed by mutual agreement of the parties for successive terms of not more than ten years each. It may provide, among other things, for uses; the density or intensity of uses; the maximum height, size, setback and/or location of buildings; the number of parking spaces required; the location of streets and other public improvements; the measures required to control stormwater; the phasing or timing of construction or development; or any other land use matters. It may authorize the property owner to transfer to the county land, public improvements, money or anything of value to further the purposes of the agreement or other public purposes set forth in the county's comprehensive plan, but not as a condition to obtaining any permitted use or zoning. The development agreement shall not run with the land except to the extent provided therein, and the agreement may be amended or canceled in whole or in part by the mutual consent of the parties thereto or their successors in interest and assigns.

C. If, pursuant to the agreement, a property owner who is a party thereto and is not in breach thereof, (i) dedicates or is required to dedicate real property to the county, the Commonwealth or any other political subdivision or to the federal government or any agency thereof, (ii) makes or is required to make cash payments to the county, the Commonwealth or any other political subdivision or to the federal government or any agency thereof, or (iii) makes or is required to make public improvements for the county, the Commonwealth or any other political subdivision or for the federal government or any agency thereof, such dedication, payment or construction therefor shall vest the property owner's rights under the agreement. If a property owner's rights have vested, neither any amendment to the zoning map for the subject property nor any amendment to the text of the zoning ordinance with respect to the zoning district applicable to the property which eliminates or restricts, reduces, or modifies the use; the density or intensity of uses; the maximum height, size, setback or location of buildings; the number of parking spaces required; the location of streets and other public improvements; the measures required to control stormwater; the phasing or timing of construction or development; or any other land use or other matters provided for in such agreement shall be effective with respect to such property during the term of the agreement unless there has been a mistake, fraud or change in circumstances substantially affecting the public health, safety or welfare.

D. Nothing in this section shall be construed to preclude, limit or alter the vesting of rights in accordance with existing law; authorize the impairment of such rights; or invalidate any similar agreements entered into pursuant to existing law.

§ 15.2-2308. Boards of zoning appeals to be created; membership, organization, etc.

A. Every locality that has enacted or enacts a zoning ordinance pursuant to this chapter or prior enabling laws, shall establish a board of zoning appeals that shall consist of either five or seven residents of the locality, appointed by the circuit court for the locality. Boards of zoning appeals for a locality within the fifteenth or nineteenth judicial circuit may be appointed by the chief judge or his designated judge or judges in their respective circuit, upon concurrence of such locality. Their terms of office shall be for five years each except that original appointments shall be made for such terms that the term of one member shall expire each year. The secretary of the board shall notify the court at least thirty days in advance of the expiration of any term of office, and shall also notify the court promptly if any vacancy occurs. Appointments to fill vacancies shall be only for the unexpired portion of the term.

1166 Members may be reappointed to succeed themselves. Members of the board shall hold no other public
1167 office in the locality except that one may be a member of the local planning commission. A member
1168 whose term expires shall continue to serve until his successor is appointed and qualifies. The circuit
1169 court for a city having a population of more than 140,000 but less than 170,000 *the City of Chesapeake*
1170 *and the Circuit Court for the City of Hampton* shall appoint at least one but not more than three
1171 alternates to the board of zoning appeals. At the request of the local governing body, the circuit court
1172 for any other locality may appoint not more than three alternates to the board of zoning appeals. The
1173 qualifications, terms and compensation of alternate members shall be the same as those of regular
1174 members. A regular member when he knows he will be absent from or will have to abstain from any
1175 application at a meeting shall notify the chairman twenty-four hours prior to the meeting of such fact.
1176 The chairman shall select an alternate to serve in the absent or abstaining member's place and the
1177 records of the board shall so note. Such alternate member may vote on any application in which a
1178 regular member abstains.

1179 B. Localities may, by ordinances enacted in each jurisdiction, create a joint board of zoning appeals
1180 that shall consist of two members appointed from among the residents of each participating jurisdiction
1181 by the circuit court for each county or city, plus one member from the area at large to be appointed by
1182 the circuit court or jointly by such courts if more than one, having jurisdiction in the area. The term of
1183 office of each member shall be five years except that of the two members first appointed from each
1184 jurisdiction, the term of one shall be for two years and of the other, four years. Vacancies shall be filled
1185 for the unexpired terms. In other respects, joint boards of zoning appeals shall be governed by all other
1186 provisions of this article.

1187 C. With the exception of its secretary and the alternates, the board shall elect from its own
1188 membership its officers who shall serve annual terms as such and may succeed themselves. The board
1189 may elect as its secretary either one of its members or a qualified individual who is not a member of
1190 the board, excluding the alternate members. A secretary who is not a member of the board shall not be
1191 entitled to vote on matters before the board. For the conduct of any hearing and the taking of any
1192 action, a quorum shall be not less than a majority of all the members of the board. The board may
1193 make, alter and rescind rules and forms for its procedures, consistent with ordinances of the locality and
1194 general laws of the Commonwealth. The board shall keep a full public record of its proceedings and
1195 shall submit a report of its activities to the governing body or bodies at least once each year.

1196 D. Within the limits of funds appropriated by the governing body, the board may employ or contract
1197 for secretaries, clerks, legal counsel, consultants, and other technical and clerical services. Members of
1198 the board may receive such compensation as may be authorized by the respective governing bodies. Any
1199 board member or alternate may be removed for malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance in office, or
1200 for other just cause, by the court that appointed him, after a hearing held after at least fifteen days'
1201 notice.

1202 E. Notwithstanding any contrary provisions of this section, in ~~any city with a population greater than~~
1203 ~~390,000~~ *the City of Virginia Beach*, members of the board shall be appointed by the governing body. The
1204 governing body of such city shall also appoint at least one but not more than three alternates to the
1205 board.

1206 § 15.2-2403. Powers of service districts.

1207 After adoption of an ordinance or ordinances or the entry of an order creating a service district, the
1208 governing body or bodies shall have the following powers with respect to the service districts:

1209 1. To construct, maintain and operate such facilities and equipment as may be necessary or desirable
1210 to provide additional, more complete or more timely governmental services within a service district,
1211 including but not limited to water supply, sewerage, garbage removal and disposal, heat, light,
1212 fire-fighting equipment and power and gas systems and sidewalks; economic development services;
1213 promotion of business and retail development services; beautification and landscaping; beach and
1214 shoreline management and restoration; control of infestations of insects that may carry a disease that is
1215 dangerous to humans, gypsy moths, cankerworms or other pests identified by the Commissioner of the
1216 Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services in accordance with the Virginia Pest Law
1217 (§ 3.1-188.20 et seq.); public parking; extra security, street cleaning, snow removal and refuse collection
1218 services; sponsorship and promotion of recreational and cultural activities; upon petition of over 50
1219 percent of the property owners who own not less than 50 percent of the property to be served,
1220 construction, maintenance and general upkeep of streets and roads that are not under the operation and
1221 jurisdiction of the Virginia Department of Transportation; and other services, events, or activities which
1222 will enhance the public use and enjoyment of and the public safety, public convenience, and public
1223 well-being within a service district. Such services, events or activities shall not be undertaken for the
1224 sole or dominant benefit of any particular individual, business or other private entity.

1225 2. To provide, in addition to services authorized by subdivision 1, transportation and transportation
1226 services within a service district, including, but not limited to: public transportation systems serving the
1227 district; transportation management services; road construction; rehabilitation and replacement of existing

transportation facilities or systems; and sound walls or sound barriers. However, any transportation service, system, facility, roadway, or roadway appurtenance established under this subdivision that will be operated or maintained by the Virginia Department of Transportation shall be established with the involvement of the governing body of the locality and meet the appropriate requirements of the Department.

3. To acquire in accordance with § 15.2-1800, any such facilities and equipment and rights, title, interest or easements therefor in and to real estate in such district and maintain and operate the same as may be necessary and desirable to provide the governmental services authorized by subdivisions 1 and 2.

4. To contract with any person, municipality or state agency to provide the governmental services authorized by subdivisions 1 and 2 and to construct, establish, maintain and operate any such facilities and equipment as may be necessary and desirable in connection therewith.

5. To require owners or tenants of any property in the district to connect with any such system or systems, and to contract with the owners or tenants for such connections. The owners or tenants shall have the right of appeal to the circuit court within 10 days from action by the governing body.

6. To levy and collect an annual tax upon any property in such service district subject to local taxation to pay, either in whole or in part, the expenses and charges for providing the governmental services authorized by subdivisions 1, 2 and 11 and for constructing, maintaining and operating such facilities and equipment as may be necessary and desirable in connection therewith; however, such annual tax shall not be levied for or used to pay for schools, police or general government services not authorized by this section, and the proceeds from such annual tax shall be so segregated as to enable the same to be expended in the district in which raised. In addition to the tax on property authorized herein, ~~in any city having a population of 350,000 or more and adjacent to the Atlantic Ocean~~ *the City of Virginia Beach*, the city council shall have the power to impose a tax on the base transient room rentals, excluding hotels, motels, and travel campgrounds, within such service district at a rate or percentage not higher than five percent which is in addition to any other transient room rental tax imposed by the city. The proceeds from such additional transient room rental tax shall be deposited in a special fund to be used only for the purpose of beach and shoreline management and restoration. Any locality imposing a tax pursuant to this subdivision may base the tax on the full assessed value of the taxable property within the service district, notwithstanding any special use value assessment of property within the service district for land preservation pursuant to Article 4 (§ 58.1-3229 et seq.) of Chapter 32 of Title 58.1, provided the owner of such property has given written consent.

7. To accept the allocation, contribution or funds of, or to reimburse from, any available source, including, but not limited to, any person, authority, transportation district, or state or federal agency for either the whole or any part of the costs, expenses and charges incident to the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, maintenance, alteration, improvement, expansion and the operation or maintenance of any facilities and services in the district.

8. To employ and fix the compensation of any technical, clerical or other force and help which from time to time, in their judgment may be necessary or desirable to provide the governmental services authorized by subdivisions 1, 2 and 11 or for the construction, operation or maintenance of any such facilities and equipment as may be necessary or desirable in connection therewith.

9. To create and terminate a development board or other body to which shall be granted and assigned such powers and responsibilities with respect to a special service district as are delegated to it by ordinance adopted by the governing body of such locality or localities. Any such board or alternative body created shall be responsible for control and management of funds appropriated for its use by the governing body or bodies, and such funds may be used to employ or contract with, on such terms and conditions as the board or other body shall determine, persons, municipal or other governmental entities or such other entities as the development board or alternative body deems necessary to accomplish the purposes for which the development board or alternative body has been created. If the district was created by court order, the ordinance creating the development board or alternative body may provide that the members appointed to the board or alternative body shall consist of a majority of the landowners who petitioned for the creation of the district, or their designees or nominees.

10. To negotiate and contract with any person or municipality with regard to the connections of any such system or systems with any other system or systems now in operation or hereafter established, and with regard to any other matter necessary and proper for the construction or operation and maintenance of any such system within the district.

11. To acquire by purchase, gift, devise, bequest, grant or otherwise title to or any interests or rights of not less than five years' duration in real property that will provide a means for the preservation or provision of open-space land as provided for in the Open-Space Land Act (§ 10.1-1700 et seq.). Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivision 3, the governing body shall not use the power of condemnation to acquire any interest in land for the purposes of this subdivision.

1289 12. To contract with any state agency or state or local authority for services within the power of the
1290 agency or authority related to the financing, construction or operation of the facilities and services to be
1291 provided within the district; however, nothing in this subdivision shall authorize a locality to obligate its
1292 general tax revenues, or to pledge its full faith and credit.

1293 13. In the Town of Front Royal, to construct, maintain and operate facilities, equipment and
1294 programs as may be necessary or desirable to control, eradicate and prevent the infestation of rats and
1295 removal of skunks and the conditions that harbor them.

1296 § 15.2-2404. Authority to impose taxes or assessments for local improvements; purposes.

1297 A locality may impose taxes or assessments upon the owners of abutting property for constructing,
1298 improving, replacing or enlarging the sidewalks upon existing streets, for improving and paving existing
1299 alleys, and for the construction or the use of sanitary or storm water management facilities, retaining
1300 walls, curbs and gutters. Such taxes or assessments may include the legal, financial or other directly
1301 attributable costs incurred by the locality in creating a district, if a district is created, and financing the
1302 payment of the improvements. The taxes or assessments shall not be in excess of the peculiar benefits
1303 resulting from the improvements to such abutting property owners. No tax or assessment for retaining
1304 walls shall be imposed upon any property owner who does not agree to such tax or assessment.

1305 In addition to the foregoing, a locality may impose taxes or assessments upon the owners of abutting
1306 property for the construction, replacement or enlargement of waterlines; for the installation of street
1307 lights; for the construction or installation of canopies or other weather protective devices; for the
1308 installation of lighting in connection with the foregoing; and for permanent amenities, including, but not
1309 limited to, benches or waste receptacles. With regard to installation of street lights, a locality may
1310 provide by ordinance that upon a petition of at least 60 percent of the property owners within a
1311 subdivision, or such higher percent as provided in the ordinance, the locality may impose taxes or
1312 assessments upon all owners within the subdivision who benefit from such improvements. The taxes or
1313 assessments shall not be in excess of the peculiar benefits resulting from the improvements to such
1314 property owners.

1315 In cities with a population (i) in excess of 170,000 according to the 1970 or any subsequent census
1316 or (ii) between 22,000 and 23,500 the Cities of Chesapeake, Hopewell, Newport News, Norfolk,
1317 Richmond and Virginia Beach, the governing body may impose taxes or assessments upon the abutting
1318 property owners for the initial improving and paving of an existing street provided not less than 50
1319 percent of such abutting property owners who own not less than 50 percent of the property abutting
1320 such street request the improvement or paving. The taxes or assessments permitted by this paragraph
1321 shall not be in excess of the peculiar benefits resulting from the improvements to such abutting property
1322 owners and in no event shall such amount exceed the sum of \$10 per front foot of property abutting
1323 such street or the sum of \$1,000 for any one subdivided lot or parcel abutting such street, whichever is
1324 the lesser.

1325 The governing bodies of the Cities of Buena Vista and Waynesboro and the County of Augusta may,
1326 by duly adopted ordinance, impose taxes or assessments upon abutting property owners subjected to
1327 frequent flooding for special benefits conferred upon that property by the installation or construction of
1328 flood control barriers, equipment or other improvements for the prevention of flooding in such area and
1329 shall provide for the payment of all or any part of the above projects out of the proceeds of such taxes
1330 or assessments, provided that such taxes or assessments shall not be in excess of the peculiar benefits
1331 resulting from the improvements to such abutting property owners.

1332 In the Cities of Poquoson and Williamsburg, the governing body may impose taxes or assessments
1333 upon the owners of abutting property for the underground relocation of distribution lines for electricity,
1334 telephone, cable television and similar utilities. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 15.2-2405, such
1335 underground relocation of distribution lines may only be ordered by the governing body and the cost
1336 thereof apportioned in pursuance of an agreement between the governing body and the abutting
1337 landowners. Notice shall be given to the abutting landowners, notifying them when and where they may
1338 appear before the governing body, or some committee thereof, or the administrative board or other
1339 similar board of the locality to whom the matter may be referred, to be heard in favor of or against such
1340 improvements.

1341 In Loudoun County and the Towns of Hamilton, Leesburg, and Purcellville, the governing body may
1342 request an electric utility that proposes to construct an overhead electric transmission line of 150
1343 kilovolts or more, any portion of which would be located in such locality, to enter into an agreement
1344 with the locality that provides (i) the locality will impose a tax or assessment on electric utility
1345 customers in a special rate district in an amount sufficient to cover the utility's additional costs of
1346 constructing, operating, and maintaining that portion of the proposed line to be located in such locality,
1347 or any smaller portion thereof as the utility and the locality may agree, as an underground rather than an
1348 overhead line; (ii) the tax or assessment will be shown as a separate item on such customers' electric
1349 bills and will be collected by the utility on behalf of the locality; (iii) the utility will construct, operate,
1350 and maintain the agreed portion of the line underground; (iv) the locality will pay to the utility its full

additional costs of constructing, operating, and maintaining that portion of the line underground rather than overhead; and (v) such other terms and conditions as the parties may agree. This provision shall not apply, however, to lines in operation as of March 1, 2005, or to non-operational lines for which the utility has acquired any right-of-way by that date.

If the locality and the utility enter into such an agreement, the locality shall by ordinance (i) set the boundaries of the special rate district within a reasonable distance of the route of that portion of the line to be placed underground pursuant to the agreement, and (ii) fix the amount of such tax or assessment, which shall be based on the assessed value of real property within such district. Thereafter, owners of real property comprising not less than 60 percent of the assessed value of real property within such district may petition the locality to impose such tax or assessment. If such petition is filed, the locality shall submit the agreement to the State Corporation Commission, which, after notice and opportunity for hearing, shall approve the agreement if it finds it to be in the public interest. If the agreement is approved by the State Corporation Commission, the locality shall impose such tax or assessment on electric utility customers within the district, and the locality and the utility shall carry out the agreement according to its terms and conditions.

§ 15.2-2406. How cost assessed or apportioned.

The cost of such improvement, when the same shall have been ascertained, shall be assessed or apportioned by the governing body, or by some committee thereof, or by any officer or board authorized by the governing body to make such assessment or apportionment, between the locality and the abutting property owners when less than the whole is assessed, provided that in cities and towns, except when it is otherwise agreed, that portion assessed against the abutting property owner or owners shall not exceed one-half of the total cost; but in cities and towns having a population not exceeding 12,000, the amount assessed shall not exceed three-fourths of the total cost of such improvement, and in cities having a population in excess of 290,000 according to the 1970 or any subsequent census, and the City of Chesapeake and the City of Virginia Beach, the amount assessed shall not exceed the total cost. Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, any portion of the cost of such improvements not funded by such special assessment may be paid from federal or state funds received by the locality for such purpose.

§ 15.2-3830. Certain costs and expenses to be apportioned between city and county.

After a town becomes a city under this chapter, the costs and expenses of the circuit court for the county, including jury costs, and the salaries of the judge and clerk of the circuit court and the clerk, attorney for the Commonwealth and sheriff of the county shall be borne by the city and county in the proportion that the population of each bears to the aggregate population of the city and county.

Such expenses and costs shall include stationery, furniture, books, office supplies and equipment for the court and clerk's office; supplies, repairs and alterations on the buildings used jointly by the city and county; and insurance, fuel, water, lights, etc., used in and about the buildings and the grounds thereto. The cost of any new building erected for the joint use of the city and county shall be provided for in like manner. However, in the case of buildings used jointly by a city having a population of more than 11,000 and less than 11,900, according to the 1960 or any subsequent census, and a county having a population of more than 12,000 and less than 12,400, according to the 1960 or any subsequent census, the City of Covington and Alleghany County, no repairs or alterations shall be made to any such building, and no new building shall be erected without the approval of the governing body of both the city and the county. If such governing bodies cannot agree, relevant controversies shall be resolved in the manner provided by § 15.2-3829.

§ 15.2-4402. Definitions.

As used in this chapter, unless the context requires a different meaning:

"Advisory committee" means the agricultural and forestal advisory committee.

"Agricultural products" means crops, livestock and livestock products, including but not limited to field crops, fruits, vegetables, horticultural specialties, cattle, sheep, hogs, goats, horses, poultry, furbearing animals, milk, eggs and furs.

"Agricultural production" means the production for commercial purposes of crops, livestock and livestock products, but not processing or retail merchandising of crops, livestock or livestock products.

"Agriculturally and forestally significant land" means land that has historically produced agricultural and forestal products, or land that an advisory committee considers good agricultural and forestal land based upon such factors as soil quality, topography, climate, markets, farm improvements, agricultural and forestry economics and technology, and other relevant factors.

"Clerk" means the clerk of the local circuit court or the clerk of the local governing body.

"Forestal products" includes, but is not limited to, lumber, pulpwood, posts, firewood, Christmas trees and other wood products for sale or for farm use.

"Landowner" or "owner of land" means any person holding a fee simple interest in property but does not mean the holder of an easement.

1412 "Participating locality" means any county having the urban county executive form of government,
1413 any adjacent county having the county executive form of government and counties with a population of
1414 no less than 63,400 and no more than 73,900 and no less than 85,000 and no more than 90,000 the
1415 Counties of Albemarle, Augusta, Fairfax, Hanover, Loudoun, Prince William, Roanoke and Rockingham.

1416 § 15.2-4407. Withdrawal of land from district of local significance.

1417 A. At any time after the creation of an agricultural, forestal, or an agricultural and forestal district of
1418 local significance within any county having the urban county executive form of government Fairfax
1419 County, any owner of land lying in such district may file a written notice of withdrawal with the local
1420 governing body which created the district, and upon the filing of such notice, the withdrawal shall be
1421 effective. In no way shall this section affect the ability of an owner to withdraw his land from a
1422 proposed district as is authorized by subsection C of § 15.2-4405.

1423 B. Any person withdrawing land from a district located in a county having the county executive form
1424 of government which is adjacent to any county having the urban county executive form of government,
1425 and any county with a population no less than 85,000 and no more than 90,000 or no less than 63,400
1426 and no more than 73,900 the Counties of Albemarle, Augusta, Hanover, Loudoun, Prince William,
1427 Roanoke and Rockingham shall follow the withdrawal procedures required by § 15.2-4314.

1428 C. Upon withdrawal of land from a district, the real estate previously included in such district shall
1429 be subject to roll-back taxes, as are provided in § 58.1-3237, and also a penalty in the amount equal to
1430 two times the taxes determined in the year following the withdrawal from the district on all land
1431 previously within the district.

1432 D. Upon withdrawal of land from a district no provisions of the ordinance which created the district
1433 shall any longer apply to the lands previously in the district which were withdrawn.

1434 E. The withdrawal of land from a district shall not itself serve to terminate the existence of the
1435 district. Such district shall continue in effect and be subject to review as to whether it should be
1436 terminated, modified or continued pursuant to § 15.2-4405.

1437 § 15.2-5114. Powers of authority.

1438 Each authority is an instrumentality exercising public and essential governmental functions to provide
1439 for the public health and welfare, and each authority may:

1440 1. Exist for a term of 50 years as a corporation, and for such further period or periods as may from
1441 time to time be provided by appropriate resolutions of the political subdivisions which are members of
1442 the authority; however, the term of an authority shall not be extended beyond a date 50 years from the
1443 date of the adoption of such resolutions;

1444 2. Adopt, amend or repeal bylaws, rules and regulations, not inconsistent with this chapter or the
1445 general laws of the Commonwealth, for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct of its business and
1446 to carry into effect its powers and purposes;

1447 3. Adopt an official seal and alter the same at pleasure;

1448 4. Maintain an office at such place or places as it may designate;

1449 5. Sue and be sued;

1450 6. Acquire, purchase, lease as lessee, construct, reconstruct, improve, extend, operate and maintain
1451 any stormwater control system or water or waste system or any combination of such systems within,
1452 outside, or partly within and partly outside one or more of the localities which created the authority, or
1453 which after February 27, 1962, joined such authority; acquire by gift, purchase or the exercise of the
1454 right of eminent domain lands or rights in land or water rights in connection therewith, within, outside,
1455 or partly within and partly outside one or more of the localities which created the authority, or which
1456 after February 27, 1962, joined such authority; and sell, lease as lessor, transfer or dispose of all or any
1457 part of any property, real, personal or mixed, or interest therein, acquired by it; however, in the exercise
1458 of the right of eminent domain the provisions of § 25.1-102 shall apply. In addition, the authority in any
1459 county or city to which §§ 15.2-1906 and 15.2-2146 are applicable shall have the same power of
1460 eminent domain and shall follow the same procedure provided in §§ 15.2-1906 and 15.2-2146. No
1461 property or any interest or estate owned by any political subdivision shall be acquired by an authority
1462 by the exercise of the power of eminent domain without the consent of the governing body of such
1463 political subdivision. Except as otherwise provided in this section, each authority is hereby vested with
1464 the same authority to exercise the power of eminent domain as is vested in the Commonwealth
1465 Transportation Commissioner. In acquiring personal property or any interest, right, or estate therein by
1466 purchase, lease as lessee, or installment purchase contract, an authority may grant security interests in
1467 such personal property or any interest, right, or estate therein;

1468 7. Issue revenue bonds of the authority, such bonds to be payable solely from revenues to pay all or
1469 a part of the cost of a stormwater control system or water or waste system;

1470 8. Combine any stormwater control system or water or waste system as a single system for the
1471 purpose of operation and financing;

1472 9. Borrow at such rates of interest as authorized by the general law for authorities and as the
1473 authority may determine and issue its notes, bonds or other obligations therefor. Any political

subdivision that is a member of an authority may lend, advance or give money to such authority;

10. Fix, charge and collect rates, fees and charges for the use of or for the services furnished by or for the benefit from any system operated by the authority. Such rates, fees, rents and charges shall be charged to and collected from any person contracting for the services or the lessee or tenant who uses or occupies any real estate which is served by or benefits from any such system. Water and sewer connection fees established by any authority shall be fair and reasonable. Such fees shall be reviewed by the authority periodically and shall be adjusted, if necessary, to assure that they continue to be fair and reasonable. Nothing herein shall affect existing contracts with bondholders that are in conflict with any of the foregoing provisions;

11. Enter into contracts with the federal government, the Commonwealth, the District of Columbia or any adjoining state or any agency or instrumentality thereof, any unit or any person. Such contracts may provide for or relate to the furnishing of services and facilities of any stormwater control system or water or waste system of the authority or in connection with the services and facilities rendered by any like system owned or controlled by the federal government, the Commonwealth, the District of Columbia or any adjoining state or any agency or instrumentality thereof, any unit or any person, and may include contracts providing for or relating to the right of an authority, created for such purpose, to receive and use and dispose of all or any portion of the refuse generated or collected by or within the jurisdiction or under the control of any one or more of them. In the implementation of any such contract, an authority may exercise the powers set forth in §§ 15.2-927 and 15.2-928. The power granted authorities under this chapter to enter into contracts with private entities includes the authority to enter into public-private partnerships for the establishment and operation of water and sewage systems, including the authority to contract for, and contract to provide, meter reading, billing and collections, leak detection, meter replacement and any related customer service functions;

12. Contract with the federal government, the Commonwealth, the District of Columbia, any adjoining state, any person, any locality or any public authority or unit thereof, on such terms as the authority deems proper, for the construction, operation or use of any project which is located partly or wholly outside the Commonwealth;

13. Enter upon, use, occupy, and dig up any street, road, highway or private or public lands in connection with the acquisition, construction or improvement, maintenance or operation of a stormwater control system or water or waste system, or streetlight system in a ~~county having a population between 13,200 and 14,000 according to the 1990 United States Census~~ *King George County*, subject, however, to such reasonable local police regulation as may be established by the governing body of any unit having jurisdiction;

14. Contract with any person, political subdivision, federal agency, or any public authority or unit, on such terms as the authority deems proper, for the purpose of acting as a billing and collecting agent for sewer service or sewage disposal service fees, rents or charges imposed by any such body; and

15. Install, own and lease pipe or conduit for the purpose of carrying fiber optic cable, provided that such pipe or conduit and the rights-of-way in which they are contained are made available on a nondiscriminatory, first-come, first-served basis to retail providers of broadband and other telecommunications services unless the facilities have insufficient capacity for such access and additional capacity cannot reasonably be added to the facilities.

§ 15.2-5115. Same; contracts relating to use of systems.

An authority may make and enter into all contracts or agreements, as the authority may determine, which are necessary or incidental to the performance of its duties and to the execution of the powers granted by this chapter, including contracts with any federal agency, the Commonwealth, the District of Columbia or any adjoining state or any unit thereof, on such terms and conditions as the authority may approve, relating to (i) the use of any stormwater control system, water or waste system, or streetlight system in a ~~county having a population between 13,200 and 14,000 according to the 1990 United States Census~~ *King George County* acquired or constructed by the authority under this chapter, or the services therefrom or the facilities thereof, or (ii) the use by the authority of the services or facilities of any stormwater control system, water or waste system, or streetlight system in a ~~county having a population between 13,200 and 14,000 according to the 1990 United States Census~~ *King George County* owned or operated by an owner other than the authority.

The contract shall be subject to such provisions, limitations or conditions as may be contained in the resolution of the authority authorizing revenue bonds of the authority or the provisions of any trust agreement securing such bonds. Such contract may provide for the collecting of fees, rates or charges for the services and facilities rendered to a unit or to the inhabitants thereof, by such unit or by its agents or by the agents of the authority, and for the enforcement of delinquent charges for such services and facilities. The provisions of the contract and of any ordinance or resolution of the governing body of a unit enacted pursuant thereto shall not be repealed so long as any of the revenue bonds issued under the authority of this chapter are outstanding and unpaid. The provisions of the contract, and of

any ordinance or resolution enacted pursuant thereto, shall be for the benefit of the bondholders. The aggregate of any fees, rates or charges which are required to be collected pursuant to any such contract, ordinance or resolution shall be sufficient to pay all obligations which may be assumed by the other contracting party.

§ 15.2-5136. Rates and charges.

A. The authority may fix and revise rates, fees and other charges (which shall include, but not be limited to, a penalty not to exceed ten percent on delinquent accounts, and interest on the principal), subject to the provisions of this section, for the use of and for the services furnished or to be furnished by any storm water control system or water or waste system, or streetlight system in a county having a population between 13,200 and 14,000 according to the 1990 United States Census King George County, or facilities incident thereto, owned, operated or maintained by the authority, or facilities incident thereto, for which the authority has issued revenue bonds as authorized by this chapter. Such rates, fees and charges shall be so fixed and revised as to provide funds, with other funds available for such purposes, sufficient at all times (i) to pay the cost of maintaining, repairing and operating the system or systems, or facilities incident thereto, for which such bonds were issued, including reserves for such purposes and for replacement and depreciation and necessary extensions, (ii) to pay the principal of and the interest on the revenue bonds as they become due and reserves therefor, and (iii) to provide a margin of safety for making such payments. The authority shall charge and collect the rates, fees and charges so fixed or revised.

B. The rates for water (including fire protection) and sewer service (including disposal) shall be sufficient to cover the expenses necessary or properly attributable to furnishing the class of services for which the charges are made. However, the authority may fix rates and charges for the services and facilities of its water system sufficient to pay all or any part of the cost of operating and maintaining its sewer system (including disposal) and all or any part of the principal of or the interest on the revenue bonds issued for such sewer or sewage disposal system, and may pledge any surplus revenues of its water system, subject to prior pledges thereof, for such purposes.

C. Rates, fees and charges for the services of a sewer or sewage disposal system shall be just and equitable, and may be based upon:

1. The quantity of water used or the number and size of sewer connections;
2. The number and kind of plumbing fixtures in use in the premises connected with the sewer or sewage disposal system;
3. The number or average number of persons residing or working in or otherwise connected with such premises or the type or character of such premises;
4. Any other factor affecting the use of the facilities furnished; or
5. Any combination of the foregoing factors.

However, the authority may fix rates and charges for services of its sewer or sewage disposal system sufficient to pay all or any part of the cost of operating and maintaining its water system, including distribution and disposal, and all or any part of the principal of or the interest on the revenue bonds issued for such water system, and to pledge any surplus revenues of its water system, subject to prior pledges thereof, for such purposes.

D. Water and sewer connection fees established by any authority shall be fair and reasonable. Such fees shall be reviewed by the authority periodically and shall be adjusted, if necessary, to assure that they continue to be fair and reasonable. Nothing herein shall affect existing contracts with bondholders which are in conflict with any of the foregoing provisions.

E. Rates, fees and charges for the service of a streetlight system shall be just and equitable, and may be based upon:

1. The portion of such system used;
2. The number and size of premises benefiting therefrom;
3. The number or average number of persons residing or working in or otherwise connected with such premises;
4. The type or character of such premises;
5. Any other factor affecting the use of the facilities furnished; or
6. Any combination of the foregoing factors.

However, the authority may fix rates and charges for the service of its streetlight system sufficient to pay all or any part of the cost of operating and maintaining such system.

F. The authority may also fix rates and charges for the services and facilities of a water system or a refuse collection and disposal system sufficient to pay all or any part of the cost of operating and maintaining facilities incident thereto for the generation or transmission of power and all or any part of the principal of or interest upon the revenue bonds issued for any such facilities incident thereto, and to pledge any surplus revenues from any such system, subject to prior pledges thereof, for such purposes. Charges for services to premises, including services to manufacturing and industrial plants, obtaining all or a part of their water supply from sources other than a public water system may be determined by

gauging or metering or in any other manner approved by the authority.

G. No sewer, sewage disposal or storm water control rates, fees or charges shall be fixed under subsections A through F until after a public hearing at which all of the users of such facilities; the owners, tenants or occupants of property served or to be served thereby; and all others interested have had an opportunity to be heard concerning the proposed rates, fees and charges. After the adoption by the authority of a resolution setting forth the preliminary schedule or schedules fixing and classifying such rates, fees and charges, notice of a public hearing, setting forth the proposed schedule or schedules of rates, fees and charges, shall be given by two publications, at least six days apart, in a newspaper having a general circulation in the area to be served by such systems at least sixty days before the date fixed in such notice for the hearing. The hearing may be adjourned from time to time. A copy of the notice shall be mailed to the governing bodies of all localities in which such systems or any part thereof is located. After the hearing the preliminary schedule or schedules, either as originally adopted or as amended, shall be adopted and put into effect.

H. No refuse collection and disposal rates, fees or charges shall be fixed under subsections A through F until after a public hearing at which all of the users of such facilities; the owners, tenants or occupants of property served or to be served thereby; and all others interested have had an opportunity to be heard concerning the proposed rates, fees and charges. After the adoption by the authority of a resolution setting forth the preliminary schedule or schedules fixing and classifying such rates, fees and charges, notice of a public hearing, setting forth the proposed schedule or schedules of rates, fees and charges, shall be given by a single publication in a newspaper having a general circulation in the area to be served by such systems at least fifteen days before the date fixed in such notice for the hearing. The hearing may be adjourned from time to time. A copy of the notice shall be mailed to the governing bodies of all localities in which such systems or any part thereof is located. After the hearing the preliminary schedule or schedules, either as originally adopted or as amended, may be adopted and put into effect.

I. A copy of the schedule or schedules of the final rates, fees and charges fixed in accordance with subsection G or H shall be kept on file in the office of the clerk or secretary of the governing body of each locality in which such systems or any part thereof is located, and shall be open to inspection by all interested parties. The rates, fees or charges so fixed for any class of users or property served shall be extended to cover any additional properties thereafter served which fall within the same class, without the necessity of a hearing or notice. Any increase in any rates, fees or charges under this section shall be made in the manner provided in subsection G. Any other change or revision of the rates, fees or charges may be made in the same manner as the rates, fees or charges were originally established as provided in subsection G or H.

§ 15.2-5204. Members of commission; quorum; compensation; expenses; removal and vacancies.

A hospital or health center commission shall consist of the following number of members based upon the number of political subdivisions participating: for one political subdivision, five members; for two, six members; for three, six members; for four, eight members; and for more than four, one member for each of the participating subdivisions. The respective members shall be appointed by the governing bodies of the subdivisions they represent, may be members of such governing bodies, shall be residents of such subdivisions, and shall be appointed for such terms as the appointing body designates. The powers of the commission conferred by this chapter shall be vested in and exercised by the members in office. A majority of the members shall constitute a quorum. The commission shall elect its own chairman and shall adopt rules and regulations for its own procedure and government. The commission members may receive up to \$50 for attendance at each commission meeting, not to exceed \$1,200 per year, and shall be paid their actual expenses incurred in the performance of their duties. Any commission member may be removed at any time by the governing body appointing him, and vacancies on the commission shall be filled for the unexpired terms.

In any county having a population between 200,000 and 245,000 *Chesterfield County*, the number of commission members shall be seven and their terms may be staggered as the appointing body designates.

§ 15.2-5307. Appointment, qualifications, tenure and compensation of commissioners.

An authority shall consist of not more than 15 commissioners appointed by the mayor, and he shall designate the first chairman. No more than three commissioners shall be practicing physicians. No officer or employee of the city, with the exception of the director of a local health department, shall be eligible for appointment; however, no director of a local health department shall serve as chairman of the authority. No local health director who serves as a hospital authority commissioner shall serve as a member of the regional health planning agency board simultaneously. No practicing physician shall be appointed to such authority in any city having a population of not more than 18,000 and not less than 17,500 according to the 1960 or any subsequent census and bordered by one county and two rivers *the City of Hopewell*.

1658 One-third of the commissioners who are first appointed shall be designated by the mayor to serve for
1659 terms of two years, one-third to serve for terms of four years, and one-third to serve for terms of six
1660 years, respectively, from the date of their appointment. Thereafter, the term of office shall be six years.
1661 No person shall be appointed to succeed himself following four successive terms in office; no term of
1662 less than six years shall be deemed a term in office for the purposes of this sentence.

1663 A commissioner shall hold office until his successor has been appointed and has qualified. Vacancies
1664 shall be filled for the unexpired term. In the event of a vacancy in the office of commissioner by
1665 expiration of term of office or otherwise, the remaining commissioners shall submit to the mayor
1666 nominations for appointments. The mayor may successively require additional nominations and shall
1667 have power to appoint any person so nominated. All such vacancies shall be filled from such
1668 nominations. A majority of the commissioners currently in office shall constitute a quorum. The mayor
1669 may file with the city clerk a certificate of the appointment or reappointment of any commissioner, and
1670 such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of the due and proper appointment of such commissioner.
1671 A commissioner shall receive no compensation for his services, but he shall be entitled to the necessary
1672 expenses including traveling expenses incurred in the discharge of his duties.

1673 § 16.1-118.1. Destruction of papers in civil cases in certain district courts.

1674 In any county having a population of more than 70,000 but less than 75,000 or more than 100,000
1675 but less than 125,000 and adjoining a city having a population of more than 200,000 but less than
1676 300,000, or in any county operating under the county manager form of government as provided in
1677 Chapter 6 (§ 15.2-600 et seq.) of Title 15.2 *Henrico County or Montgomery County*, the clerk of any
1678 district court in which papers are filed and preserved under § 16.1-69.55 may destroy the files, papers
1679 and records connected with any civil case in such court, if:

1680 (1) Such case was dismissed without any adjudication of the merits of the controversy, and the final
1681 order entered was one of dismissal and one year has elapsed from the date of such dismissal; or

1682 (2) Judgment was entered in such case but the right to issue an execution or bring a motion to
1683 extend the period for enforcing a judgment or an action on such judgment is barred by § 8.01-251; or

1684 (3) No service of the warrant or motion or other process or summons was had on any defendant and
1685 one year has elapsed from the date of such process or summons; and

1686 (4) The destruction of such papers is authorized and directed by an order of the judge of the court in
1687 which they are preserved, which order may refer to such papers by any one or more of the above
1688 classifications, or to any group or kind of cases embraced therein, without express reference to any
1689 particular case; and

1690 (5) The audit has been made for the period to which the files, papers and records are applicable.

1691 § 16.1-309.3. Establishment of a community-based system of services; biennial local plan; quarterly
1692 report.

1693 A. Any county, city or combination thereof may establish a community-based system pursuant to this
1694 article, which shall provide, or arrange to have accessible, a variety of predispositional and
1695 postdispositional services. These services may include, but are not limited to, diversion, community
1696 service, restitution, house arrest, intensive juvenile supervision, substance abuse assessment and testing,
1697 first-time offender programs, intensive individual and family treatment, structured day treatment and
1698 structured residential programs, aftercare/parole community supervision and residential and nonresidential
1699 services for juvenile offenders who are before intake on complaints or the court on petitions alleging
1700 that the juvenile is delinquent, in need of services or in need of supervision but shall not include secure
1701 detention for the purposes of this article. Such community-based systems shall be based on an annual
1702 review of court-related data and an objective assessment of the need for services and programs for
1703 juveniles before intake on complaints or the court on petitions alleging that the juvenile is a child in
1704 need of services, in need of supervision, or delinquent. The community-based system shall be
1705 developed after consultation with the judge or judges of the juvenile and domestic relations district
1706 court, the director of the court services unit, the community policy and management team established
1707 under § 2.2-5205, and, if applicable, the director of any program established pursuant to § 66-26.

1708 B. Community-based services instituted pursuant to this article shall be administered by a county,
1709 city or combination thereof, and may be administered through a community policy and management
1710 team established under § 2.2-5204 or a commission established under § 16.1-315. Such programs and
1711 services may be provided by qualified public or private agencies, pursuant to appropriate contracts. Any
1712 commission established under § 16.1-315 providing predispositional and postdispositional services prior
1713 to the enactment of this article which serves a member jurisdiction that is a city having a population
1714 between 135,000 and 165,000 *the City of Chesapeake or the City of Hampton* shall directly receive the
1715 proportion of funds calculated under § 16.1-309.7 on behalf of the owner localities. The funds received
1716 shall be allocated directly to the member localities. Any member locality which elects to withdraw from
1717 the commission shall be entitled to its full allocation as provided in §§ 16.1-309.6 and 16.1-309.7. The
1718 Department of Juvenile Justice shall provide technical assistance to localities, upon request, for
1719 establishing or expanding programs or services pursuant to this article.

C. Funds provided to implement the provisions of this article shall not be used to supplant funds established as the state pool of funds under § 2.2-5211.

D. Any county, city or combination thereof which establishes a community-based system pursuant to this article shall biennially submit to the State Board for approval a local plan for the development, implementation and operation of such services, programs and facilities pursuant to this article. The plan shall provide (i) the projected number of juveniles served by alternatives to secure detention and (ii) any reduction in secure detention rates and commitments to state care as a result of programs funded pursuant to this article. The State Board shall solicit written comments on the plan from the judge or judges of the juvenile and domestic relations court, the director of the court services unit, and if applicable, the director of programs established pursuant to § 66-26. Prior to the initiation of any new services, the plan shall also include a cost comparison for the private operation of such services.

E. Each locality shall report quarterly to the Director the data required by the Department to measure progress on stated objectives and to evaluate programs and services within such locality's plan.

§ 17.1-273. Establishment and disposition of fees collected by certain high constable.

Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, including a general or special act, any city having a population in excess of 265,000 as reported in the U.S. Census of 1980 and having an office of the high constable the City of Norfolk, may, by duly adopted local ordinance, establish fees for the service of process by such office the office of the high constable. The office of the high constable in such city shall publish a schedule of such fees by January 1 of each year. Copies of the schedule shall be forwarded to the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Virginia. Only in cities having a population in excess of 265,000 as reported in the U.S. Census of 1980 the City of Norfolk, shall high constables execute all processes, warrants, summonses and notices in civil cases before the general district court of the city to the exclusion of the sheriff of the city. Any fees, collected by the office of the high constable for such process, shall be deposited in the treasury of the city wherein such office is situated for use in the general operation of city government.

§ 18.2-287.4. Carrying loaded firearms in public areas prohibited; penalty.

It shall be unlawful for any person to carry a loaded (a) semi-automatic center-fire rifle or pistol that expels single or multiple projectiles by action of an explosion of a combustible material and is equipped at the time of the offense with a magazine that will hold more than 20 rounds of ammunition or designed by the manufacturer to accommodate a silencer or equipped with a folding stock or (b) shotgun with a magazine that will hold more than seven rounds of the longest ammunition for which it is chambered on or about his person on any public street, road, alley, sidewalk, public right-of-way, or in any public park or any other place of whatever nature that is open to the public (i) in any city with a population of 160,000 or more or (ii) in any county having an urban county executive form of government or any county or city surrounded thereby or adjacent thereto or in any county having a county manager form of government the Cities of Alexandria, Chesapeake, Fairfax, Falls Church, Newport News, Norfolk, Richmond or Virginia Beach or in the Counties of Arlington, Fairfax, Henrico, Loudoun or Prince William.

The provisions of this section shall not apply to law-enforcement officers, licensed security guards, military personnel in the performance of their lawful duties, or any person having a valid concealed handgun permit or to any person actually engaged in lawful hunting or lawful recreational shooting activities at an established shooting range or shooting contest. Any person violating the provisions of this section shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor.

The exemptions set forth in § 18.2-308 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to the provisions of this section.

§ 19.2-250. How far jurisdiction of corporate authorities extends.

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this article and except as provided in subsection B hereof, the jurisdiction of the corporate authorities of each town or city, in criminal cases involving offenses against the Commonwealth, shall extend within the Commonwealth one mile beyond the corporate limits of such town or city; except that such jurisdiction of the corporate authorities of towns situated in counties having a density of population in excess of 300 inhabitants per square mile, or in counties adjacent to cities having a population of 170,000 or more, shall extend for 300 yards beyond the corporate limits of such town or, in the case of the criminal jurisdiction of an adjacent county, for 300 yards within such town.

B. Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, the jurisdiction of the authorities of a county adjoining the City of Richmond and having a population between 209,200 and 209,500 or a county adjoining the City of Richmond and having a population between 217,800 and 217,900, according to the 1990 census Chesterfield County and Henrico County, in criminal cases involving offenses against the Commonwealth, shall extend one mile beyond the limits of such county into the City of Richmond.

§ 21-118.2. Certain counties authorized to use sanitary district funds for certain purposes.

The board of supervisors of any county operating sanitary districts under the provisions of this

chapter as amended or under the provisions of an act or acts continued in effect by § 21-120, may use sanitary district funds for police protection and for construction and operation of community houses within the district, provided that this section shall apply only to a county having a population in excess of 55,000 and adjoining a city within the Commonwealth having a population in excess of 230,000 *Chesterfield County and Henrico County*. Action hereunder shall be subject to the rights of the holders of any bonds issued by such district.

§ 21-119. Sanitary districts are special taxing districts; nature of improvements; jurisdiction of governing bodies, etc., not affected.

A. Each sanitary district created or purported to be created by an order of the circuit court of any county of the Commonwealth, or a judge thereof, heretofore or hereafter made and entered pursuant to any general law of the Commonwealth, is hereby determined to be and is hereby made, from and after the date of such creation or purported creation, a special taxing district for the purposes for which created; and any improvements heretofore or hereafter made by or for any such district are hereby determined to be general tax improvements and of general benefit to all of the property within the sanitary district, as distinct from peculiar or special benefits to some or all of the property within the sanitary district.

B. Neither the creation of the sanitary districts as special taxing districts nor any other provision in this chapter shall in any wise affect the authority, power and jurisdiction of the respective county governing bodies, sheriffs, treasurers, commissioners of the revenue, circuit courts, clerks, judges, magistrates or any other county, district or state officer over the area embraced in any such district, nor shall the same restrict or affect in any way any county, or the governing body of any county, from imposing on and collecting from abutting landowners, or other landowners receiving special or peculiar benefits, in any such district, taxes or assessments for local public improvements as permitted by the Constitution and by other statutes of the Commonwealth.

C. Notwithstanding subsections A and B of this section, the board of supervisors of any county with a population between 15,400 and 15,950 *Buckingham County, Nottoway County or Westmoreland County* may impose on, and collect from, landowners abutting a street being improved by the sanitary district a user fee for such service. Such fee may be enforced as provided in § 21-118.4.

§ 22.1-118. Handling of funds for joint school; county or city treasurer as fiscal agent.

The treasurer of a county or city in which a joint school is located shall be the fiscal agent of such school and shall receive and disburse the funds thereof. All disbursements shall be by warrant signed by the clerk of the committee for control of such school and countersigned by such treasurer as fiscal agent.

For his services as fiscal agent, the treasurer shall be paid such salary as may be agreed upon by the committee for control of the joint school and treasurer. In the event they cannot agree, then the amount of salary to be paid shall be submitted to the circuit court of the county or city in which the school is located for hearing and determination, and the amount so fixed by the court shall be binding upon both the treasurer and the committee. Nothing contained in this section shall affect the regular salary allowance of the treasurer as fixed annually by the State Compensation Board.

The provisions of this section shall not apply to the property and school known as New London Academy leased under the provisions of Chapter 174 of the Acts of Assembly of 1887, approved May 10, 1887, and acts amendatory thereof, nor shall they apply in any county having a population of more than 30,900 but less than 31,000 *Albemarle County*.

In the case of an academic-year Governor's School operated by two or more school divisions, the relevant school boards may, by agreement and with the approval of the respective local governing bodies, select the fiscal agent for the school from among the treasurers of the participating localities.

§ 22.1-129. Surplus property; sale, exchange or lease of real and personal property.

A. Whenever a school board determines that it has no use for some of its real property, the school board may sell such property and may retain all or a portion of the proceeds of such sale upon approval of the local governing body and after the school board has held a public hearing on such sale and retention of proceeds, or may convey the title to such real property to the county or city or town comprising the school division or, if the school division is composed of more than one county or city, to the county or city in which the property is located. To convey the title, the school board shall adopt a resolution that such real property is surplus and shall record such resolution along with the deed to the property with the clerk of the circuit court for the county or city where such property is located. Upon the recording of the resolution and the deed, the title shall vest in the appropriate county, city or town.

If a school board sells surplus real property, a capital improvement fund shall be established by such school board and the proceeds of such sale retained by the school board shall accrue to such capital improvement fund. The capital improvement fund shall only be used for new school construction, school renovation, and major school maintenance projects.

B. A school board shall have the power to exchange real and personal property, to lease real and personal property either as lessor or lessee, to grant easements on real property, to convey real property

in trust to secure loans, to convey real property to adjust the boundaries of the property and to sell personal property in such manner and upon such terms as it deems proper. As lessee of real property, a school board shall have the power to expend funds for capital repairs and improvements on such property, if the lease is for a term equal to or longer than the useful life of such repairs or improvements.

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections A and B, a school board shall have the power to sell career and technical education projects and associated land pursuant to § 22.1-234.

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections A and B, a school board of a school division comprised of a city having a population of 350,000 or more and adjacent to the Atlantic Ocean the City of Virginia Beach shall have the power to sell property to the Virginia Department of Transportation or the Commonwealth Transportation Commissioner when the Commissioner has determined that (i) such conveyance is necessary and (ii) when eminent domain has been authorized for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, maintenance, and repair of the public highways of the Commonwealth, and for all other purposes incidental thereto, including, but not limited to, the relocation of public utilities as may be required.

D. School boards may donate obsolete educational technology hardware and software that is being replaced pursuant to subdivision B 4 of § 22.1-199.1. Any such donations shall be offered to other school divisions, to students, as provided in Board of Education guidelines, and to preschool programs in the Commonwealth.

§ 27-23.1. Establishment of fire/EMS zones or districts; tax levies.

The governing bodies of the several cities or counties of this Commonwealth may create and establish, by designation on a map of the city or county showing current, official parcel boundaries, or by any other description which is legally sufficient for the conveyance of property or the creation of parcels, fire/EMS zones or districts in such cities or counties, within which may be located and established one or more fire/EMS departments, to be equipped with apparatus for fighting fires and protecting property and human life within such zones or districts from loss or damage by fire, illness or injury.

In the event of the creation of such zones or districts in any city or county, the city or county governing body may acquire, in the name of the city or county, real or personal property to be devoted to the uses aforesaid, and shall prescribe rules and regulations for the proper management, control and conduct thereof. Such governing body shall also have authority to contract with, or secure the services of, any individual corporation, organization or municipal corporation, or any volunteer fire fighters or emergency medical services personnel for such fire or emergency medical services protection as may be required.

To raise funds for the purposes aforesaid, the governing body of any city or county in which such zones or districts are established may levy annually a tax on the assessed value of all property real and personal within such zones or districts, subject to local taxation, which tax shall be extended and collected as other city or county taxes are extended and collected. However, any property located in any county with a population between 54,600 and 55,600 according to the 1990 United States Census Augusta County that has qualified for an agricultural or forestal use-value assessment pursuant to Article 4 (§ 58.1-3229 et seq.) of Chapter 32 of Title 58.1 may not be included within such a zone or district and may not be subject to such tax. In any city or county having a population between 25,000 and 25,500, the maximum rate of tax under this section shall be \$0.30 on \$100 of assessed value.

The amount realized from such levy shall be kept separate from all other moneys of the city or county and shall be applied to no other purpose than the maintenance and operation of the fire/EMS departments and companies established under the provisions of this section.

§ 29.1-514. Nonmigratory game birds.

A. The following nonmigratory game birds may be hunted during prescribed open seasons:

Birds introduced by the Board.

Bobwhite quail.

Grouse.

Pheasants.

Turkey.

B. The following provisions shall also be applicable to the raising and hunting of the particular nonmigratory game bird species listed:

1. The Board may issue a permit to raise or purchase pheasants which shall entitle the permittee to release pheasants raised or purchased by him on land owned or leased by him, and such pheasants may be hunted under rules and regulations promulgated by the Board.

2. The Board may open the season, including Sunday operation, on pen-raised game birds on controlled shooting areas licensed under Chapter 6 (§ 29.1-600 et seq.) of this title under regulations as may be promulgated by the Board. However, the regulations promulgated by the Board shall not allow

1904 Sunday operation in these counties having a population of not less than 54,000, nor more than
1905 55,000 Augusta County, or in any county or city which prohibits Sunday operation by ordinance.

1906 Prior to obtaining a license from the Board to operate a commercially operated controlled shooting
1907 area, an applicant shall (i) notify adjoining landowners of the proposed use and (ii) obtain approval from
1908 the governing body of the county, city or town that such activity is permitted under existing ordinances.
1909 The requirements of clauses (i) and (ii) shall only apply to applications filed on or after July 1, 1993,
1910 for commercially operated controlled shooting area licenses issued under Chapter 6 of this title and shall
1911 not apply to existing preserve licenses or renewals issued for the shooting of pen-raised game birds.

1912 § 29.1-748.1. Minimum distance from shoreline; local ordinances; penalty.

1913 Any city with a population greater than 425,000 *The City of Virginia Beach* may, by ordinance,
1914 regulate in any portion of a waterway located solely within its territorial limits, the minimum distance
1915 that personal watercraft may be operated from the shoreline in excess of the slowest possible speed
1916 required to maintain steerage and headway. Such ordinance shall provide for distances of 100 feet from
1917 the shoreline and 200 feet from swimmers in ocean waters, and shall provide for local enforcement and
1918 penalties not exceeding those applicable to Class 4 misdemeanors. Nothing in this section prohibits
1919 access to and from waters where operation is not otherwise restricted.

1920 § 29.1-749.2. Local regulation of personal watercraft rentals; penalty.

1921 A. Any city with a population in excess of 390,000 *The City of Virginia Beach* may by ordinance
1922 regulate personal watercraft as provided in this section. Any ordinance enacted pursuant to this section
1923 may include any of the following provisions:

1924 1. Any business which offers personal watercraft for rent shall (i) require any person to whom a
1925 personal watercraft is rented to present, prior to such rental, a government-issued identification card
1926 containing his photograph and (ii) retain such identification card, or a copy thereof, during the time the
1927 personal watercraft is being rented.

1928 2. No person who rents or leases a personal watercraft shall knowingly misrepresent any material fact
1929 or falsify any information requested on the rental agreement or application.

1930 3. Any business which offers personal watercraft for hourly short-term rental shall have at least one
1931 motorboat of at least fifty horsepower operated by an employee or agent of the business, in order to
1932 monitor and ensure the safe operation of the personal watercraft.

1933 4. No business which offers personal watercraft for rent shall rent a personal watercraft that has an
1934 engine displacement which exceeds 800 cubic centimeters.

1935 5. Any business which offers personal watercraft for rent shall have at least two marine VHF radios
1936 in operation during the time that a personal watercraft rental is being operated. The radios shall monitor
1937 channel 16 whenever they are not being actively used on a working channel.

1938 B. Any locality may by ordinance establish standards for insurance coverage for any business which
1939 offers personal watercraft for rent.

1940 C. Any ordinance adopted by a locality pursuant to this section may provide for a penalty for
1941 violation of the ordinance not to exceed the penalty applicable to a Class 3 misdemeanor.

1942 § 33.1-41.1. Payments to cities and certain towns for maintenance of certain highways.

1943 The Commonwealth Transportation Commissioner, subject to the approval of the Commonwealth
1944 Transportation Board, shall make payments for maintenance, construction, or reconstruction of highways,
1945 as hereinafter provided, to all cities and towns eligible for allocation of construction funds for urban
1946 highways under § 33.1-23.3. Such payments, however, shall only be made if those highways functionally
1947 classified as principal and minor arterial roads are maintained to a standard satisfactory to the
1948 Department of Transportation. Whenever any city or town qualifies under this section for allocation of
1949 funds, such qualification shall continue to apply to such city or town regardless of any subsequent
1950 change in population and shall cease to apply only when so specifically provided by an act of the
1951 General Assembly. All allocations made prior to July 1, 2001, to cities and towns meeting the criteria of
1952 the foregoing provisions of this section are hereby confirmed.

1953 No payments shall be made by the Commissioner to any such city or town unless the portion of the
1954 highway for which such payment is made either (a) has (i) an unrestricted right-of-way at least 50 feet
1955 wide and (ii) a hard-surface width of at least 30 feet; or (b) has (i) an unrestricted right-of-way at least
1956 80 feet wide, (ii) a hard-surface width of at least 24 feet, and (iii) approved engineering plans for the
1957 ultimate construction of an additional hard-surface width of at least 24 feet within the same
1958 right-of-way; or (c) (i) is a cul-de-sac, (ii) has an unrestricted right-of-way at least 40 feet wide, and (iii)
1959 has a turnaround that meets applicable standards set by the Department of Transportation; or (d) either
1960 (i) has been paved and has constituted part of the primary or secondary system of state highways prior
1961 to annexation or incorporation or (ii) has constituted part of the secondary system of state highways
1962 prior to annexation or incorporation and is paved to a minimum width of 16 feet subsequent to such
1963 annexation or incorporation and with the further exception of streets or portions thereof which have
1964 previously been maintained under the provisions of § 33.1-79 or § 33.1-82; or (e) was eligible for and
1965 receiving such payments under the laws of the Commonwealth in effect on June 30, 1985; or (f) is a

street established prior to July 1, 1950, which has an unrestricted right-of-way width of not less than 30 feet and a hard-surface width of not less than 16 feet; or (g) is a street functionally classified as a local street and constructed on or after January 1, 1996, which at the time of approval by the city or town met the criteria for pavement width and right-of-way of the then-current edition of the subdivision street requirements manual for secondary roads of the Department of Transportation (24 VAC 30-90-10 et seq.); (h) is a street previously eligible to receive street payments that is located in a city having a population of at least 200,000 but no more than 250,000 the City of Norfolk and the City of Richmond and is closed to public travel, pursuant to legislation enacted by the governing body of the city in which it is located, for public safety reasons, within the boundaries of a publicly funded housing development owned and operated by the local housing authority; or (i) is a local street, otherwise eligible, containing one or more physical protuberances placed within the right-of-way for the purpose of controlling the speed of traffic.

However, the Commissioner may waive the requirements as to hard-surface pavement or right-of-way width for highways where the width modification is at the request of the local governing body and is to protect the quality of the affected local government's drinking water supply or, for highways constructed on or after July 1, 1994, to accommodate some other special circumstance where such action would not compromise the health, safety, or welfare of the public. The modification is subject to such conditions as the Commissioner may prescribe.

For the purpose of calculating allocations and making payments under this section, the Department shall divide affected highways into two categories, which shall be distinct from but based on functional classifications established by the Federal Highway Administration: (i) principal and minor arterial roads and (ii) collector roads and local streets. Payments to affected localities shall be based on the number of moving-lane-miles of highways or portions thereof available to peak-hour traffic in each category of highways in that locality. For the fiscal year 1986, payment to each city and town shall be an amount equal to \$7,787 per moving-lane-mile for principal and minor arterials and \$4,572 per moving-lane-mile for collector roads and local streets.

The Department of Transportation shall establish a statewide maintenance index of the unit costs for labor, equipment, and materials used on roads and bridges in the fiscal year 1986, and use changes in that index to calculate and put into effect annual changes in the base per-lane-mile rate payable under this section.

The fund allocated by the Board shall be paid in equal sums in each quarter of the fiscal year, and no payment shall be made without the approval of the Board.

The chief administrative officer of the city or town receiving this fund shall make annual categorical reports of expenditures to the Board, in such form as the Board shall prescribe, accounting for all expenditures, certifying that none of the money received has been expended for other than maintenance, construction or reconstruction of the streets, and reporting on their performance as specified in subdivision B 3 of § 33.1-23.02. Such reports shall be included in the scope of the annual audit of each municipality conducted by independent certified public accountants.

§ 33.1-44. Matching highway funds; funding of urban system construction projects, generally.

In any case in which an act of Congress requires that federal-aid highway funds made available for the construction or improvement of federal or state highways be matched, the Commonwealth Transportation Board shall contribute such matching funds. However, in the case of municipalities of 3,500 or more population eligible for an allocation of construction funds for urban highways under § 33.1-23.3 and the Town of Wise, the Town of Lebanon, and the Town of Altavista, the Board may contribute toward the cost of construction of any federal-aid highway or street project ninety-eight percent of the necessary funds, including the federal portion, if the municipality contributes the other two percent, and provided further, that within such municipalities the Board may contribute all the required funds on highways in the interstate system.

In the case of municipalities of 3,500 or more population eligible for an allocation of construction funds for urban highways under § 33.1-23.3 and the Town of Wise, the Town of Lebanon, and the Town of Altavista, the Commonwealth Transportation Board may contribute toward the costs of construction or improvement of any highway or street project for which no federal-aid highway funds are made available ninety-eight percent of the necessary funds if the municipality contributes the other two percent.

For purposes of matching highway funds, such contributions shall continue to apply to such municipality regardless of any subsequent change in population and shall cease to apply only when so specifically provided by an act of the General Assembly. All actions taken prior to July 1, 2001, by municipalities meeting the criteria of the foregoing provisions of this section are hereby confirmed.

In the case of municipalities of less than 3,500 in population that on June 30, 1985, maintained certain streets under § 33.1-80 as then in effect, the Commonwealth Transportation Board shall contribute toward the costs of construction or improvement of any highway or street project 100 percent

of the necessary funds. The contribution authorized by this paragraph shall be in addition to any other contribution, and projects established in reference to municipalities of less than 3,500 in population shall not in any way be interpreted to change any other formula or manner for the distribution of funds to such municipalities for construction, improvement or maintenance of highways or streets. The Board may accept from a municipality, for right-of-way purposes, contributions of real estate to be credited, at fair market value, against the matching obligation of such municipality under the provisions of this section.

The term "construction or improvement" means the supervising, inspecting, actual building, and all expenses incidental to the construction or reconstruction of a highway, including locating, surveying, design and mapping, costs of rights-of-way, signs, signals and markings, elimination of hazards of railroad grade crossings and expenses incidental to the relocation of any utility or its facilities owned by a municipality or by a public utility district or public utility authority.

If any municipality requesting such Commonwealth Transportation Board contribution subsequently decides to cancel such construction or improvement after the Board has initiated the project at the request of the municipality, such municipality shall reimburse the Board the net amount of all funds expended by the Board for planning, engineering, right-of-way acquisition, demolition, relocation and construction between the date of initiation by the municipality and the date of cancellation. The Board shall have the authority to waive all or any portions of such reimbursement at its discretion.

For purposes of this section, on any construction or improvement project in ~~any city having either a population of at least 130,000 but less than 150,000 or a population of at least 170,000 but less than 200,000~~ *The Cities of Chesapeake, Hampton, Newport News or Richmond* and funded in accordance with subdivision 2 of subsection B of § 33.1-23.1, the additional cost for placing aboveground utilities below ground may be paid from funds allocated for that project. The maximum cost due to this action shall not exceed five million dollars. Nothing contained herein shall relieve utility owners of their responsibilities and costs associated with the relocation of their facilities when required to accommodate a construction or improvement project.

§ 33.1-225. Levies.

The boards of supervisors or other governing bodies of the several counties shall not make any levy of county or district road taxes or contract any further indebtedness for the construction, maintenance or improvement of roads; provided, however, that the boards of supervisors or other governing bodies of the several counties shall continue to make county or district levies, as the case may be, upon all real and personal property subject to local taxation, in such county or magisterial district, and not embraced within the corporate limits of any incorporated town which maintains its own streets and is exempt from county and district road taxes unless the citizens of such towns voted on the question of issuing county or district road bonds, sufficient only to provide for the payment of any bonded or other indebtedness and for the interest contracted thereon that may be outstanding as an obligation of any county or district contracted for road purposes or for the sinking fund for the retirement of any bonded indebtedness established for county or district road purposes; and provided, further, that the boards of supervisors or other governing bodies of counties adjacent to cities of the first class may, for the purpose of supplementing funds available for expenditure by the Commonwealth for the maintenance and improvement of roads in such counties when such supplementary funds are necessary on account of the existence of suburban conditions adjacent to such cities, levy county or district road taxes, as the case may be, the proceeds thereof to be expended at the option of the board of supervisors or other governing body either by or under the supervision of the Commonwealth Transportation Commissioner in the maintenance and improvement, including construction and reconstruction, of roads in such suburban district; and provided, further, that any expenditure heretofore made by the board of supervisors of ~~any county having a population of more than 17,200 but less than 17,300~~ *Giles County* from the general funds of the county for the improvement of roads which are not in the secondary system of state highways and which are open to public use is hereby validated.

All balances in the hands of the local authorities for county or district road purposes and any taxes levied for years prior to 1932 for county or district road purposes and not collected shall, when collected, and to the extent necessary, be disbursed in payment of obligations heretofore contracted for county or district road purposes and remaining unpaid and the balance, if any, for general county or district purposes.

For the purpose of this section the term "district" shall mean magisterial, sanitary or other special district created by the governing body of a county for the levy of road taxes.

§ 44-146.40. Virginia Emergency Response Council created; membership; responsibilities; immunity for local councils.

A. There is hereby created the Virginia Emergency Response Council to carry out the provisions of Title 3, Public Law 99-499.

B. The Virginia Emergency Response Council shall consist of such state agency heads or designated representatives with technical expertise in the emergency response field as the Governor shall appoint.

The Governor shall designate a chairman from among its members.

C. The Virginia Emergency Response Council, known as the "Virginia Council," shall designate an appropriate state agency to receive funds provided under Title 3, Public Law 99-499.

D. The Virginia Emergency Response Council shall seek advice on policy and programmatic matters from the Hazardous Materials Emergency Response Advisory Council.

E. The Virginia Council shall adopt rules and procedures in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Process Act, Chapter 40 (§ 2.2-4000 et seq.) of Title 2.2 for the conduct of its business.

F. Any person appointed by the Virginia Emergency Response Council as a member of a local emergency planning committee shall be immune from civil liability for any official act, decision or omission done or made in performance of his duties as a member of such local council, provided that the act, decision or omission was not done or made in bad faith or with malicious intent or does not constitute gross negligence. No member of any emergency planning committee nor any state agency on behalf of such member need make a payment into the state insurance trust fund under § 2.2-1835 for this purpose.

G. Any joint emergency planning committee serving any county operating under the urban county executive form of government and serving a city with a population between 19,500 and 20,000 *Fairfax County and the City of Fairfax* shall have the authority to require any facility within its emergency planning district to submit the information required and participate in the emergency planning provided for in Subtitle A of Title 3 of Public Law 99-499. For the purposes of this subsection, "facility" shall include any development or installation having an aggregate storage capacity of at least one million gallons of oil as defined in § 62.1-44.34:10, or the potential for a sudden release of 10,000 pounds or more of any other flammable liquid or gas not exempt from the provisions of § 327 of Title 3 of Public Law 99-499. This requirement shall not occur until after public notice and the opportunity to comment. The committee shall notify the facility owner or operator of any requirement to comply with this subsection.

§ 46.2-752. Taxes and license fees imposed by counties, cities, and towns; limitations on amounts; disposition of revenues; requiring evidence of payment of personal property taxes and certain fines; prohibiting display of licenses after expiration; failure to display valid local license required by other localities; penalty.

A. Except as provided in § 46.2-755, counties, cities, and towns may levy and assess taxes and charge license fees on motor vehicles, trailers, and semitrailers. However, none of these taxes and license fees shall be assessed or charged by any county on vehicles owned by residents of any town located in the county when such town constitutes a separate school district if the vehicles are already subject to town license fees and taxes, nor shall a town charge a license fee to any new resident of the town, previously a resident of a county within which all or part of the town is situated, who has previously paid a license fee for the same tax year to such county. The amount of the license fee or tax imposed by any county, city, or town on any motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer shall not be greater than the amount of the license tax imposed by the Commonwealth on the motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer. The license fees and taxes shall be imposed in such manner, on such basis, for such periods, and subject to proration for fractional periods of years, as the proper local authorities may determine. Local licenses may be issued free of charge for any or all of the following:

1. Vehicles powered by clean special fuels as defined in § 46.2-749.3, including dual-fuel and bi-fuel vehicles,

2. Vehicles owned by volunteer rescue squads,

3. Vehicles owned by volunteer fire departments,

4. Vehicles owned or leased by active members or active auxiliary members of volunteer rescue squads,

5. Vehicles owned or leased by active members or active auxiliary members of volunteer fire departments,

6. Vehicles owned or leased by auxiliary police officers,

7. Vehicles owned or leased by volunteer police chaplains,

8. Vehicles owned by surviving spouses of persons qualified to receive special license plates under § 46.2-739,

9. Vehicles owned or leased by auxiliary deputy sheriffs or volunteer deputy sheriffs,

10. Vehicles owned by persons qualified to receive special license plates under § 46.2-739,

11. Vehicles owned by any of the following who served at least 10 years in the locality: former members of volunteer rescue squads, former members of volunteer fire departments, former auxiliary police officers, former volunteer police chaplains, and former volunteer special police officers appointed under § 15.2-1737. In the case of active members of volunteer rescue squads and volunteer fire departments, applications for such licenses shall be accompanied by written evidence, in a form acceptable to the locality, of their active membership, and no member shall be issued more than one

2150 such license free of charge, or

2151 12. All vehicles having a situs for the imposition of licensing fees under this section in the locality.

2152 The governing body of any county, city, or town issuing licenses under this section may by
2153 ordinance provide for a 50 percent reduction in the fee charged for the issuance of any such license
2154 issued for any vehicle owned or leased by any person who is 65 years old or older. No such discount,
2155 however, shall be available for more than one vehicle owned or leased by the same person.

2156 The governing body of any county, city, or town issuing licenses free of charge under this subsection
2157 may by ordinance provide for (i) the limitation, restriction, or denial of such free issuance to an
2158 otherwise qualified applicant, including without limitation the denial of free issuance to a taxpayer who
2159 has failed to timely pay personal property taxes due with respect to the vehicle and (ii) the grounds for
2160 such limitation, restriction, or denial.

2161 The situs for the imposition of licensing fees under this section shall in all cases, except as
2162 hereinafter provided, be the county, city, or town in which the motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer is
2163 normally garaged, stored, or parked. If it cannot be determined where the personal property is normally
2164 garaged, stored, or parked, the situs shall be the domicile of its owner. In the event the owner of the
2165 motor vehicle is a full-time student attending an institution of higher education, the situs shall be the
2166 domicile of such student, provided the student has presented sufficient evidence that he has paid a
2167 personal property tax on the motor vehicle in his domicile.

2168 B. The revenue derived from all county, city, or town taxes and license fees imposed on motor
2169 vehicles, trailers, or semitrailers shall be applied to general county, city, or town purposes.

2170 C. A county, city, or town may require that no motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer shall be locally
2171 licensed until the applicant has produced satisfactory evidence that all personal property taxes on the
2172 motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer to be licensed have been paid and satisfactory evidence that any
2173 delinquent motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer personal property taxes owing have been paid which
2174 have been properly assessed or are assessable against the applicant by the county, city, or town. A
2175 county, city, or town may also provide that no motor vehicle license shall be issued unless the tangible
2176 personal property taxes properly assessed or assessable by that locality on any tangible personal property
2177 used or usable as a dwelling titled by the Department of Motor Vehicles and owned by the taxpayer
2178 have been paid. Any county and any town within any such county may by agreement require that all
2179 personal property taxes assessed by either the county or the town on any vehicle be paid before
2180 licensure of such vehicle by either the county or the town.

2181 C1. ~~Any county having a population of at least 24,000, but no more than 24,600, or having a~~
2182 ~~population of at least 39,550, but no more than 41,550~~ *The Counties of Dinwiddie, Lee and Wise*, may,
2183 by ordinance or resolution adopted after public notice and hearing and, with the consent of the treasurer,
2184 require that no license may be issued under this section unless the applicant has produced satisfactory
2185 evidence that all fees, including delinquent fees, payable to such county or local solid waste authority,
2186 for the disposal of solid waste pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (§ 15.2-5100 et
2187 seq.), or pursuant to § 15.2-2159, have been paid in full. For purposes of this subsection, all fees,
2188 including delinquent fees, payable to a county for waste disposal services described herein, shall be paid
2189 to the treasurer of such county; however, in ~~any county with a population between 39,550 and~~
2190 ~~41,550~~ *Wise County*, the fee shall be paid to the county or its agent.

2191 D. The Counties of Arlington, Fairfax, Loudoun, and Prince William and towns within them and any
2192 city may require that no motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer shall be licensed by that jurisdiction unless
2193 all fines owed to the jurisdiction by the owner of the vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer for violation of the
2194 jurisdiction's ordinances governing parking of vehicles have been paid. The provisions of this subsection
2195 shall not apply to vehicles owned by firms or companies in the business of renting motor vehicles.

2196 E. If in any county imposing license fees and taxes under this section, a town therein imposes like
2197 fees and taxes on vehicles of owners resident in the town, the owner of any vehicle subject to the fees
2198 or taxes shall be entitled, on the owner's displaying evidence that he has paid the fees or taxes, to
2199 receive a credit on the fees or taxes imposed by the county to the extent of the fees or taxes he has paid
2200 to the town. Nothing in this section shall deprive any town now imposing these licenses and taxes from
2201 increasing them or deprive any town not now imposing them from hereafter doing so, but subject to the
2202 limitations provided in subsection D of this section. The governing body of any county and the
2203 governing body of any town in that county wherein each imposes the license tax herein provided may
2204 provide mutual agreements so that not more than one license plate or decal in addition to the state plate
2205 shall be required.

2206 F. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection E of this section, in a consolidated county wherein a
2207 tier-city exists, the tier-city may, in accordance with the provisions of the agreement or plan of
2208 consolidation, impose license fees and taxes under this section in addition to those fees and taxes
2209 imposed by the county, provided that the combined county and tier-city rates do not exceed the
2210 maximum provided in subsection A of this section. No credit shall be allowed on the fees or taxes
2211 imposed by the county for fees or taxes paid to the tier-city, except as may be provided by the

consolidation agreement or plan. The governing body of any county and the governing body of any tier-city in such county wherein each imposes the license tax herein may provide by mutual agreement that no more than one license plate or decal in addition to the state license plate shall be required.

G. Any county, city, or town may by ordinance provide that it shall be unlawful for any owner or operator of a motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer to fail to obtain and display the local license required by any ordinance of the county, city or town in which the vehicle is registered or to display upon a motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer any such local license after its expiration date. The ordinance may provide that a violation shall constitute a misdemeanor the penalty for which shall not exceed that of a Class 4 misdemeanor and may, in the case of a motor vehicle registered to a resident of the locality where such vehicle is registered, authorize the issuance by local law-enforcement officers of citations, summonses, parking tickets, or uniform traffic summonses for violations. Any such ordinance may also provide that a violation of the ordinance by the registered owner of the vehicle may not be discharged by payment of a fine except upon presentation of satisfactory evidence that the required license has been obtained.

H. Except as provided by subsections E and F, no vehicle shall be subject to taxation under the provisions of this section in more than one jurisdiction.

I. Purchasers of new or used motor vehicles shall be allowed at least a 10-day grace period, beginning with the date of purchase, during which to pay license fees charged by local governments under authority of this section.

J. Beginning October 1, 1992, the treasurer or director of finance of any county, city, or town may enter into an agreement with the Commissioner whereby the Commissioner will refuse to issue or renew any vehicle registration of any applicant therefor who owes to such county, city or town any local vehicle license fees or delinquent tangible personal property tax or parking citations issued only to residents of such county, city, or town. Before being issued any vehicle registration or renewal of such license or registration by the Commissioner, the applicant shall first satisfy all such local vehicle license fees and delinquent taxes or parking citations and present evidence satisfactory to the Commissioner that all such local vehicle license fees and delinquent taxes or parking citations have been paid in full. The Commissioner shall charge a reasonable fee to cover the costs of such enforcement action, and the treasurer or director of finance may add the cost of this fee to the delinquent tax bill or the amount of the parking citation. The treasurer or director of finance of any county, city, or town seeking to collect delinquent taxes or parking citations through the withholding of registration or renewal thereof by the Commissioner as provided for in this subsection shall notify the Commissioner in the manner provided for in his agreement with the Commissioner and supply to the Commissioner information necessary to identify the debtor whose registration or renewal is to be denied. Any agreement entered into pursuant to the provisions of this subsection shall provide the debtor notice of the intent to deny renewal of registration at least 30 days prior to the expiration date of a current vehicle registration. For the purposes of this subsection, notice by first-class mail to the registrant's address as maintained in the records of the Department of Motor Vehicles shall be deemed sufficient. In the case of parking violations, the Commissioner shall only refuse to issue or renew the vehicle registration of any applicant therefor pursuant to this subsection for the vehicle that incurred the parking violations. The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to vehicles owned by firms or companies in the business of renting motor vehicles.

K. The governing bodies of any two or more counties, cities, or towns may enter into compacts for the regional enforcement of local motor vehicle license requirements. The governing body of each participating jurisdiction may by ordinance require the owner or operator of any motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer to display on his vehicle a valid local license issued by another county, city, or town that is a party to the regional compact, provided that the owner or operator is required by the jurisdiction of situs, as provided in § 58.1-3511, to obtain and display such license. The ordinance may also provide that no motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer shall be locally licensed until the applicant has produced satisfactory evidence that (i) all personal property taxes on the motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer to be licensed have been paid to all participating jurisdictions and (ii) any delinquent motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer personal property taxes that have been properly assessed or are assessable by any participating jurisdiction against the applicant have been paid. Any city and any county having the urban county executive form of government, the counties adjacent to such county and towns within them may require that no motor vehicle, trailer, or semitrailer shall be licensed by that jurisdiction or any other jurisdiction in the compact unless all fines owed to any participating jurisdiction by the owner of the vehicle for violation of any participating jurisdiction's ordinances governing parking of vehicles have been paid. The ordinance may further provide that a violation shall constitute a misdemeanor the penalty for which shall not exceed that of a Class 4 misdemeanor. Any such ordinance may also provide that a violation of the ordinance by the owner of the vehicle may not be discharged by payment of a fine except upon presentation of satisfactory evidence that the required license has been obtained. The

2273 provisions of this subsection shall not apply to vehicles owned by firms or companies in the business of
2274 renting motor vehicles.

2275 L. In addition to the taxes and license fees permitted in subsection A, counties, cities, and towns may
2276 charge a license fee of no more than \$1 per motor vehicle, trailer, and semitrailer. Except for the
2277 provisions of subsection B, such fee shall be subject to all other provisions of this section. All funds
2278 collected pursuant to this subsection shall be paid pursuant to § 51.1-1204 to the Volunteer Firefighters'
2279 and Rescue Squad Workers' Service Award Fund to the accounts of all members of the Fund who are
2280 volunteers for fire departments or rescue squads within the jurisdiction of the particular county, city, or
2281 town.

2282 § 46.2-873. Maximum speed limits at school crossings; penalty.

2283 A. The maximum speed limit shall be twenty-five miles per hour between portable signs, tilt-over
2284 signs, or fixed blinking signs placed in or along any highway and bearing the word "school" or "school
2285 crossing." Any signs erected under this section shall be placed not more than 600 feet from the limits of
2286 the school property or crossing in the vicinity of the school. However, "school crossing" signs may be
2287 placed in any location if the Department of Transportation or the council of the city or town or the
2288 board of supervisors of a county maintaining its own system of secondary roads approves the crossing
2289 for such signs. If the portion of the highway to be posted is within the limits of a city or town, such
2290 portable signs shall be furnished and delivered by such city or town. If the portion of highway to be
2291 posted is outside the limits of a city or town, such portable signs shall be furnished and delivered by the
2292 Department of Transportation. The principal or chief administrative officer of each school or a school
2293 board designee, preferably not a classroom teacher, shall place such portable signs in the highway at a
2294 point not more than 600 feet from the limits of the school property and remove such signs when their
2295 presence is no longer required by this section. Such portable signs, tilt-over signs, or fixed blinking
2296 signs shall be placed in a position plainly visible to vehicular traffic approaching from either direction,
2297 but shall not be placed so as to obstruct the roadway.

2298 B. Such portable signs, tilt-over signs, or blinking signs shall be in a position, or be turned on, for
2299 thirty minutes preceding regular school hours, for thirty minutes thereafter, and during such other times
2300 as the presence of children on such school property or going to and from school reasonably requires a
2301 special warning to motorists. The governing body of any county, city, or town may, however, decrease
2302 the period of time preceding and following regular school hours during which such portable signs,
2303 tilt-over signs, or blinking signs shall be in position or lit if it determines that no children will be going
2304 to or from school during the period of time that it subtracts from the thirty-minute period.

2305 C. The governing body of any city or town may, if the portion of the highway to be posted is within
2306 the limits of such city or town, increase or decrease the speed limit provided in this section only after
2307 justification for such increase or decrease has been shown by an engineering and traffic investigation,
2308 and no such increase or decrease in speed limit shall be effective unless such increased or decreased
2309 speed limit is conspicuously posted on the portable signs, tilt-over signs, or fixed blinking signs required
2310 by this section.

2311 D. ~~Any city having a population of 390,000 or more~~ *The City of Virginia Beach* may establish
2312 school zones as provided in this section and mark such zones with flashing warning lights as provided
2313 in this section on and along all highways adjacent to Route 58.

2314 E. Any person operating any motor vehicle in excess of a maximum speed limit established
2315 specifically for a school crossing zone, when such school crossing zone is (i) indicated by appropriately
2316 placed signs displaying the maximum speed limit and (ii) in operation pursuant to subsection B of this
2317 section shall be guilty of a traffic infraction punishable by a fine of not more than \$250, in addition to
2318 other penalties provided by law.

2319 For the purposes of this section, "school crossing zone" means an area located within the vicinity of
2320 a school at or near a highway where the presence of children on such school property or going to and
2321 from school reasonably requires a special warning to motorists. Such zones are marked and operated in
2322 accordance with the requirements of this section with appropriate warning signs or other traffic control
2323 devices indicating that a school crossing is in progress.

2324 F. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, the maximum speed limit in school zones
2325 in residential areas may be decreased to fifteen miles per hour if (i) the school board having jurisdiction
2326 over the school nearest to the affected school zone passes a resolution requesting the reduction of the
2327 maximum speed limit for such school zone from twenty-five miles per hour to fifteen miles per hour
2328 and (ii) the local governing body of the jurisdiction in which such school is located enacts an ordinance
2329 establishing the speed-limit reduction requested by the school board.

2330 § 46.2-874.1. Exceptions to maximum speed limits in residence districts; penalty.

2331 A. The governing body of any town with a population between 14,000 and 15,000 may by ordinance
2332 (i) prohibit the operation of a motor vehicle at a speed of twenty miles per hour or more in excess of
2333 the applicable maximum speed limit in a residence district and (ii) provide that any person who violates
2334 the prohibition shall be subject to a mandatory civil penalty of \$100, not subject to suspension.

B. The governing body of ~~any city with a population between 9,000 and 11,000~~ *the City of Falls Church or the City of Manassas* may by ordinance (i) prohibit the operation of a motor vehicle at a speed of fifteen miles per hour or more in excess of the applicable maximum speed limit in a residence district, as defined in § 46.2-100 of the Code of Virginia, when indicated by appropriately placed signs displaying the maximum speed limit and the penalty for violations, and (ii) provide that any person who violates the prohibition shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$100, in addition to other penalty provided by law.

§ 46.2-924. Drivers to stop for pedestrians; installation of certain signs; penalty.

A. The driver of any vehicle on a highway shall yield the right-of-way to any pedestrian crossing such highway:

1. At any clearly marked crosswalk, whether at mid-block or at the end of any block;
2. At any regular pedestrian crossing included in the prolongation of the lateral boundary lines of the adjacent sidewalk at the end of a block;
3. At any intersection when the driver is approaching on a highway or street where the legal maximum speed does not exceed 35 miles per hour.

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A of this section, at intersections or crosswalks where the movement of traffic is being regulated by law-enforcement officers or traffic control devices, the driver shall yield according to the direction of the law-enforcement officer or device.

No pedestrian shall enter or cross an intersection in disregard of approaching traffic.

The drivers of vehicles entering, crossing, or turning at intersections shall change their course, slow down, or stop if necessary to permit pedestrians to cross such intersections safely and expeditiously.

Pedestrians crossing highways at intersections shall at all times have the right-of-way over vehicles making turns into the highways being crossed by the pedestrians.

C. The governing body of ~~any county having the urban county executive form of government, any county having the county manager plan of government~~ *Arlington County, Fairfax County*, the City of Fairfax, the County of Loudoun and any town therein, and ~~any city with a population between 110,000 and 115,000~~ *the City of Alexandria*, may by ordinance provide for the installation and maintenance of highway signs at marked crosswalks specifically requiring operators of motor vehicles, at the locations where such signs are installed, to yield the right-of-way to pedestrians crossing or attempting to cross the highway. Any operator of a motor vehicle who fails at such locations to yield the right-of-way to pedestrians as required by such signs shall be guilty of a traffic infraction punishable by a fine of no less than \$100 or more than \$500. The Commonwealth Transportation Board shall develop criteria for the design, location, and installation of such signs. The provisions of this section shall not apply to any limited access highway.

§ 46.2-932. Playing on highways; roller skates, skateboards, toys, or other devices on wheels or runners; persons riding bicycles, electric personal assistive mobility devices, electric power-assisted bicycles, mopeds, etc., not to attach to vehicles; exception.

A. No person shall play on a highway, other than on the sidewalks thereof, within a city or town or on any part of a highway outside the limits of a city or town designated by the Commonwealth Transportation Commissioner exclusively for vehicular travel. No person shall use roller skates, skateboards, toys, or other devices on wheels or runners, except bicycles, electric personal assistive mobility devices, electric power-assisted bicycles, mopeds, and motorcycles, on highways where play is prohibited. The governing bodies of counties, cities, and towns may designate areas on highways under their control where play is permitted and may impose reasonable restrictions on play on such highways. If the highways have only two traffic lanes, persons using such devices, except bicycles, electric personal assistive mobility devices, electric power-assisted bicycles, mopeds, and motorcycles, shall keep as near as safely practicable to the far right side or edge of the right traffic lane so that they will be proceeding in the same direction as other traffic.

No person riding on any bicycle, electric personal assistive mobility device, electric power-assisted bicycle, moped, roller skates, skateboards, toys, or other devices on wheels or runners, shall attach the same or himself to any vehicle on a roadway.

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A of this section, the governing body of ~~any county having a population of at least 170,000 but less than 200,000~~ *Arlington County* may by ordinance permit the use of devices on wheels or runners on highways under such county's control, subject to such limitations and conditions as the governing body may deem necessary and reasonable.

§ 46.2-1094. Occupants of front seats of motor vehicles required to use safety lap belts and shoulder harnesses; penalty.

A. Each person at least sixteen years of age and occupying the front seat of a motor vehicle equipped or required by the provisions of this title to be equipped with a safety belt system, consisting of lap belts, shoulder harnesses, combinations thereof or similar devices, shall wear the appropriate safety belt system at all times while the motor vehicle is in motion on any public highway. A child

2396 under the age of sixteen years, however, shall be protected as required by the provisions of this chapter.

2397 B. This section shall not apply to:

2398 1. Any person for whom a licensed physician determines that the use of such safety belt system
2399 would be impractical by reason of such person's physical condition or other medical reason, provided the
2400 person so exempted carries on his person or in the vehicle a signed written statement of the physician
2401 identifying the exempted person and stating the grounds for the exemption; or

2402 2. Any law-enforcement officer transporting persons in custody or traveling in circumstances which
2403 render the wearing of such safety belt system impractical; or

2404 3. Any person while driving a motor vehicle and performing the duties of a rural mail carrier for the
2405 United States Postal Service; or

2406 4. Any person driving a motor vehicle and performing the duties of a rural newspaper route carrier,
2407 newspaper bundle hauler or newspaper rack carrier; or

2408 5. Drivers of taxicabs; or

2409 6. Personnel of commercial or municipal vehicles while actually engaged in the collection or delivery
2410 of goods or services, including but not limited to solid waste, where such collection or delivery requires
2411 the personnel to exit and enter the cab of the vehicle with such frequency and regularity so as to render
2412 the use of safety belt systems impractical and the safety benefits derived therefrom insignificant. Such
2413 personnel shall resume the use of safety belt systems when actual collection or delivery has ceased or
2414 when the vehicle is in transit to or from a point of final disposition or disposal, including but not
2415 limited to solid waste facilities, terminals, or other location where the vehicle may be principally
2416 garaged; or

2417 7. Any person driving a motor vehicle and performing the duties of a utility meter reader; or

2418 8. Law-enforcement agency personnel driving motor vehicles to enforce laws governing motor
2419 vehicle parking.

2420 C. Any person who violates this section shall be subject to a civil penalty of twenty-five dollars to
2421 be paid into the state treasury and credited to the Literary Fund. No assignment of demerit points shall
2422 be made under Article 19 of Chapter 3 (§ 46.2-489 et seq.) of this title and no court costs shall be
2423 assessed for violations of this section.

2424 D. A violation of this section shall not constitute negligence, be considered in mitigation of damages
2425 of whatever nature, be admissible in evidence or be the subject of comment by counsel in any action for
2426 the recovery of damages arising out of the operation, ownership, or maintenance of a motor vehicle, nor
2427 shall anything in this section change any existing law, rule, or procedure pertaining to any such civil
2428 action.

2429 E. A violation of this section may be charged on the uniform traffic summons form.

2430 F. No citation for a violation of this section shall be issued unless the officer issuing such citation
2431 has cause to stop or arrest the driver of such motor vehicle for the violation of some other provision of
2432 this Code or local ordinance relating to the operation, ownership, or maintenance of a motor vehicle or
2433 any criminal statute.

2434 G. The governing body of ~~any city having a population of at least 66,000 but no more than 67,000~~
2435 *the City of Lynchburg* may adopt an ordinance not inconsistent with the provisions of this section,
2436 requiring the use of safety belt systems. The penalty for violating any such ordinance shall not exceed a
2437 fine or civil penalty of twenty-five dollars.

2438 § 46.2-1216. Removal or immobilization of motor vehicles against which there are outstanding
2439 parking violations; ordinances.

2440 The governing body of any county, city, or town may provide by ordinance that any motor vehicle
2441 parked on the public highways or public grounds against which there are three or more unpaid or
2442 otherwise unsettled parking violation notices may be removed to a place within such county, city, or
2443 town or in an adjacent locality designated by the chief law-enforcement officer for the temporary storage
2444 of the vehicle, or the vehicle may be immobilized in a manner which will prevent its removal or
2445 operation except by authorized law-enforcement personnel. The governing body of *Fairfax County*, ~~any~~
2446 ~~county having the urban county executive form of government~~ and any county, city, or town adjacent to
2447 such county, ~~except any county having the county manager plan of government and any city having a~~
2448 ~~1980 census population of more than 262,000 but less than 265,000~~ *Loudoun County, the Cities of*
2449 *Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Manassas, Manassas Park and Virginia Beach* may also provide by
2450 ordinance that whenever any motor vehicle against which there are three or more outstanding unpaid or
2451 otherwise unsettled parking violation notices is found parked upon private property, including privately
2452 owned streets and roads, the vehicle may, by towing or otherwise, be removed or immobilized in the
2453 manner provided above; provided that no motor vehicle may be removed or immobilized from property
2454 which is owned or occupied as a single family residence. Any such ordinance shall further provide that
2455 no such vehicle parked on private property may be removed or immobilized unless written authorization
2456 to enforce this section has been given by the owner of the property or an association of owners formed
2457 pursuant to Chapter 4.1 (§ 55-79.1 et seq.) or Chapter 4.2 (§ 55-79.39 et seq.) of Title 55 and that the

local governing body has provided written assurance to the owner of the property that he will be held harmless from all loss, damage, or expense, including costs and attorney's fees, that may be incurred as a result of the towing or otherwise of any motor vehicle pursuant to this section. The ordinance shall provide that the removal or immobilization of the vehicle shall be by or under the direction of, an officer or employee of the police department or sheriff's office.

Any ordinance shall provide that it shall be the duty of the law-enforcement personnel removing or immobilizing the motor vehicle or under whose direction such vehicle is removed or immobilized, to inform as soon as practicable the owner of the removed or immobilized vehicle of the nature and circumstances of the prior unsettled parking violation notices for which the vehicle was removed or immobilized. In any case involving immobilization of a vehicle pursuant to this section, there shall be placed on the vehicle, in a conspicuous manner, a notice warning that the vehicle has been immobilized and that any attempt to move the vehicle might damage it.

Any ordinance shall provide that the owner of an immobilized vehicle, or other person acting on his behalf, shall be allowed at least twenty-four hours from the time of immobilization to repossess or secure the release of the vehicle. Failure to repossess or secure the release of the vehicle within that time period may result in the removal of the vehicle to a storage area for safekeeping under the direction of law-enforcement personnel.

Any ordinance shall provide that the owner of the removed or immobilized motor vehicle, or other person acting on his behalf, shall be permitted to repossess or to secure the release of the vehicle by payment of the outstanding parking violation notices for which the vehicle was removed or immobilized and by payment of all costs incidental to the immobilization, removal, and storage of the vehicle, and the efforts to locate the owner of the vehicle. Should the owner fail or refuse to pay such fines and costs, or should the identity or whereabouts of the owner be unknown and unascertainable, the ordinance may provide for the sale of the motor vehicle in accordance with the procedures set forth in § 46.2-1213.

§ 46.2-1304. Local regulation of trucks and buses.

The governing bodies of counties, cities, and towns may by ordinance, whenever in their judgment conditions so require:

1. Prohibit the use of trucks, except for the purpose of receiving loads or making deliveries on certain designated streets under their jurisdiction;

2. Restrict the use of trucks passing through the city or town to such street or streets under their jurisdiction as may be designated in such ordinance.

~~Any city having a population of at least 11,200 but no more than 15,000~~ *The Cities of Poquoson and Williamsburg* may restrict the operation of nonscheduled buses, other than school buses, over designated streets under its jurisdiction.

§ 46.2-2080. Irregular route passenger certificates.

Notwithstanding any of the provisions of § 46.2-2078, the Department may grant common carrier certificates to applicants to serve irregular routes on an irregular schedule within a specified geographic area. The Department shall issue no more certificates than the public convenience and necessity require, and shall place such restrictions upon such certificates as may be reasonably necessary to protect any existing regular or irregular route common carrier certificate holders operating within the proposed service area, but shall not deny a certificate solely on the ground that the applicant will operate in the same service area that an existing regular or irregular route common carrier certificate holder is operating. Certificates issued hereunder shall be restricted to operation of vehicles with a passenger-carrying capacity not to exceed fifteen persons, including the driver. Certificates hereunder shall also be restricted to prohibit pickup or delivery of passengers at their personal residence in ~~any city having a population between 260,000 and 265,000 as determined by the 1990 census~~ *the City of Norfolk*, except that this restriction shall not apply to specially equipped vehicles for the transportation of disabled persons.

A motor carrier receiving a notice of intent to award a contract under the Virginia Public Procurement Act (§ 2.2-4300 et seq.) for irregular route common carrier service to or from a public-use airport located in the City of Norfolk is entitled to a conclusive presumption of a need for such service.

§ 46.2-2099.21. Exemptions from operation of article.

This article shall not be construed to include:

1. Persons engaged in operating boats exclusively for fishing;

2. Persons engaged in operating boats that have (i) an approved passenger capacity of twenty-five or less persons and (ii) are operated as special or charter parties under this chapter; or

3. ~~Any municipal corporation~~ *The City of Hampton* when acting as a sight-seeing carrier by boat or special or charter party carrier by boat, if ~~said municipal corporation has a population greater than 89,000 but less than 91,000.~~

§ 46.2-2099.41. Certification requirements.

2519 A. A person may apply to the Department for certification as an operator of an excursion train. The
2520 Department shall certify an applicant if the Department determines that the applicant will operate a
2521 passenger train that:

- 2522 1. Is primarily used for tourism or public service;
2523 2. Leads to the promotion of the tourist industry in the Commonwealth; and
2524 3. Is primarily operated within a county having a population between 50,000 and 55,000 people, or a
2525 county having a population between 26,000 and 27,000 *the Counties of Buchanan, Campbell or*
2526 *Washington.*

2527 B. An application for certification shall include:

- 2528 1. The name and address of each person who owns an interest of at least 10 percent of the excursion
2529 train operation;
2530 2. An address in this Commonwealth where the excursion train is based;
2531 3. An operations plan including the route to be used and a schedule of operations and stops along the
2532 route; and
2533 4. Evidence of insurance that meets the requirements of subsection C of this section.

2534 C. The Department shall not certify to a person under subsection A unless the person files with the
2535 Department evidence of insurance providing coverage of liability resulting from injury to persons or
2536 damages to property in the amount of at least \$10 million for the operation of the train.

2537 D. The Department shall not certify an applicant under subsection A of this section if the applicant
2538 or any other person owning interest in the excursion train also owns or operates a regularly scheduled
2539 passenger train service with interstate connection.

2540 § 56-15. Permits to place poles, wires, etc., in roads and streets in certain counties; charge therefor.

2541 ~~The board of supervisors or other governing body of any county adjoining a city having a population~~
2542 ~~of 175,000 inhabitants or more according to the last preceding United States census, or of any county~~
2543 ~~which has adopted the county executive form of county government~~ *Albemarle County, Chesterfield*
2544 *County, Henrico County, Prince William County or York County,* may adopt an ordinance requiring any
2545 person, firm or corporation to obtain a permit from the county engineer or such other officer as may be
2546 designated in such ordinance before placing any pole or subsurface structures under, along or in any
2547 county road or street in such county which is not included within the primary or secondary system of
2548 state highways, or any lines or wires that cross any such road or street, whether or not such road or
2549 street be actually opened, and may provide in such ordinance reasonable charges for the issuance of
2550 such a permit and penalties for violations of the terms of such ordinance to be imposed by the court,
2551 judge or justice trying the case.

2552 In the event the county engineer or such other officer as may be designated fails or refuses to issue
2553 any such permit requested within thirty days after application therefor, or attaches to such permit
2554 conditions to which such person, firm or corporation is unwilling to consent, then such person, firm or
2555 corporation may proceed to make such crossing pursuant and subject to the provisions of §§ 56-23 to
2556 56-32, as if the application had been made to the board of supervisors or other governing body of the
2557 county.

2558 § 56-265.1. Definitions.

2559 In this chapter the following terms shall have the following meanings:

2560 (a) "Company" means a corporation, a limited liability company, an individual, a partnership, an
2561 association, a joint-stock company, a business trust, a cooperative, or an organized group of persons,
2562 whether incorporated or not; or any receiver, trustee or other liquidating agent of any of the foregoing in
2563 his capacity as such; but not a municipal corporation or a county, unless such municipal corporation or
2564 county has obtained a certificate pursuant to § 56-265.4:4.

2565 (b) "Public utility" means any company which owns or operates facilities within the Commonwealth
2566 of Virginia for the generation, transmission or distribution of electric energy for sale, for the production,
2567 storage, transmission, or distribution, otherwise than in enclosed portable containers, of natural or
2568 manufactured gas or geothermal resources for sale for heat, light or power, or for the furnishing of
2569 telephone service, sewerage facilities or water; however, the term "public utility" shall not include any
2570 of the following:

2571 (1) Except as otherwise provided in § 56-265.3:1, any company furnishing sewerage facilities,
2572 geothermal resources or water to less than 50 customers. Any company furnishing water or sewer
2573 services to 10 or more customers and excluded by this subdivision from the definition of "public utility"
2574 for purposes of this chapter nevertheless shall not abandon the water or sewer services unless and until
2575 approval is granted by the Commission or all the customers receiving such services agree to accept
2576 ownership of the company.

2577 (2) Any company generating and distributing electric energy exclusively for its own consumption.

2578 (3) Any company (A) which furnishes electric service together with heating and cooling services,
2579 generated at a central plant installed on the premises to be served, to the tenants of a building or
2580 buildings located on a single tract of land undivided by any publicly maintained highway, street or road

at the time of installation of the central plant, and (B) which does not charge separately or by meter for electric energy used by any tenant except as part of a rental charge. Any company excluded by this subdivision from the definition of "public utility" for the purposes of this chapter nevertheless shall, within 30 days following the issuance of a building permit, notify the State Corporation Commission in writing of the ownership, capacity and location of such central plant, and it shall be subject, with regard to the quality of electric service furnished, to the provisions of Chapters 10 (§ 56-232 et seq.) and 17 (§ 56-509 et seq.) of this title and regulations thereunder and be deemed a public utility for such purposes, if such company furnishes such service to 100 or more lessees.

(4) Any company, or affiliate thereof, making a first or direct sale, or ancillary transmission or delivery service, of natural or manufactured gas to fewer than 35 commercial or industrial customers, which are not themselves "public utilities" as defined in this chapter, or to certain public schools as indicated in this subdivision, for use solely by such purchasing customers at facilities which are not located in a territory for which a certificate to provide gas service has been issued by the Commission under this chapter and which, at the time of the Commission's receipt of the notice provided under § 56-265.4:5, are not located within any area, territory, or jurisdiction served by a municipal corporation that provided gas distribution service as of January 1, 1992, provided that such company shall comply with the provisions of § 56-265.4:5. Direct sales or ancillary transmission or delivery services of natural gas to public schools in the following localities may be made without regard to the number of schools involved and shall not count against the "fewer than 35" requirement in this subdivision: the Counties of Dickinson, Wise, Russell, and Buchanan, and the City of Norton.

(5) Any company which is not a public service corporation and which provides compressed natural gas service at retail for the public.

(6) Any company selling landfill gas from a solid waste management facility permitted by the Department of Environmental Quality to a public utility certificated by the Commission to provide gas distribution service to the public in the area in which the solid waste management facility is located. If such company submits to the public utility a written offer for sale of such gas and the public utility does not agree within 60 days to purchase such gas on mutually satisfactory terms, then the company may sell such gas to (i) any facility owned and operated by the Commonwealth which is located within three miles of the solid waste management facility or (ii) any purchaser after such landfill gas has been liquefied. The provisions of this subdivision shall not apply to ~~any city with a population of at least 64,000 but no more than 69,000 or any county with a population of at least 500,000~~ the City of Lynchburg or Fairfax County.

(7) Any authority created pursuant to the Virginia Water and Waste Authorities Act (§ 15.2-5100 et seq.) making a sale or ancillary transmission or delivery service of landfill gas to a commercial or industrial customer from a solid waste management facility permitted by the Department of Environmental Quality and operated by that same authority, if such an authority limits off-premises sale, transmission or delivery service of landfill gas to no more than one purchaser. The authority may contract with other persons for the construction and operation of facilities necessary or convenient to the sale, transmission or delivery of landfill gas, and no such person shall be deemed a public utility solely by reason of its construction or operation of such facilities. If the purchaser of the landfill gas is located within the certificated service territory of a natural gas public utility, the public utility may file for Commission approval a proposed tariff to reflect any anticipated or known changes in service to the purchaser as a result of the use of landfill gas. No such tariff shall impose on the purchaser of the landfill gas terms less favorable than similarly situated customers with alternative fuel capabilities; provided, however, that such tariff may impose such requirements as are reasonably calculated to recover the cost of such service and to protect and ensure the safety and integrity of the public utility's facilities.

(8) A company selling or delivering only landfill gas, electricity generated from only landfill gas, or both, that is derived from a solid waste management facility permitted by the Department of Environmental Quality and sold or delivered from any such facility to not more than three commercial or industrial purchasers or to a natural gas or electric public utility, municipal corporation or county as authorized by this section. If a purchaser of the landfill gas is located within the certificated service territory of a natural gas public utility or within an area in which a municipal corporation provides gas distribution service and the landfill gas is to be used in facilities constructed after January 1, 2000, such company shall submit to such public utility or municipal corporation a written offer for sale of that gas prior to offering the gas for sale or delivery to a commercial or industrial purchaser. If the public utility or municipal corporation does not agree within 60 days following the date of the offer to purchase such landfill gas on mutually satisfactory terms, then the company shall be authorized to sell such landfill gas, electricity, or both, to the commercial or industrial purchaser, utility, municipal corporation, or county. Such public utility may file for Commission approval a proposed tariff to reflect any anticipated or known changes in service to the purchaser as a result of the purchaser's use of the landfill gas. No

2642 such tariff shall impose on such purchaser of the landfill gas terms less favorable than those imposed on
2643 similarly situated customers with alternative fuel capabilities; provided, however, that such tariff may
2644 impose such requirements as are reasonably calculated to recover any cost of such service and to protect
2645 and ensure the safety and integrity of the public utility's facilities.

2646 (c) "Commission" means the State Corporation Commission.

2647 (d) "Geothermal resources" means those resources as defined in § 45.1-179.2.

2648 § 58.1-540. Levy of the tax.

2649 A. ~~Any county having a population of more than 500,000, as determined by the 1980 U. S. Census,~~
2650 ~~any county or city adjacent thereto, and any city contiguous to such an adjacent county or city, or any~~
2651 ~~city with a population of at least 265,000, is~~*The Counties of Arlington, Fairfax, Loudoun and Prince*
2652 *William and the Cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Manassas, Manassas Park, Norfolk and*
2653 *Virginia Beach* hereby authorized to levy a local income tax at any increment of one-quarter percent up
2654 to a maximum rate of one percent upon the Virginia taxable income as determined in § 58.1-322 for an
2655 individual, § 58.1-361 for a fiduciary of an estate or trust, or § 58.1-402 for a corporation, for each
2656 taxable year of every resident of such county or city or corporation having income from sources within
2657 such county or city, subject to the limitations of subsection B of this section. The same rate shall apply
2658 to individuals, fiduciaries and corporations.

2659 B. The authority to levy a local income tax as provided in subsection A may be exercised by a
2660 county or city governing body only if approved in a referendum within the county or city. The
2661 referendum shall be held in accordance with § 24.2-684. The referendum may be initiated either by a
2662 resolution of the governing body of the county or city or on the filing of a petition signed by a number
2663 of registered voters of the county or city equal in number to ten percent of the number of voters
2664 registered in the county or city on January 1 of the year in which the petition is filed with the circuit
2665 court of such county or city. The clerk of the circuit court shall publish notice of the election in a
2666 newspaper of general circulation in the county or city once a week for three consecutive weeks prior to
2667 the election. The ballot used shall be printed to read as follows:

2668 "Shall the governing body of (...name of county or city...) have the authority to levy a local income
2669 tax of up to one percent for transportation purposes in accordance with § 58.1-540 of the Code of
2670 Virginia?

2671 _ Yes

2672 _ No"

2673 If the voters by a majority vote approve the authority of the local governing body to levy a local
2674 income tax, the tax may be imposed by the adoption of an ordinance by the governing body of the
2675 county or city in accordance with general or special law, and the tax may be thereafter enacted,
2676 modified or repealed as any other tax the governing body is empowered to levy subject only to the
2677 limitations herein. No ordinance levying a local income tax shall be repealed unless and until all debts
2678 or other obligations of the county or city to which such revenues are pledged or otherwise committed
2679 have been paid or provision made for payment.

2680 § 58.1-608.3. Entitlement to certain sales tax revenues.

2681 A. As used in this section, the following words and terms have the following meanings, unless some
2682 other meaning is plainly intended:

2683 "Bonds" means any obligations of a municipality for the payment of money.

2684 "Cost," as applied to any public facility or to extensions or additions to any public facility, includes:
2685 (i) the purchase price of any public facility acquired by the municipality or the cost of acquiring all of
2686 the capital stock of the corporation owning the public facility and the amount to be paid to discharge
2687 any obligations in order to vest title to the public facility or any part of it in the municipality; (ii)
2688 expenses incident to determining the feasibility or practicability of the public facility; (iii) the cost of
2689 plans and specifications, surveys and estimates of costs and of revenues; (iv) the cost of all land,
2690 property, rights, easements and franchises acquired; (v) the cost of improvements, property or
2691 equipment; (vi) the cost of engineering, legal and other professional services; (vii) the cost of
2692 construction or reconstruction; (viii) the cost of all labor, materials, machinery and equipment; (ix)
2693 financing charges; (x) interest before and during construction and for up to one year after completion of
2694 construction; (xi) start-up costs and operating capital; (xii) payments by a municipality of its share of the
2695 cost of any multijurisdictional public facility; (xiii) administrative expense; (xiv) any amounts to be
2696 deposited to reserve or replacement funds; and (xv) other expenses as may be necessary or incident to
2697 the financing of the public facility. Any obligation or expense incurred by the public facility in
2698 connection with any of the foregoing items of cost may be regarded as a part of the cost.

2699 "Municipality" means any county, city, town, authority, commission, or other public entity.

2700 "Public facility" means (i) any auditorium, coliseum, convention center, or conference center, which
2701 is owned by a Virginia county, city, town, authority, or other public entity and where exhibits, meetings,
2702 conferences, conventions, seminars, or similar public events may be conducted; (ii) any hotel which is
2703 owned by a foundation whose sole purpose is to benefit a state-supported university and which is

attached to and is an integral part of such facility, together with any lands reasonably necessary for the conduct of the operation of such events; or (iii) any hotel which is attached to and is an integral part of such facility. However, such public facility must be located in a city with a population of at least 24,200 but no more than 24,500 as determined by the 1990 United States Census; at least 24,600 but no more than 25,000, at least 50,000 but no more than 52,500, at least 95,000 but no more than 105,000, at least 130,000 but no more than 135,000, or at least 180,000 but no more than 185,000 the City of Hampton, the City of Newport News, City of Portsmouth, City of Salem, City of Staunton or City of Suffolk. Any property, real, personal, or mixed, which is necessary or desirable in connection with any such auditorium, coliseum, convention center, or conference center, including, without limitation, facilities for food preparation and serving, parking facilities, and administration offices, is encompassed within this definition. However, structures commonly referred to as "shopping centers" or "malls" shall not constitute a public facility hereunder. In addition, only a new public facility, or a public facility which will undergo a substantial and significant renovation or expansion, shall be eligible under subsection B of this section. A new public facility is one whose construction began after December 31, 1991. A substantial and significant renovation entails a project whose cost is at least 50 percent of the original cost of the facility being renovated and shall have begun after December 31, 1991. A substantial and significant expansion entails an increase in floor space of at least 50 percent over that existing in the preexisting facility and shall have begun after December 31, 1991.

"Sales tax revenues" means such tax collections realized under the Virginia Retail Sales and Use Tax Act (§ 58.1-600 et seq.) of this title, as limited herein. "Sales tax revenues" does not include the revenue generated by the one-half percent sales and use tax increase enacted by the 1986 Special Session of the General Assembly which shall be paid to the Transportation Trust Fund as defined in § 33.1-23.03:1, nor shall it include the one percent of the state sales and use tax revenue distributed among the counties and cities of the Commonwealth pursuant to subsection D of § 58.1-638 on the basis of school age population.

B. Any municipality which has issued bonds (i) after December 31, 1991, but before January 1, 1996, (ii) on or after January 1, 1998, but before July 1, 1999, (iii) on or after January 1, 1999, but before July 1, 2001, (iv) on or after July 1, 2000, but before July 1, 2003, (v) on or after July 1, 2001, but before July 1, 2005, or (vi) on or after July 1, 2004, but before July 1, 2007, to pay the cost, or portion thereof, of any public facility shall be entitled to all sales tax revenues generated by transactions taking place in such public facility. Such entitlement shall continue for the lifetime of such bonds, which entitlement shall not exceed 35 years, and all such sales tax revenues shall be applied to repayment of the bonds. The State Comptroller shall remit such sales tax revenues to the municipality on a quarterly basis, subject to such reasonable processing delays as may be required by the Department of Taxation to calculate the actual net sales tax revenues derived from the public facility. The State Comptroller shall make such remittances to eligible municipalities, as provided herein, notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in the Virginia Retail Sales and Use Tax Act (§ 58.1-600 et seq.). No such remittances shall be made until construction is completed and, in the case of a renovation or expansion, until the governing body of the municipality has certified that the renovation or expansion is completed.

C. Nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing the pledging of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth of Virginia, or any of its revenues, for the payment of any bonds. Any appropriation made pursuant to this section shall be made only from sales tax revenues derived from the public facility for which bonds may have been issued to pay the cost, in whole or in part, of such public facility.

§ 58.1-811. Exemptions.

A. The taxes imposed by §§ 58.1-801 and 58.1-807 shall not apply to any deed conveying real estate or lease of real estate:

1. To an incorporated college or other incorporated institution of learning not conducted for profit, where such real estate is intended to be used for educational purposes and not as a source of revenue or profit;

2. To an incorporated church or religious body or to the trustee or trustees of any church or religious body, or a corporation mentioned in § 57-16.1, where such real estate is intended to be used exclusively for religious purposes, or for the residence of the minister of any such church or religious body;

3. To the United States, the Commonwealth, or to any county, city, town, district or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth;

4. To the Virginia Division of the United Daughters of the Confederacy;

5. To any nonstock corporation organized exclusively for the purpose of owning or operating a hospital or hospitals not for pecuniary profit;

6. To a corporation upon its organization by persons in control of the corporation in a transaction which qualifies for nonrecognition of gain or loss pursuant to § 351 of the Internal Revenue Code as it exists at the time of the conveyance;

2765 7. From a corporation to its stockholders upon complete or partial liquidation of the corporation in a
2766 transaction which qualifies for income tax treatment pursuant to § 331, 332, 333 or 337 of the Internal
2767 Revenue Code as it exists at the time of liquidation;

2768 8. To the surviving or new corporation, partnership or limited liability company upon merger or
2769 consolidation of two or more corporations, partnerships or limited liability companies, or in a
2770 reorganization within the meaning of § 368 (a) (1) (C) and (F) of the Internal Revenue Code as
2771 amended;

2772 9. To a subsidiary corporation from its parent corporation, or from a subsidiary corporation to a
2773 parent corporation, if the transaction qualifies for nonrecognition of gain or loss under the Internal
2774 Revenue Code as amended;

2775 10. To a partnership or limited liability company, when the grantors are entitled to receive not less
2776 than 50 percent of the profits and surplus of such partnership or limited liability company; provided that
2777 the transfer to a limited liability company is not a precursor to a transfer of control of the assets of the
2778 company to avoid recordation taxes;

2779 11. From a partnership or limited liability company, when the grantees are entitled to receive not less
2780 than 50 percent of the profits and surplus of such partnership or limited liability company; provided that
2781 the transfer from a limited liability company is not subsequent to a transfer of control of the assets of
2782 the company to avoid recordation taxes;

2783 12. To trustees of a revocable inter vivos trust, when the grantors in the deed and the beneficiaries of
2784 the trust are the same persons, regardless of whether other beneficiaries may also be named in the trust
2785 instrument, when no consideration has passed between the grantor and the beneficiaries; and to the
2786 original beneficiaries of a trust from the trustees holding title under a deed in trust;

2787 13. When the grantor is the personal representative of a decedent's estate or trustee under a will or
2788 inter vivos trust of which the decedent was the settlor, other than a security trust defined in § 55-58.1,
2789 and the sole purpose of such transfer is to comply with a devise or bequest in the decedent's will or to
2790 transfer title to one or more beneficiaries after the death of the settlor in accordance with a dispositive
2791 provision in the trust instrument; or

2792 14. When the grantor is an organization exempt from taxation under § 501 (c) (3) of the Internal
2793 Revenue Code that is organized and operated primarily to acquire land and purchase materials to erect
2794 or rehabilitate low-cost homes on such land, which homes are sold at cost to persons who otherwise
2795 would be unable to afford to buy a home through conventional means, located in a county with a
2796 population of not less than 28,500 and not more than 28,650 or a city with a population of not less than
2797 66,000 and not more than 70,000 *Amherst County or the City of Lynchburg*.

2798 B. The taxes imposed by §§ 58.1-803 and 58.1-804 shall not apply to any deed of trust or mortgage:
2799 1. Given by an incorporated college or other incorporated institution of learning not conducted for
2800 profit;

2801 2. Given by the trustee or trustees of a church or religious body or given by an incorporated church
2802 or religious body, or given by a corporation mentioned in § 57-16.1;

2803 3. Given by any nonstock corporation organized exclusively for the purpose of owning and/or
2804 operating a hospital or hospitals not for pecuniary profit;

2805 4. Given by any local governmental entity or political subdivision of the Commonwealth to secure a
2806 debt payable to any other local governmental entity or political subdivision; or

2807 5. Securing a loan made by an organization described in subdivision 14 of subsection A of this
2808 section.

2809 C. The tax imposed by § 58.1-802 shall not apply to any:

2810 1. Transaction described in subdivisions 6 through 13 of subsection A of this section;

2811 2. Instrument or writing given to secure a debt;

2812 3. Deed conveying real estate from an incorporated college or other incorporated institution of
2813 learning not conducted for profit;

2814 4. Deed conveying real estate from the United States, the Commonwealth or any county, city, town,
2815 district or other political subdivision thereof;

2816 5. Conveyance of real estate to the Commonwealth or any county, city, town, district or other
2817 political subdivision thereof, if such political unit is required by law to reimburse the parties taxable
2818 pursuant to § 58.1-802; or

2819 6. Deed conveying real estate from the trustee or trustees of a church or religious body or from an
2820 incorporated church or religious body, or from a corporation mentioned in § 57-16.1.

2821 D. No recordation tax shall be required for the recordation of any deed of gift between a grantor or
2822 grantors and a grantee or grantees when no consideration has passed between the parties. Such deed
2823 shall state therein that it is a deed of gift.

2824 E. The tax imposed by § 58.1-807 shall not apply to any lease to the United States, the
2825 Commonwealth, or any county, city, town, district or other political subdivision of the Commonwealth.

2826 F. The taxes imposed by §§ 58.1-801, 58.1-802, 58.1-807, 58.1-808 and 58.1-814 shall not apply to

(i) any deed of gift conveying real estate or any interest therein to The Nature Conservancy or (ii) any lease of real property or any interest therein to The Nature Conservancy, where such deed of gift or lease of real estate is intended to be used exclusively for the purpose of preserving wilderness, natural or open space areas.

G. The words "trustee" or "trustees," as used in subdivision 2 of subsection A, subdivision 2 of subsection B, and subdivision 6 of subsection C, include the trustees mentioned in § 57-8 and the ecclesiastical officers mentioned in § 57-16.

H. No recordation tax levied pursuant to this chapter shall be levied on the release of a contractual right, if the release is contained within a single deed that performs more than one function, and at least one of the other functions performed by the deed is subject to the recordation tax.

§ 58.1-3211. Restrictions and exemptions.

Any exemption or deferral program enacted by a county, city or town pursuant to § 58.1-3210 shall be subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

1. a. Subject to subdivision 1 b of this section, the total combined income received from all sources during the preceding calendar year by (i) owners of the dwelling who use it as their principal residence and (ii) owners' relatives who live in the dwelling, shall not exceed the greater of \$50,000, or the income limits based upon family size for the respective metropolitan statistical area, annually published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development for qualifying for federal housing assistance pursuant to § 235 of the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1715z). As an alternative option, a county, city, or town may provide that the total combined income received from all sources during the preceding calendar year by (a) owners of the dwelling who use it as their principal residence and (b) owners' relatives who live in the dwelling shall not exceed the county's or city's median adjusted gross income of its married residents. Each county's or city's median adjusted gross income of its married residents means the most recent median adjusted gross income of individual income tax returns of the married residents of the county or city for a taxable year as published by the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service of the University of Virginia. A town's median adjusted gross income of its married residents shall equal the applicable county's median adjusted gross income of its married residents.

Any amount up to \$10,000 of income of each relative who is not the spouse of an owner living in the dwelling and who does not qualify for the exemption provided by subdivision 1 b hereof may be excluded in determining total combined income. The local government may exclude up to \$5,000 of any permanent or temporary disability benefit, from whatever source, received by an owner. The local government may also exclude up to \$10,000 of income for an owner who is permanently disabled.

b. Notwithstanding subdivision 1 a of this section, if a person qualifies for an exemption or deferral under this article, and if the person can prove by clear and convincing evidence that the person's physical or mental health has deteriorated to the point that the only alternative to permanently residing in a hospital, nursing home, convalescent home or other facility for physical or mental care is to have a relative move in and provide care for the person, and if a relative does then move in for that purpose, then none of the income of the relative or of the relative's spouse shall be counted towards the income limit, provided the owner of the residence has not transferred assets in excess of \$10,000 without adequate consideration within a three-year period prior to or after the relative moves into such residence.

2. The net combined financial worth, including the present value of all equitable interests, as of December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, of the owners, and of the spouse of any owner, excluding the value of the dwelling and the land, not exceeding 10 acres, upon which it is situated shall not exceed \$200,000. The local government may also exclude furnishings. Such furnishings shall include furniture, household appliances and other items typically used in a home. The local government may also elect to annually increase the net combined financial worth limit by an amount equivalent to the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index for the 12-month period ending September 30 of the year immediately preceding the affected tax year.

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions 1 and 2, in the Cities of Charlottesville, Chesapeake, Portsmouth, Suffolk, and Virginia Beach and the Counties of Chesterfield, Fauquier, Goochland, Henrico, and Stafford, the board of supervisors or council may, by ordinance, raise the income and financial worth limitations for any exemption or deferral program to a maximum of the greater of \$52,000 or the income limits based upon family size for the respective metropolitan statistical area, annually published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development for qualifying for federal housing assistance pursuant to § 235 of the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1715z), for the total combined income amount, and \$200,000 for the maximum net combined financial worth amount, which shall exclude the value of the dwelling and the land, not exceeding 10 acres, upon which it is situated. Any amount up to \$10,000 of income of each relative who is not the spouse of an owner living in the dwelling may be excluded under this subdivision. In addition, as an alternative option such cities and counties may use the median adjusted gross income of its married residents, as determined under subdivision 1 a, for the total combined income limit and may also elect to annually increase the net

2888 combined financial worth limit herein in the same manner as provided in subdivision 2.

2889 4. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions 1 and 2, in (i) ~~any county having a population of~~
2890 ~~more than 800,000, as determined by the 1990 United States Census;~~ (ii) ~~any county or city adjacent~~
2891 ~~thereto;~~ (iii) ~~any city contiguous to such adjacent counties and cities;~~ and (iv) *the Counties of Arlington,*
2892 *Fairfax, Loudoun and Prince William and the Cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Manassas*
2893 *and Manassas Park and in any incorporated town located in the suchcounties described in clauses (i)*
2894 *and (ii), the respective board of supervisors or council may, by ordinance, raise the income and financial*
2895 *worth limitations for any exemption or deferral program to a maximum of the greater of \$72,000 or the*
2896 *income limits based upon family size for the respective metropolitan statistical area, annually published*
2897 *by the Department of Housing and Urban Development for qualifying for federal housing assistance*
2898 *pursuant to § 235 of the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1715z), for the total combined income*
2899 *amount, and \$340,000 for the maximum net combined financial worth amount, which shall exclude the*
2900 *value of the dwelling and the land, up to but not exceeding 25 acres, all of which shall be non-income*
2901 *producing, upon which it is situated. Any amount up to \$10,000 of income of each relative who is not*
2902 *the spouse of an owner living in the dwelling may be excluded under this subdivision. In addition, as an*
2903 *alternative option such counties, cities, and towns may use the median adjusted gross income of its*
2904 *married residents, as determined under subdivision 1 a, for the total combined income limit and may*
2905 *also elect to annually increase the net combined financial worth limit herein in the same manner as*
2906 *provided in subdivision 2.*

2907 5. For purposes of this article, income shall mean total gross income from all sources, without regard
2908 to whether a tax return is actually filed. Income shall not include life insurance benefits or receipts from
2909 borrowing or other debt.

2910 § 58.1-3237.1. Authority of counties to enact additional provisions concerning zoning classifications.

2911 ~~Any county not organized under the provisions of Chapter 5 (§ 15.2-500 et seq.), 6 (§ 15.2-600 et~~
2912 ~~seq.), or 8 (§ 15.2-800 et seq.) of Title 15.2, which is contiguous to a county with the urban executive~~
2913 ~~form of government and any county with a population of no less than 65,000 and no greater than~~
2914 ~~72,000 Albemarle County, Arlington County, Augusta County, Loudoun County and Rockingham County~~
2915 ~~may include the following additional provisions in any ordinance enacted under the authority of this~~
2916 ~~article:~~

2917 1. The governing body may exclude land lying in planned development, industrial or commercial
2918 zoning districts from assessment under the provisions of this article. This provision applies only to
2919 zoning districts established prior to January 1, 1981.

2920 2. The governing body may provide that when the zoning of the property taxed under the provisions
2921 of this article is changed to allow a more intensive nonagricultural use at the request of the owner or his
2922 agent, such property shall not be eligible for assessment and taxation under this article. This shall not
2923 apply, however, to property which is zoned agricultural and is subsequently rezoned to a more intensive
2924 use which is complementary to agricultural use, provided such property continues to be owned by the
2925 same owner who owned the property prior to rezoning and continues to operate the agricultural activity
2926 on the property. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, such property shall be subject to and liable
2927 for roll-back taxes at the time the zoning is changed to allow any use more intensive than the use for
2928 which it qualifies for special assessment. The roll-back tax, plus interest, shall be calculated, levied and
2929 collected from the owner of the real estate in accordance with § 58.1-3237 at the time the property is
2930 rezoned.

2931 § 58.1-3257. Completion of work; extensions.

2932 A. Except as provided in subsection B, in every city and county the person or officers making such
2933 reassessment shall complete the same and comply with the provisions of § 58.1-3300 not later than
2934 December 31 of the year of such reassessment. But the circuit court in such city or county may for a
2935 good cause, extend the time for completing such reassessment and complying with such section for a
2936 period not exceeding three months from December 31 of the year of such reassessment.

2937 B. In ~~any county having a population of at least 63,200 but not more than 63,500, as determined by~~
2938 ~~the 1990 United States Census~~*Hanover County*, the person or officers making such reassessment shall
2939 complete the same and comply with the provisions of § 58.1-3300 not later than three months after
2940 December 31 of the year of such reassessment.

2941 § 58.1-3292.1. Assessment of new buildings substantially completed in a county operating under the
2942 urban county executive form of government, and in certain other cities and counties; extension of time
2943 for paying assessment.

2944 A. In ~~any county operating under the urban county executive form of government, or any city or~~
2945 ~~county adjacent thereto, or any city surrounded by any such county and in any city with a population~~
2946 ~~between 15,000 and 25,000 that is within such county~~*the Counties of Arlington, Fairfax, Loudoun and*
2947 *Prince William and the Cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Manassas and Manassas Park*,
2948 upon the adoption of an ordinance so providing, all new buildings shall be assessed when substantially
2949 completed or fit for use and occupancy, regardless of the date of completion or fitness, and the

commissioner of the revenue of such county, city or town shall enter in the books the fair market value of such building.

B. No partial assessment as provided herein shall become effective until information as to the date and amount of such assessment is recorded in the office of the official authorized to collect taxes on real property and made available for public inspection. The total tax on any such new building for that year shall be the sum of (i) the tax upon the assessment of the completed building, computed according to the ratio which the portion of the year such building is substantially completed or fit for use and occupancy bears to the entire year and (ii) the tax upon the assessment of such new building as it existed on January 1 of that assessment year, computed according to the ratio which the portion of the year such building was not substantially complete or fit for use and occupancy bears to the entire year.

C. With respect to any assessment made under this section after November 1 of any year, no penalty for nonpayment shall be imposed until the last to occur of (i) December 5 of such year or (ii) 30 days following the date of the official billing.

§ 58.1-3381. Action of board; notice required before increase made.

A. The board shall hear and determine any and all such petitions and, by order, may increase, decrease or affirm the assessment of which complaint is made; and, by order, it may increase or decrease any assessment, upon its own motion. No assessment shall be increased until after the owner of the property has been notified and given an opportunity to show cause against such increase, unless such owner has already been heard.

B. Any determination of the assessment by the board shall be deemed presumptively correct for the succeeding two years unless the assessor can demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that a substantial change in value of the property has occurred. This subsection shall apply to ~~any city with a population which exceeds 350,000~~ *the City of Virginia Beach*.

§ 58.1-3506.2. Restrictions and conditions.

Any difference in the rates for purposes of this section shall be subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

1. The total combined income received, excluding the first \$7,500 of income, at the option of the local government, from all sources during the preceding calendar year by the owner of the motor vehicle shall not exceed the greater of \$30,000 or the income limits based on family size for the respective metropolitan statistical area, annually published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development for qualifying for federal housing assistance pursuant to § 235 of the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1715z).

2. The owner's net financial worth, including the present value of all equitable interests, as of December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, excluding the value of the principal residence and the land, not exceeding one acre, upon which it is situated, shall not exceed \$75,000. The local government may also exclude such furnishings as furniture, household appliances and other items typically used in a home.

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions 1 and 2 of this section, in ~~any county, city or town having a 1990 population of more than 500,000 and any county, city or town adjacent thereto~~ *Fairfax County and any town adjacent thereto, Arlington County, Chesterfield County, Loudoun County and Prince William County* or the Cities of *Alexandria, Chesapeake, Fairfax, Falls Church*, Manassas, Manassas Park, ~~Chesapeake~~, Portsmouth, Suffolk or Virginia Beach, ~~the County of Chesterfield~~, or the Town of Leesburg, the board of supervisors or council may, by ordinance, raise the income and financial worth limitations for any reductions under this article to a maximum of the greater of \$52,000 or the income limits based upon family size for the respective metropolitan statistical area, published annually by the Department of Housing and Urban Development for qualifying for federal housing assistance pursuant to § 235 of the National Housing Act (12 U.S.C. § 1715z), for the total combined income amount, and \$195,000 for the maximum net financial worth amount which shall exclude the value of the principal residence and the land, not exceeding one acre, upon which it is located.

4. All income and net worth limitations shall be computed by aggregating the income and assets, as the case may be, of a husband and wife who reside in the same dwelling and shall be applied to any owner of the motor vehicle who seeks the benefit of the preferential tax rate permitted under this article, irrespective of how such motor vehicle may be titled.

§ 58.1-3812. Telegraph and telephone companies.

A. Subject to the limitations contained in subsections C and K, any county, city or town may impose a tax on a taxable purchase by a consumer of local telecommunication service if the consumer's service address is located in such county, city or town. Except as otherwise provided, the tax shall not be imposed at a rate in excess of 20 percent of the monthly gross charge to a consumer and shall not be applicable to any amount so charged in excess of \$15 per month for a residential consumer; however, any county, city or town that on July 1, 1972, imposed a tax in excess of limits specified herein may continue to impose such a tax in excess of such limits, but no more. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the

3011 tax may be imposed only at a rate equal to 10 percent of the monthly gross charge to a consumer of
 3012 local mobile telecommunications service and shall not be applicable to any amount so charged in excess
 3013 of \$30 per month for each mobile telecommunications service number billed to a mobile service
 3014 consumer. No county, city or town that currently is not collecting the tax on local mobile
 3015 telecommunications service shall begin to collect the tax on local mobile telecommunications service
 3016 before September 1, 1994, for bills sent to consumers on and after that date. However, ~~any county with~~
 3017 ~~a population of at least 68,000 but not more than 69,000, any city with a population of at least 40,000~~
 3018 ~~but not more than 41,000, and any city with a population of at least 66,000 but not more than 67,000~~
 3019 *Albemarle County, the City of Charlottesville, the City of Harrisonburg and the City of Lynchburg* shall
 3020 conform with the provisions of this section in accordance with the following schedule:

3021	Fiscal Year	Rate	Cap
3022	1994-95	10%	None
3023	1995-96	10%	\$100
3024	1996-97	10%	\$50
3025	July 1, 1997		
3026	and thereafter		Full
3027			Confo
3028			rmity

3029 B. Any tax enacted pursuant to the provisions of this section or any change in a tax or structure
 3030 already in existence shall not be effective until 120 days subsequent to written notice by certified mail
 3031 from the county, city or town imposing such tax or change thereto, being received by the registered
 3032 agent of the service provider that is required to collect the tax.

3033 C. No county shall impose a tax hereunder within the limits of any incorporated town located within
 3034 such county when such town constitutes a separate school district and such town imposes a town tax
 3035 authorized by this section. No county shall impose a tax hereunder within the limits of any incorporated
 3036 town located within such county when such town has enacted an ordinance on or before January 1,
 3037 2000, to impose a tax hereunder and such ordinance remains in effect. Except as provided in this
 3038 subsection, no town shall impose a tax hereunder if the county within which such town is located
 3039 imposes a county tax authorized by this section.

3040 D. 1. Notwithstanding the limitations in subsection C, on or after July 1, 2002, the local governing
 3041 body of the Town of Orange may enact an ordinance to impose the tax hereunder. At the time such
 3042 ordinance is enacted, Orange County shall no longer impose the tax within the limits of the Town of
 3043 Orange while such ordinance remains in effect.

3044 2. Notwithstanding the limitations in subsection C, on or after July 1, 2003, the local governing
 3045 bodies of the Towns of Gordonsville, Colonial Beach and Montross may enact an ordinance to impose
 3046 the tax hereunder. At the time such ordinance is enacted by the governing body of the Town of
 3047 Gordonsville, Orange County shall no longer impose the tax within the limits of the Town of
 3048 Gordonsville while such ordinance remains in effect. At the time such ordinance is enacted by the Town
 3049 of Colonial Beach or the Town of Montross, Westmoreland County shall no longer impose the tax
 3050 within the limits of the town enacting such ordinance while such town ordinance remains in effect.

3051 3. Notwithstanding the limitations in subsection C, on or after July 1, 2004, the local governing
 3052 bodies of the Towns of Clifton, Herndon and Vienna may enact an ordinance to impose the tax
 3053 hereunder. At the time such ordinance is enacted by the Town of Clifton, the Town of Herndon or the
 3054 Town of Vienna, Fairfax County shall no longer impose the tax within the limits of the town enacting
 3055 such ordinance while such town ordinance remains in effect.

3056 4. Notwithstanding the limitations in subsection C, if, on or after July 1, 2004, the local governing
 3057 body of the Town of Iron Gate enacts an ordinance to impose the tax hereunder Alleghany County shall
 3058 not impose such tax within the limits of the Town of Iron Gate while such ordinance remains in effect.

3059 5. Notwithstanding the limitations in subsection C, on or after July 1, 2005, the local governing body
 3060 of the Town of Dumfries may enact an ordinance to impose the tax hereunder. At the time such
 3061 ordinance is enacted by the Town of Dumfries, Prince William County shall no longer impose the tax
 3062 within the limits of the Town of Dumfries while such town ordinance remains in effect.

3063 E. Any county, city or town may provide for an exemption from the tax for any public safety
 3064 answering point as defined in § 58.1-3813.1.

3065 F. ~~Any city with a population of not less than 27,000 and not more than 28,500~~ *The City of*
 3066 *Manassas* may provide an exemption from the tax for any church or religious body entitled to an
 3067 exemption pursuant to Article 4 (§ 58.1-3650 et seq.) of Chapter 36. Any city providing such exemption
 3068 shall provide the telephone account numbers of all exempted churches and religious bodies to all service
 3069 providers required to collect the tax as part of the notice required pursuant to subsection B.

3070 G. A service provider of local telecommunication services shall collect the tax from the consumer by
 3071 adding the tax to the monthly gross charge for such services. The tax shall, when collected, be stated as

a distinct item separate and apart from the monthly gross charge. Until the consumer pays the tax to the service provider, the tax shall constitute a debt of the consumer to the county, city or town. If any consumer refuses to pay the tax, the service provider shall notify the county, city or town. After the consumer pays the tax to the service provider, the taxes collected shall be deemed to be held in trust by the service provider until remitted to the county, city or town.

H. A service provider shall remit monthly to each county, city or town the amount of tax billed during the preceding month to consumers with a service address in that county, city or town, less any discount allowed under § 58.1-3816.1.

I. No county, city or town may impose the tax on consumers of local mobile telecommunications service unless it also imposes the tax on the consumers of the other forms of local telecommunication services.

J. Any consumer shall be entitled to a refund from the county, city or town imposing the tax equal to the amount of any tax the consumer paid to a jurisdiction outside of the Commonwealth if such tax was legally imposed in such other jurisdiction; however, the amount of credit or refund shall not exceed the tax paid to the county, city or town on such purchase.

K. 1. The federal Mobile Telecommunications Sourcing Act (4 U.S.C. § 116 et seq., as amended) created a uniform methodology for sourcing of mobile telecommunications services subject to state and local taxes, fees, and charges. It is the intent of the General Assembly that state and local taxes, fees, and charges on mobile telecommunications service be imposed in accordance with federal law.

2. Mobile telecommunications service provided to a customer and billed by or for the customer's home service provider shall be deemed to be provided by the home service provider at the customer's place of primary use. Subject to the exclusions in the federal Mobile Telecommunications Sourcing Act, 4 U.S.C. § 116 (c), as amended, local mobile telecommunications service taxable under subsection A shall be taxable in the jurisdiction whose territorial limits encompass the customer's place of primary use, regardless of where the mobile telecommunications services originate, terminate, or pass through. No mobile telecommunications service shall be taxable in this Commonwealth or any jurisdiction in this Commonwealth if the customer's place of primary use is outside this Commonwealth.

3. When otherwise taxable and non-taxable charges for mobile telecommunications service are aggregated, the charges for nontaxable mobile telecommunications service shall be subject to taxation, unless the home service provider can reasonably identify charges not subject to taxation from its books and records that are kept in the regular course of business.

4. The Tax Commissioner may provide a home service provider with an electronic database that meets the requirements of 4 U.S.C. § 119, as amended. If such database is provided, a home service provider shall be held harmless from any tax, charge, or fee liability for errors of omissions due solely to the reliance on such database, subject to 4 U.S.C. §§ 119 and 121, as amended. If no electronic database is provided by the Tax Commissioner, a home service provider may use an enhanced zip code to assign each street address to a specific taxing jurisdiction, and the home service provider shall be held harmless from any tax, charge, or fee liability that otherwise would be due solely as a result of an assignment of a street address to an incorrect taxing jurisdiction, subject to 4 U.S.C. §§ 120 and 121, as amended.

5. The Tax Commissioner shall require a home service provider to obtain and maintain a customer's place of primary use and the local assessing officer shall allow the home service provider to rely on this address as provided under 4 U.S.C. § 122, as amended. The Tax Commissioner may correct the place of primary use, or correct the assignment of a taxing jurisdiction by a home service provider, in accordance with 4 U.S.C. § 121, as amended.

6. Nothing in this subsection modifies, impairs, supersedes, or authorizes the modification, impairment, or supersession of any law allowing a taxing jurisdiction to collect a tax, charge, or fee from a customer that has failed to provide its place of primary use.

7. If a customer believes that an amount of tax, charge, or fee or an assignment of place of primary use or taxing jurisdiction included on a billing is erroneous, the customer shall notify the home service provider in writing. The customer shall include in this written notification the street address for the customer's place of primary use, the account name and number for which the customer seeks a correction, a description of the error asserted by the customer, and any other information that the home service provider reasonably requires to process the request. Within 60 days of receiving a notice under this section, the home service provider shall review its records to determine the customer's taxing jurisdiction. If this review shows that the amount of tax, charge, or fee or assignment of place of primary use or taxing jurisdiction is in error, the home service provider shall correct the error and refund or credit the amount of tax, charge, or fee erroneously collected from the customer for a period of up to two years. If this review shows that the amount of tax, charge, or fee or assignment of place of primary use or taxing jurisdiction is correct, the home service provider shall provide a written explanation to the customer. The procedures in this section shall be the first course of remedy available

3133 to customers seeking correction of assignment of place of primary use or taxing jurisdiction, or a refund
3134 of or other compensation for taxes, charges, and/or fees erroneously collected by the home service
3135 provider, and no cause of action based upon a dispute arising from such taxes, charges, or fees shall
3136 accrue until a customer has reasonably exercised the rights and procedures set forth in this subsection.

3137 8. For the purposes of this subsection, the terms "customer," "enhanced zip code," "home service
3138 provider," "licensed service area," "serving carrier," and "taxing jurisdiction" shall have the meaning
3139 attributed to them by the federal Mobile Telecommunications Sourcing Act, 4 U.S.C. § 124, as amended.

3140 L. 1. For purposes of this article, a bundled transaction of services includes services taxed under this
3141 section and consists of distinct and identifiable properties, services, or both, sold for one nonitemized
3142 charge for which the tax treatment of the distinct properties and services is different.

3143 2. In the case of a bundled transaction described in subdivision L 1, if the charge is attributable to
3144 services that are taxable and services that are nontaxable, the portion of the charge attributable to the
3145 nontaxable services shall be subject to tax unless the provider can reasonably identify such nontaxable
3146 portion from its books and records kept in the regular course of business.

3147 3. In the case of a bundled transaction described in subdivision L 1, if the charge for such services is
3148 attributable to services that are subject to tax at different rates, the total charge shall be treated as
3149 attributable to the services subject to tax at the highest rate unless the provider can reasonably identify
3150 the portion of the charge attributable to the services subject to tax at a lower rate from its books and
3151 records kept in the regular course of business for other purposes.

3152 M. As used in this article, unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

3153 "Affiliated group" shall have the same meaning ascribed to it in subdivision C 10 of § 58.1-3703,
3154 except, for purposes of this article, the word "entity" shall be substituted for the word "corporation"
3155 whenever it is used in that section.

3156 "Bad debts" means any portion of a debt related to a sale of local telecommunication services, the
3157 gross charges for which are not otherwise deductible or excludable, that has become worthless or
3158 uncollectible, as determined under applicable federal income tax standards. If the portion of the debt
3159 deemed to be bad is subsequently paid, the service provider shall report and pay the tax on that portion
3160 during the reporting period in which the payment is made.

3161 "Consumer" means a person who, individually or through agents, employees, officers, representatives,
3162 or permittees, makes a taxable purchase of local telecommunication services.

3163 "Enhanced services" means services that employ computer processing applications to act on the
3164 format, code, or protocol or similar aspects of the information transmitted; provide additional, different,
3165 or restructured information; or involve interaction with stored information.

3166 "Gross charges" means, subject to the exclusions of this section, the amount charged or paid for the
3167 taxable purchase of local telecommunication services. However, "gross charges" shall not include the
3168 following:

3169 1. Charges or amounts paid that vary based on the distance and/or elapsed transmission time of the
3170 communication that are separately stated on the consumer's bill or invoice.

3171 2. Charges or amounts paid for customer equipment, including such equipment that is leased or
3172 rented by the customer from any source, if such charges or amounts paid are separately identifiable from
3173 other amounts charged or paid for the provision of local telecommunication services on the service
3174 provider's books and records.

3175 3. Charges or amounts paid for administrative services, including, without limitation, service
3176 connection and reconnection, late payments, and roamer daily surcharges.

3177 4. Charges or amounts paid for special features that are not subject to taxation under § 4251 of the
3178 Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

3179 5. Charges or amounts paid that are (i) the tax imposed by § 4251 of the Internal Revenue Code of
3180 1986, as amended or (ii) any other tax or surcharge imposed by statute, ordinance or regulatory
3181 authority.

3182 6. Bad debts.

3183 "Local telecommunication service," subject to the exclusions stated in this section, includes, without
3184 limitation, the two-way local transmission of messages through use of switched local telephone services;
3185 telegraph services; teletypewriter; or local mobile telecommunications service.

3186 "Local telephone service," subject to the exclusions stated in this section, includes any service subject
3187 to federal taxation as local telephone service as that term is defined in § 4252 of the Internal Revenue
3188 Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor statute.

3189 "Mobile service consumer" means a person having a telephone number for local mobile
3190 telecommunications service who has made a taxable purchase of such service or on whose behalf
3191 another person has made a taxable purchase of such service.

3192 "Mobile telecommunications service" means commercial mobile radio service, as defined in 47
3193 C.F.R. § 20.3, as in effect on June 1, 1999.

3194 "Place of primary use" means the street address representative of where the customer's use of the

mobile telecommunications service primarily occurs, which must be the residential street address or the primary business street address of the customer and within the licensed service area of the home service provider.

"Residential consumer" shall not include any consumer of mobile local telecommunication service.

"Service address" means the location of the telecommunication equipment from which the telecommunication is originated or at which the telecommunication is received by a consumer. However, if the service address is not a defined location, as in the case of maritime systems, air-to-ground systems and the like, service address shall mean the location of the subscriber's primary use of the telecommunication equipment within the licensed service area. In the case of mobile telecommunications service, service address shall mean the customer's place of primary use.

"Service provider" means every person engaged in the business of selling local telecommunication services to consumers.

"Taxable purchase" means the acquisition of telecommunication services for consumption or use; however, taxable purchase does not include (i) the provision of telecommunications among members of an affiliated group of entities by a member of the group for their own exclusive use and consumption and (ii) the purchase of telecommunications for resale in the subsequent provision of telecommunications, including, without limitation, carrier access charges, right of access charges, and charges for use of intercompany facilities; however, the acquisition of telecommunications by a provider of enhanced services is not the purchase of telecommunications for resale, even when the cost of the telecommunications is separately stated to the purchaser of the enhanced services, as long as the primary object of the purchase of the telecommunications by the provider is for the provision of enhanced services and not telecommunications. A person may make tax-free purchases of telecommunications for resale if the person provides to the service provider a sworn affidavit indicating that the person's purchases are nontaxable sales for resale.

§ 58.1-3818. (Expires January 1, 2008) Admissions tax in certain counties.

A. Fairfax, Arlington, Dinwiddie, Prince George and Brunswick Counties are hereby authorized to levy a tax on admissions charged for attendance at any event. The tax shall not exceed 10 percent of the amount of charge for admission to any such event. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the governing bodies of such counties shall prescribe by ordinance the terms, conditions and amount of such tax and may classify between events conducted for charitable and those conducted for noncharitable purposes.

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A, ~~any county with a population of at least 27,500 but not more than 28,250 and any county with a population of at least 10,400 but not more than 10,490 as determined by the 1990 United States Census~~ *the City of Manassas and New Kent County* are hereby authorized to levy a tax on admissions charged for attendance at any event as set forth in subsection A.

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A, ~~any county with a population of at least 12,450 but not more than 12,850~~ *Charlotte County, Clarke County, Madison County, Nelson County and Sussex County* are hereby authorized to levy a tax on admissions charged for attendance at any spectator event; however, a tax shall not be levied on admissions charged to participants in order to participate in any event. The tax shall not exceed 10 percent of the amount of charge for admission to any event. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the governing body of such county shall prescribe by ordinance the terms, conditions and amount of such tax and may classify between the events as set forth in § 58.1-3817.

D. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections A, B, and C, any county in which a major league baseball stadium, as defined in § 15.2-5800, is located is hereby authorized to levy (i) a tax on admissions charged at any event at such stadium and (ii) a surcharge on admissions charged for attendance at any event at such stadium if it has a seating capacity of at least 40,000 seats. The tax on admissions shall not exceed 10 percent. Such surcharge shall not exceed two percent of the charge for admissions. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the governing bodies of such counties shall prescribe by ordinance the terms, conditions, and amounts of such tax and surcharge and may classify between events conducted for noncharitable purposes.

E. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections A, B, C, and D, localities may, by ordinance, elect not to levy an admissions tax on admission to an event, provided that the purpose of the event is solely to raise money for charitable purposes and that the net proceeds derived from the event will be transferred to an entity or entities that are exempt from sales and use tax pursuant to § 58.1-609.11.

§ 58.1-3818. (Effective January 1, 2008 /- See Editor's note) Admissions tax in certain counties.

A. Fairfax, Arlington, Dinwiddie, Prince George and Brunswick Counties are hereby authorized to levy a tax on admissions charged for attendance at any event. The tax shall not exceed 10 percent of the amount of charge for admission to any such event. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the governing bodies of such counties shall prescribe by ordinance the terms, conditions and amount of such tax and may classify between events conducted for charitable and those conducted for noncharitable

3256 purposes.

3257 B. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A, ~~any county with a population of at least 27,500~~
3258 ~~but not more than 28,250 and any county with a population of at least 10,400 but not more than 10,490~~
3259 ~~as determined by the 1990 United States Census~~ *Culpeper County and New Kent County* are hereby
3260 authorized to levy a tax on admissions charged for attendance at any event as set forth in subsection A.

3261 C. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection A, ~~any county with a population of at least 12,450~~
3262 ~~but not more than 12,850 is~~ *Charlotte County, Clarke County, Madison County, Nelson County and*
3263 *Sussex County* are hereby authorized to levy a tax on admissions charged for attendance at any spectator
3264 event; however, a tax shall not be levied on admissions charged to participants in order to participate in
3265 any event. The tax shall not exceed 10 percent of the amount of charge for admission to any event.
3266 Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the governing body of such county shall prescribe by
3267 ordinance the terms, conditions and amount of such tax and may classify between the events as set forth
3268 in § 58.1-3817.

3269 D. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections A, B and C, localities may, by ordinance, elect not
3270 to levy an admissions tax on admission to an event, provided that the purpose of the event is solely to
3271 raise money for charitable purposes and that the net proceeds derived from the event will be transferred
3272 to an entity or entities that are exempt from sales and use tax pursuant to § 58.1-609.11.

3273 § 59.1-148.3. Purchase of handguns of certain officers.

3274 A. The Department of State Police, the Department of Game and Inland Fisheries, the Department of
3275 Alcoholic Beverage Control, the Marine Resources Commission, the Capitol Police, the Department of
3276 Conservation and Recreation, the Department of Forestry, any sheriff, any regional jail board or
3277 authority and any local police department may allow any full-time sworn law-enforcement officer,
3278 deputy, or regional jail officer, a local fire department may allow any full-time sworn fire marshal, the
3279 Department of Motor Vehicles may allow any law-enforcement officer, and any institution of higher
3280 learning named in § 23-14 may allow any campus police officer appointed pursuant to Chapter 17
3281 (§ 23-232 et seq.) of Title 23, retiring on or after July 1, 1991, who retires after at least 20 years of
3282 service or as a result of a service-incurred disability to purchase the service handgun issued to him by
3283 the agency or institution at a price of \$1. This privilege shall also extend to any former Superintendent
3284 of the Department of State Police who leaves service after a minimum of five years. Other weapons
3285 issued by the Department of State Police for personal duty use of an officer, may, with approval of the
3286 Superintendent be sold to the officer subject to the qualifications of this section at a fair market price
3287 determined as in subsection B, so long as the weapon is a type and configuration that can be purchased
3288 at a regular hardware or sporting goods store by a private citizen without restrictions other than the
3289 instant background check.

3290 B. The agencies listed above may allow any full-time sworn law-enforcement officer who retires with
3291 10 or more years of service, but less than 20, to purchase the service handgun issued to him by the
3292 agency at a price equivalent to the weapon's fair market value on the date of the officer's retirement.
3293 Any full-time sworn law-enforcement officer employed by any of the agencies listed above who is
3294 retired for disability as a result of a nonservice-incurred disability may purchase the service handgun
3295 issued to him by the agency at a price equivalent to the weapon's fair market value on the date of the
3296 officer's retirement. Determinations of fair market value may be made by reference to a recognized
3297 pricing guide.

3298 C. The agencies listed above may allow the immediate survivor of any full-time sworn
3299 law-enforcement officer (i) who is killed in the line of duty or (ii) who dies in service and has at least
3300 20 years of service to purchase the service handgun issued to the officer by the agency at a price of \$1.

3301 D. The governing board of any institution of higher learning named in § 23-14 may allow any
3302 campus police officer appointed pursuant to Chapter 17 (§ 23-232 et seq.) of Title 23 who retires on or
3303 after July 1, 1991, to purchase the service handgun issued to him at a price equivalent to the weapon's
3304 fair market value on the date of the officer's retirement. Determinations of fair market value may be
3305 made by reference to a recognized pricing guide.

3306 E. The Department of State Police may allow any full-time sworn state police law-enforcement
3307 officer who retires as a result of a service-incurred disability and who was on disability leave at the time
3308 the Department issued 10-mm semiautomatic handguns to its officers to purchase one of the 10-mm
3309 semiautomatic handguns used by the Department of State Police at a price of \$1.

3310 F. The Department of State Police may allow any officer who at the time of his retirement was a
3311 full-time sworn law-enforcement officer and who retires after 20 years of state service, even if a portion
3312 of his service was with another state agency, to purchase the service handgun issued to him by the
3313 Department at a price of \$1.

3314 G. The sheriff of ~~any county with a population between 63,000 and 65,000~~ *Hanover County* may
3315 allow any auxiliary or volunteer deputy sheriff with a minimum of 15 years of service, upon leaving
3316 office, to purchase for \$1 the service handgun issued to him.

3317 H. Any sheriff or local police department, in accordance with written authorization or approval from

the local governing body, may allow any auxiliary law-enforcement officer with more than 20 years of service to purchase the service handgun issued to him by the agency at a price that is equivalent to or less than the weapon's fair market value on the date of purchase by the officer.

I. The agencies listed in subsection A may allow any full-time sworn law-enforcement officer currently employed by the agency to purchase his service handgun, with the approval of the chief law-enforcement officer of the agency, at a fair market price. This subsection shall only apply when the agency has purchased new service handguns for its officers, and the handgun subject to the sale is no longer used by the agency or officer in the course of duty.

§ 59.1-284.13. Semiconductor Manufacturing Performance Grant Program; eligible counties.

A. As used in this section:

"Eligible county" means ~~any county in Virginia with a population of at least 13,800 but not more than 14,800~~ *Goochland County*.

"Manufactures wafers" means the transformation of raw wafers into finished wafers (probed or unprobed).

"Qualified manufacturer" means any manufacturer of semiconductor products who (i) has made a capital investment of at least \$1 billion in buildings and equipment located in an eligible county for the manufacture of wafers or activities ancillary or supportive of such manufacture in such eligible county and (ii) manufactures wafers for fast static random access memories and microprocessors, and other semiconductor products.

"Secretary" means the Secretary of Commerce and Trade or his designee.

"Wafer" or "wafers" means semiconductor wafers eight inches or larger in diameter using 0.5 micron (or less) technology.

"Wafers used" or "uses wafers" means (i) the consigning or transferring of processed wafers to any manufacturing or processing facility of the qualified manufacturer for probe, assembly, or test or (ii) the consigning or transferring of wafers to a manufacturing or processing facility of a subsidiary or other affiliated corporation, a joint venture, a partner, or an independent contractor of the qualified manufacturer.

B. Any qualified manufacturer who, from January 1, 2002, through December 31, 2008, sells or uses wafers that it manufactured in an eligible county shall be entitled to receive an annual semiconductor manufacturing performance grant in the amount of \$250 per wafer manufactured by it in that county and sold or used by it during such calendar year for fast static random access memories, microprocessors or any other semiconductor products. The grants under this section (i) shall be paid from a fund to be entitled the Semiconductor Manufacturing Performance Grant Fund subject to appropriations by the General Assembly, (ii) shall not exceed \$60 million in the aggregate, and (iii) shall be paid, as provided in subsections E and F, to the qualified manufacturer during the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which a particular wafer was sold or used.

C. If applications for grants under this section for wafers sold or used during a particular calendar year exceed the aggregate amount listed below for that year, each eligible applicant's grant for the year shall equal the amount of the grant to which the applicant would be entitled absent this subsection C times a fraction. The numerator of that fraction shall equal the amount listed or described below for the year, and the denominator shall equal the aggregate dollar amount of grants to which all applicants would be entitled for such calendar year absent this subsection C. The aggregate amount of the grants under this section for a particular year shall not exceed the following:

Year of Sale or Use Amount

2002 \$12 million

2003 \$24 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar year 2002

2004 \$36 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2002 and 2003

2005 \$48 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2002 through 2004

2006 \$60 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2002 through 2005

2007 \$60 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2002 through 2006

2008 \$60 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2002 through 2007

D. Any qualified manufacturer entitled to apply for a grant under this section shall provide evidence, satisfactory to the Secretary, of the number of wafers manufactured by it in an eligible county that were sold or used by it during a particular calendar year. The application and evidence shall be filed with the Secretary in person or by mail no later than March 31 (or such later date determined by the Secretary in

his sole discretion) each year following the calendar year in which the wafers were sold or used. Failure to meet the filing deadline shall render the applicant ineligible to receive a grant for the wafers sold or used during such calendar year. For filings by mail, the postmark cancellation shall govern the date of the filing determination.

E. Within ninety days after the filing deadline in subsection D, the Secretary shall certify to (i) the Comptroller and (ii) each applicant the amount of the grant to which such applicant is entitled under this section for wafers sold or used by it during the immediately preceding calendar year. Payment of such grant shall be made by check issued by the Treasurer of Virginia on warrant of the Comptroller within sixty days of such certification.

F. As a condition of receipt of a grant, a qualified manufacturer shall make available to the Secretary or his designee for inspection upon his request all relevant and applicable documents to determine whether the manufacture and sale or use of the wafers meets the requirements for the receipt of grants as set forth in this section and subject to a memorandum of understanding between a qualified manufacturer and the Commonwealth. The Comptroller shall not draw any warrants to issue checks for this program without a specific legislative appropriation as specified in conditions and restrictions on expenditures in the appropriation act. All such documents appropriately identified by the qualified manufacturer shall be considered confidential and proprietary.

§ 59.1-284.14. Semiconductor Memory or Logic Wafer Manufacturing Performance Grant Program; eligible cities.

A. As used in this section:

"Cumulative investment" means the total investment in buildings and equipment made by a qualified manufacturer in an eligible city since the beginning of construction of a wafer manufacturing facility.

"Eligible city" means any Virginia city having a population of no less than 27,500 and no more than 28,500 as determined by the 1990 United States Census ~~the City of Manassas~~.

"Manufactures wafers" means manufacturing wafers in an eligible city, which may include on-site processing that increases the value of wafers by transforming raw wafers into semiconductor memory or logic wafers, and may include further processing of such wafers.

"Qualified manufacturer" means any manufacturer of semiconductor products who (i) has made a cumulative investment of at least one billion dollars located in an eligible city and (ii) manufactures wafers in that eligible city.

"Secretary" means the Secretary of Commerce and Trade or his designee.

"Wafer" means a semiconductor memory or logic wafer. A wafer containing mixed memory and logic circuits shall be considered a logic wafer.

B. Beginning five years after the commencement of the manufacture of wafers in an eligible city, any qualified manufacturer shall be entitled to receive an annual semiconductor memory or logic wafer manufacturing performance grant in the amount of \$100 per memory wafer and \$250 per logic wafer based upon its manufacture of wafers in that city and sale of those wafers. A qualified manufacturer shall be entitled to receive annual grants under this section for a period of five years following the date its initial application for a grant is filed under subsection E, except as provided in subsection C. The grants under this section (i) shall be paid, as provided in subsections F and G, from a fund entitled the Semiconductor Memory or Logic Wafer Manufacturing Performance Grant Fund subject to appropriations by the General Assembly and (ii) shall not exceed \$38,400,000 in the aggregate; however, the cumulative value of grants to which qualified manufacturers shall be entitled shall be based upon the cumulative investment made by qualified manufacturers by the dates specified below:

Cumulative

Cumulative Eligible Investment Value of

Investment Period Eligible Grant Period Grants

\$1 billion by December 31, January 1, 2003, \$18,600,000

1998 through December

31, 2007

\$2.5 billion by December 31, January 1, 2007, \$30,400,000

2002 through December

31, 2011

\$4 billion by December 31, January 1, 2010, \$38,400,000

2005 through December

31, 2014

C. Any qualified manufacturer who makes (i) a cumulative investment of at least \$1 billion, but less than \$2.5 billion, shall be entitled to receive an annual grant payment of up to \$3,720,000, but the cumulative total of such grants shall not exceed \$18.6 million; (ii) a cumulative investment of at least \$2.5 billion, but less than \$4 billion, shall be entitled to receive an annual grant payment of up to \$6,080,000, but the cumulative total of such grants shall not exceed \$30.4 million; or (iii) a cumulative investment of \$4 billion or more shall be entitled to receive an annual grant payment of up to

\$7,680,000, but the cumulative total of such grants shall not exceed \$38.4 million. If any qualified manufacturer, after having made the initial \$1 billion cumulative investment, achieves a higher cumulative investment level as shown in the schedule in subsection B earlier than the dates specified in that subsection, that qualified manufacturer shall immediately become eligible to receive the increased performance grant amount, if the initial five-year period from the beginning of manufacture of wafers has expired. In addition, after having made any higher investment level above the initial \$1 billion, the qualified manufacturer shall have through the last date shown in the eligible grant period to earn the full amount of the corresponding cumulative value of the performance grant. Under no circumstances shall any qualified manufacturer be eligible to receive more than \$38.4 million in grants during the duration of the program established by this section.

D. If the value of applications for grants under this section for wafers manufactured and sold exceeds one-fifth of the cumulative value in the schedule listed in subsection B for the calendar year for which grants are sought corresponding to the cumulative investments made by the applicants, each qualified manufacturer's grant for that year shall equal the amount of the grant to which the qualified manufacturer would be entitled for such year absent the provisions of this subsection times a fraction. The numerator of that fraction shall equal one-fifth of the cumulative value in the schedule listed in subsection B for the calendar year for which grants are sought corresponding to the cumulative investments made by the applicants, and the denominator shall equal the aggregate dollar amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers would be entitled absent this subsection.

E. Any qualified manufacturer entitled to receive a grant under this section shall apply for the grant and provide evidence, satisfactory to the Secretary, of the number of wafers manufactured by it in an eligible city, the number of wafers which were sold during such calendar year, and the amount of cumulative investment made by the qualified manufacturer. The application and the evidence shall be filed with the Secretary in person or by mail no later than March 31, or such later date determined by the Secretary in his sole discretion, each year of the program following the year in which the wafers were sold. Failure to meet the application filing deadline shall render the qualified manufacturer ineligible to receive a grant for the wafers it manufactured and sold. For filings by mail, the postmark cancellation shall govern the date of the filing determination.

F. Within ninety days after the filing deadline established in subsection E, the Secretary shall certify to (i) the Comptroller and (ii) each qualified manufacturer the amount of the grant to which each qualified manufacturer is entitled under this section. Payment of such grant to any qualified manufacturer shall be made by check issued by the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Virginia on warrant of the Comptroller within sixty days after the Secretary's certification.

G. As a condition of receipt of a grant, all qualified manufacturers shall make available to the Secretary for inspection upon his request all relevant and applicable documents to determine whether the manufacture and sale of the wafers meets the requirements for the receipt of grants as set forth in this section and subject to a memorandum of understanding between a qualified manufacturer and the Commonwealth. The Comptroller shall not draw any warrants to issue checks for this program without a specific legislative appropriation as specified in conditions and restrictions on expenditures in the appropriation act. All such documents appropriately identified by the qualified manufacturer shall be considered confidential and proprietary.

§ 59.1-284.15. Semiconductor Memory or Logic Wafer Manufacturing Performance Grant Program II.

A. As used in this section:

"Eligible county" means any county in Virginia with a population of at least 217,500 but not more than 220,000 as determined by the 1990 United States Census *Henrico County*.

"Manufactures wafers" means manufacturing wafers in an eligible county, and includes on-site processing that increases the value of wafers by transforming raw wafers into semiconductor memory or logic wafers.

"Qualified manufacturer" means any manufacturer of semiconductor products which has made a capital investment of at least \$1 billion in buildings and equipment located in an eligible county for the manufacture of wafers in such eligible county. In the case of a qualified manufacturer which is a partnership, qualified manufacturer means the partnership or its individual partners.

"Secretary" means the Secretary of Commerce and Trade or his designee.

"Wafer" means a semiconductor memory or logic wafer. A wafer containing mixed memory and logic circuits shall be considered a logic wafer.

"Wafer used" or "uses wafers" means (i) the consigning or transferring of processed wafers to any manufacturing or processing facility of the qualified manufacturer for probe, assembly, or test or (ii) the consigning or transferring of wafers to a manufacturing or processing facility of a subsidiary or other affiliated corporation, a joint venture, a partner, or an independent contractor of the qualified manufacturer.

B. Beginning five years after the commencement of manufacture of wafers, any qualified

3502 manufacturer who, from January 1, 2003, through December 31, 2009, sells or uses wafers that it
3503 manufactured in an eligible county shall be entitled to receive an annual semiconductor manufacturing
3504 performance grant in the amount of \$100 per memory wafer and \$250 per logic wafer sold or used. The
3505 grants under this section (i) shall be paid from a fund to be entitled the Semiconductor Memory or
3506 Logic Wafer Manufacturing Performance Grant Fund II subject to appropriations by the General
3507 Assembly, (ii) shall not exceed \$15 million in the aggregate, and (iii) shall be paid, as provided in
3508 subsections E and F, to the qualified manufacturer during the calendar year immediately following the
3509 calendar year in which a particular wafer was sold or used.

3510 C. If applications for grants under this section for wafers sold or used during a particular calendar
3511 year exceed the aggregate amount listed below for that year, each eligible applicant's grant for the year
3512 shall equal the amount of the grant to which the applicant would be entitled, absent this subsection C,
3513 times a fraction. The numerator of that fraction shall equal the amount listed or described below for the
3514 year, and the denominator shall equal the aggregate dollar amount of grants to which all applicants
3515 would be entitled for such calendar year absent this subsection C. The aggregate amount of the grants
3516 under this section for a particular year shall not exceed the following:

3517 Year of Sale or Use Amount

3518 2003 \$3 million

3519 2004 \$6 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were
3520 entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar year 2003

3521 2005 \$9 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were
3522 entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2003 and 2004

3523 2006 \$12 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were
3524 entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2003 through 2005

3525 2007 \$15 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were
3526 entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2003 through 2006

3527 2008 \$15 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were
3528 entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2003 through 2007

3529 2009 \$15 million, less the aggregate amount of grants to which all qualified manufacturers were
3530 entitled for wafers sold or used during the calendar years 2003 through 2008

3531 D. Any qualified manufacturer entitled to apply for a grant under this section shall provide evidence,
3532 satisfactory to the Secretary, of the number of wafers it manufactured in an eligible county that were
3533 sold or used during a particular calendar year. The application and evidence shall be filed with the
3534 Secretary in person or by mail no later than March 31 (or such later date determined by the Secretary in
3535 his sole discretion) each year following the calendar year in which the wafers were sold or used. Failure
3536 to meet the filing deadline shall render the applicant ineligible to receive a grant for the wafers sold or
3537 used during such calendar year. For filings by mail, the postmark cancellation shall govern the date of
3538 the filing determination.

3539 E. Within ninety days after the filing deadline in subsection D, the Secretary shall certify to (i) the
3540 Comptroller and (ii) each applicant the amount of the grant to which such applicant is entitled under this
3541 section for wafers sold or used by it during the immediately preceding calendar year. Payment of such
3542 grant shall be made by check issued by the Treasurer of Virginia on warrant of the Comptroller within
3543 sixty days of such certification; provided that no payments shall be made to a partnership, but shall
3544 instead be made to its partners in accordance with their written instructions delivered to the Secretary
3545 prior to the filing deadline or, in the absence of such written instructions, in equal shares to each
3546 partner.

3547 F. As a condition of receipt of a grant, a qualified manufacturer shall make available to the Secretary
3548 or his designee for inspection upon his request all relevant and applicable documents to determine
3549 whether the manufacture and sale or use of the wafers meets the requirements for the receipt of grants
3550 as set forth in this section and subject to a memorandum of understanding between a qualified
3551 manufacturer and the Commonwealth. The Comptroller shall not draw any warrants to issue checks for
3552 this program without a specific legislative appropriation as specified in conditions and restrictions on
3553 expenditures in the appropriation act. All such documents appropriately identified by the qualified
3554 manufacturer shall be considered confidential and proprietary.